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Forward -looking Statements

Portions of the narrative set forth in this docufirteat are not statements of historical or curfeats are
forward-looking statements. Our actual future perfance may materially differ from that contemplagthe
forward-looking statements as a result of a varitiactors. These factors include, in additiortitose mentioned
elsewhere herein:

The global economy

The condition of the markets which we servhether defined geographically or by segment, withrhajor
market segments being: consumer electronics, defems science, industrial components and commercial
aerospace, energy, automotive electronics, teleaormations infrastructure, medical and appliar

Changes in product mix and the financial condittbcustomers
Actual sales, operating rates and margins for 2
Our success in developing and introducing new prtsdand new produramg-up rates;

Our success in passing through the costsvfmaterials to customers or otherwise mitigatingtiliating
prices for those materials, including the impadiiwdtuating prices on inventory value

Our success in integrating newly acquired tesses, including the acquisitions of Materion Biex Optics
and Thin Film Coatings Inc. (formerly known as BAssociates, Inc.) and Materion Advanced Materials
Technologies and Services Corp. (formerly knowAeademy Corporation

The impact of the results of Materion Preaisi@ptics and Thin Film Coatings Inc. and MaterictvAnced
Materials Technologies and Services Corp. on oilityato achieve fully the strategic and financa@jective:
related to these acquisitior

Our success in implementing our strategic pkamd the timely and successful completion and-sfaof any
capital projects, including the new primary bemytti facility in EImore, Ohio

The availability of adequate lines of credit and #ssociated interest rat

Other financial factors, including the costlavailability of raw materials (both base and joes metals),
metal financing fees, tax rates, exchange ratesipe costs and required cash contributions aneroth
employee benefit costs, energy costs, regulatamyptiance costs, the cost and availability of insges and
the impact of our stock price on the cost of inbe@ntompensation plan

The uncertainties related to the impact of war tencbrist activities

Changes in government regulatory requiremantsthe enactment of new legislation that impaots o
obligations and operation

The conclusion of pending litigation mattersaccordance with our expectation that there velhb material
adverse effect:

The amount and timing of repurchases of our Com8tock, if any;

The timing and ability to achieve further effincies and synergies resulting from our name géainom
Brush Engineered Materials Inc. to Materion Corgtiora and product line alignment under the Materion
name and Materion brand; a

The risk factors set forth elsewhere in Part imlteA of thisForm 1(-K.
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Item 1. BUSINESS

Materion Corporation (formerly known as Brush Eregired Materials Inc.), through its wholly owned
subsidiaries, is an integrated producer of higligperance advanced engineered materials used inetywaf
electrical, electronic, thermal and structural aggtlons. Our products are sold into numerous markecluding
consumer electronics, defense and science, industinponents and commercial aerospace, energymative
electronics, telecommunications infrastructure, iceddand appliance. As of December 31, 2010, we had
2,484 employees.

In the first quarter 2011, we announced the chafiger name from Brush Engineered Materials Inc. to
Materion Corporation. The names of all of our aethubsidiaries are changing as well and each sabsidill have
Materion as part of their name. The legal and ogmiprstructure of our subsidiaries will remain uaicged.

This name change did not alter our senior managestercture or how the chief decision maker evasdbe
performance of our businesses. We continue to treveame four reportable segments as we had psdyiaith no
change in their make up, although the names okthegments have changed. Advanced Material Teofiesland
Services has been renamed as Advanced Materiahdegfies; Specialty Engineered Alloys is now knaasn
Performance Alloys; Beryllium and Beryllium Compes has been shortened to Beryllium and Composites;
Engineered Material Systems has been changed tmitat Materials.

All Other includes our parent company expensegrathrporate charges and the operating resultsabéfibn
Services Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary that pdegi administrative and financial oversight servicesur other
businesses on a cost-plus basis. Corporate emgloyg¢éncluded in a reportable segment totaleds9gf a
December 31, 2010.

We use our web site, www.materion.coas a channel for routine distribution of impottarformation,
including news releases, analyst presentationsfiaadcial information. We post filings as soonraasonably
practicable after they are electronically filedhwibr furnished to, the SEC, including our anngakrterly, and
current reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q, and 8-K; auixg statements; and any amendments to those seport
statements. All such postings and filings are awdd on our web site free of charge. In additibig web site allow
investors and other interested persons to sigw apttomatically receive e-mail alerts when we pests releases
and financial information on our web site. The S&E€b maintains a web site, www.sec.galat contains reports,
proxy and information statements, and other infdiomaregarding issuers who file electronically witte SEC. The
content on any web site referred to in this AnriRgbort on Form 10-K is not incorporated by refeeeimto this
annual report unless expressly noted.

ADVANCED MATERIAL TECHNOLOGIES

Sales for this segment were $879.0 million, or Gf%otal sales, in 2010; $460.8 million, or 64%aifal sales,
in 2009; and $480.3 million, or 53% of total sai@s2008. As of December 31, 2010, Advanced Malteria
Technologies had 1,089 employees.

Advanced Material Technologies manufactures preginan-precious and specialty metal products, dioly
vapor deposition targets, frame lid assemblies] alad precious metal preforms, high temperatureebnaaterials,
ultra-fine wire, advanced chemicals, optics, perfance coatings and microelectronic packages. Tpreskicts are
used in wireless, semiconductor, photonic, hybrid ather microelectronic applications within thexsamer
electronics and telecommunications infrastructusekets. Other key markets for these products irechaddical,
defense and science, energy and industrial compengdvanced Material Technologies also has métaining
operations and in-house refineries that allow lierieclaim of precious metals from internally gated or
customers’ scrap.

Advanced Material Technologies’ products are saldadly from its facilities throughout the U.S., iAsand
Europe, as well as through direct sales officesiadependent sales representatives throughout dilel wPrincipal
competition includes companies such as Sumitomaldletieraeus Inc., Praxair, Inc., Honeywell Intéoral Inc.,
Solar Applied Materials Technology Corp. and a namif smaller regional and national suppliers.
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Advanced Material Technologies— Sales and Backlog

The backlog of unshipped orders for Advanced Matérechnologies as of December 31, 2010, 2009 808 2
was $55.4 million, $51.3 million and $34.6 milliomspectively. Backlog is generally representegilngchase
orders that may be terminated under certain camditiWe expect that substantially all of our bagldéorders for
this segment at December 31, 2010 will be filledry2011.

Sales are made to over 7,100 customers. Goverrsakagt accounted for less than 1% of the sales \wiom
2010, 2009 and 2008. Sales outside the UnitedsStatcipally to Europe and Asia, accounted fquragimately
19% of sales in 2010, 29% of sales in 2009 and @B%&les in 2008. Other segment reporting and ggabge
information is contained in Note M of Notes to Colidated Financial Statements, which can be foar@art II,
Item 8 of this Form 10-K and which is incorporatextein by reference.

Advanced Material Technologies — Research and Devgiment

Active research and development programs seek negiupt compositions and designs as well as process
innovations. Expenditures for research and devedopifor Advanced Material Technologies amounted to
$4.0 million in 2010, $3.2 million in 2009 and $2r8llion in 2008. A staff of 22 scientists, enging@and
technicians was employed in this effort as of yeaa-2010.

PERFORMANCE ALLOYS

Sales for this segment were $293.8 million, or 28%otal sales, in 2010; $172.5 million, or 24%affal sales,
in 2009; and $299.9 million, or 33% of total sal@s2008. As of December 31, 2010, Performanceyslioad
893 employees.

Performance Alloys manufactures and sells thre@ piiduct families: strip products, bulk produatsia
beryllium hydroxide. Strip products, the largettioé product families, include thin gauge precistnp and thin
diameter rod and wire. These copper and nickeyslfovide a combination of high conductivity, higtiability
and formability for use as connectors, contacticews, relays and shielding. Major markets fapgtroducts
include consumer electronics, telecommunicatiofragtructure, automotive electronics, appliance rmedical.
Performance Alloys’ primary direct competitor imigtform beryllium alloys is NGK Insulators, Ltdf lagoya,
Japan, with subsidiaries in the United States andike. Performance Alloys also competes with aflgstems
manufactured by Global Brass and Copper, Inc., &digt[Electric, Inc., Stolberger Metallwerke GmbHppin
Mining, PMX Industries, Inc. and also with othemngeally less expensive materials, including phosiinonze,
stainless steel and other specialty copper andghadloys which are produced by a variety of conmigaiaround the
world.

Bulk products are copper and nickel-based alloysufactured in plate, rod, bar, tube and other enited
forms that, depending upon the application, mayigmsuperior strength, corrosion or wear resigattermal
conductivity or lubricity. While the majority of fikiproducts contain beryllium, a growing portiontaflk products’
sales is from non-beryllium-containing alloys agsult of product diversification efforts. Appligans for bulk
products include oil and gas drilling componenearfngs, bushings, welding rods, plastic mold tapland
undersea telecommunications housing equipmeniemtea of bulk products, in addition to NGK Insoita, Ltd.,
Performance Alloys competes with several smallgioreal producers such as International BerylliumpCo
Ningxia Orient Tantalum in China and LeBronze Irtdesin Europe

Beryllium hydroxide is produced at our milling optons in Utah from our bertrandite mine and puseith
beryl ore. The hydroxide is used primarily as a raaterial input for strip and bulk products andatiesser extent,
by the Beryllium and Composites segment. Exterakdssof hydroxide from the Utah operations were than 4%
of Performance Alloystotal sales in each of the three most recent y®¥esalso sell beryllium hydroxide externa
to NGK Insulators, Ltd.

Strip and bulk products are manufactured at féaesliin Ohio and Pennsylvania and are distributed
internationally through a network of company-owsetlvice centers and outside distributors and agents
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Performance Alloys— Sales and Backlo¢

The backlog of unshipped orders for Performanceysllas of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was
$98.9 million, $68.6 million and $55.5 million, pectively. Backlog is generally represented by pase orders th
may be terminated under certain conditions. We edipat substantially all the backlog of orderstfis segment ¢
of December 31, 2010 will be filled during 2011.

Sales are made to over 1,700 customers. Perfornfdinges had government sales accounting for leas tt
of segment sales in 2010 and 2009 and none in ZX)8s outside the United States, principally toofa and Asia,
accounted for approximately 58% of sales in 201D %#%o of sales in 2009 and 2008. Other segmenttirg@nd
geographic information is contained in Note M oftéito Consolidated Financial Statements, whichbeafound it
Part Il, Item 8 of this Form 10-K and which is imporated herein by reference.

Performance Alloys — Research and Development

Active research and development programs seek negiupt compositions and designs as well as process
innovations. Expenditures for research and devedgpirmamounted to $1.8 million in 2010, $2.2 millior2009 and
$2.3 million in 2008. A staff of seven scienti®sgineers and technicians was employed in thistedfoof year-end
2010.

BERYLLIUM AND COMPOSITES

Sales for this segment were $61.9 million, or 5%otdl sales, in 2010; $47.0 million, or 7% of ttales, in
2009; and $63.6 million, or 7% of total sales, @08. As of December 31, 2010, Beryllium and Comiesshad
226 employees.

Beryllium and Composites manufactures berylliumdobsmetals and metal matrix composites in rod, sleiét
and a variety of customized forms at our EImoreio@md Fremont, California facilities. These matlsriare used in
applications that require high stiffness and/or temsity and they tend to be premium-priced dubed unique
combination of properties. This segment also mastufas beryllia ceramics produced at our Tucsoizoha
facility. Defense and science is the largest maideBeryllium and Composites, while other marksgsved include
industrial components and commercial aerospaceicaleénergy and telecommunications infrastructBreducts
are also sold for acoustics and optical scannipdjaions. A majority of defense sales are madeotatractors and
subcontractors instead of directly to governmetities. In June 2008, we announced that MateriarsBinc.
(formerly known as Brush Wellman Inc.), a wholly m&d subsidiary, had entered into an agreementtidth
Department of Defense to construct a $93.6 milhamary beryllium facility. This facility will prodce primary
beryllium, the feedstock material used to produesyllium metal products. Construction of this fégiwas
completed in 2011, and the start-up is underwayylBgm-containing products are sold throughout tinarld
through a direct sales organization and throughpamy-owned and independent distribution centersleNh
Beryllium and Composites is the only domestic picaiwof metallic beryllium, it competes primarilytividesigns
utilizing other materials including metals, metadtnix and organic composites. Electronic componatilizing
beryllia are used in the telecommunications infragtire, medical, industrial components and comiakrc
aerospace, and defense and science markets. Tioelsts are distributed through direct sales addpendent
sales agents. Direct competitors include AmericaryBa Inc. and CBL Ceramics Limited.

Beryllium and Composites — Sales and Backlog

The backlog of unshipped orders for Beryllium arahposites as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2068 wa
$26.1 million, $38.1 million and $28.7 million, pectively. Backlog is generally represented by pase orders th
may be terminated under certain conditions. We edipat substantially all of our backlog of ordésthis segmer
at December 31, 2010 will be filled during 2011.

Sales are made to over 300 customers. Governmestaaounted for less than 2% of Beryllium and
Composites’ sales in 2010 and 2009, and less t#aoflsegment sales in 2008. Sales outside the ¢l Bitates,
principally to Europe and Asia, accounted for appmately 22% of sales in each of 2010 and 2009,28% of
sales in 2008. Other segment reporting and geogragbrmation is contained in Note M of Notes torGolidated
Financial Statements, which can be found in Paitdin 8 of this Form 10-K and which is incorporhteerein by
reference.
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Beryllium and Composites— Research and Developmer

Active research and development programs seek nesiupt compositions and designs as well as process
innovations. Expenditures for research and devetsprmamounted to $1.3 million in 2010, $1.4 millior2009 and
$1.3 million in 2008. A staff of seven scienti®sgineers and technicians was employed in thistedfoof year-end
2010. Some research and development projects, dipass for which are not material, were externafypnsored
and funded.

TECHNICAL MATERIALS

Sales for this segment were $67.5 million, or 5%otdl sales, in 2010; $34.7 million, or 5% of {tales, in
2009; and $65.9 million, or 7% of total sales, 008. As of December 31, 2010, Technical Materiald h
184 employees.

Technical Materials manufactures clad inlay andrlayemetals, precious and base metal electropkyetéms,
electron beam welded systems, contour profilecesystand soldetoated metal systems. These specialty strip 1
products provide a variety of thermal, electricahechanical properties from a surface area oiquéat section of
the material. Our cladding and plating capabiliaé#ew for a precious metal or brazing alloy todmplied to a base
metal only where it is needed, reducing the madteast to the customer as well as providing defligiibility.

Major applications for these products include canaies, contacts and semiconductors while the lameskets are
automotive electronics and consumer electronice.dédfense and science, energy and medical mareessraller,
but offer further growth opportunities. Technicahtdrials’ products are manufactured at our LincBlnpde Island
facility and sold directly and through its salepresentatives. Technical Materials’ major compegiiaclude
Umicore S.A., Heraeus Inc. and Doduco, Inc.

Technical Materials — Sales and Backlog

The backlog of unshipped orders for Technical Matemas of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was
$16.3 million, $7.6 million and $7.6 million, resg&vely. Backlog is generally represented by puseharders that
may be terminated under certain conditions. We exipat substantially all of our backlog of ordésthis segmer
at December 31, 2010 will be filled during 2011.

Sales are made to over 200 customers. Technicarhkst did not have any sales to the governmeri20ao,
2009 or 2008. Sales outside the United Statescipaity to Europe and Asia, accounted for approxetya26% of
Technical Materials’ sales in 2010, 21% of sale2dA9 and 17% of sales in 2008. Other segment tiagand
geographic information is contained in Note M oftélto Consolidated Financial Statements, whichbeafound it
Part Il, Item 8 of this Form 10-K and which is imporated herein by reference.

Technical Materials — Research and Development

Active research and development programs seek negiupt compositions and designs as well as process
innovations. Expenditures for research and devedopirfor Technical Materials were nominal in 201002 and
2008.

GENERAL

Availability of Raw Materials

The principal raw materials we use are aluminumylbiem, cobalt, copper, gold, nickel, palladiumagpnum,
ruthenium, silver and tin. Ore reserve data cafobed in Part I, Item 7 of this Form 10-Khe availability of thes
raw materials, as well as other materials usedshysiadequate and generally not dependent onramgupplier.

Patents and Licenses

We own patents, patent applications and licendesirg to certain of our products and processesla\ur
rights under the patents and licenses are of sopertance to our operations, our business is ntenady
dependent on any one patent or license or on allopatents and licenses as a group.

Regulatory Matters

We are subject to a variety of laws which regutheemanufacture, processing, use, handling, stoteayesport
treatment, emission, release and disposal of sutedaand wastes used or generated in manufact&onglecades
we have operated our facilities under applicatdedards of inplant and outplant emissions and sekedal he
inhalation of airborne beryllium particulate maggent a health hazard to certain individuals.
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Standards for exposure to beryllium are under vewig the U.S. Occupational Safety and Health
Administration (OSHA) and by other governmental gnidate standard-setting organizations. One reduhese
reviews will likely be more stringent worker safatyandards. Some organizations, such as the Gadifor
Occupational Health and Safety Administration arelAmerican Conference of Governmental Industrial
Hygienists, have adopted standards that are mongent than the current standards of OSHA. Thesldgment,
proposal or adoption of more stringent standardg aff@ct buying decisions by the users of berylkoamtaining
products. If the standards are made more strirgeafor our customers or other downstream usersle¢aireduce
their use of beryllium-containing products, ourulés of operations, liquidity and financial conditi could be
materially adversely affected. The impact of thisemtial adverse effect would depend on the naadeextent of
the changes to the standards, the cost and abilityeet the new standards, the extent of any reguict customer
use and other factors. The magnitude of this patieadverse effect cannot be estimated.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Name @ Positions and Office

Richard J. Hipple 58 Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer . In
May 2006, Mr. Hipple was named Chairman of the Baard Chief
Executive Officer of Materion Corporation. He hahsed as
President since May 2005. He was Chief Operatirfic@ffrom May
2005 until May 2006. Mr. Hipple served as Presidd@rRerformance
Alloys from May 2002 until May 2005. He joined tR@mpany in
July 2001 as Vice President of Strip Products @mdesl in that
position until May 2002. Prior to joining Materiokir. Hipple was
President of LTV Steel Company, a business urihefLTV
Corporation (integrated steel producer and metaidator). Prior to
running LTV's steel business, Mr. Hipple held numes leadership
positions in engineering, operations, strategiampilag, sales and
marketing and procurement since 1975 at LTV. Mppt has serve
on the Board of Directors of Ferro Corporation si2007 and as its
Lead Director since April 201(

John D. Grampa 63 Senior Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer .

Mr. Grampa was named Senior Vice President Fmand Chief
Financial Officer in December 2006. Prior to tha,had served as
Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Offsiace November
1999 and as Vice President Finance since Octol#8. Prior to that,
he had served as Vice President, Finance for thddwiale Materials
Business of Avery Dennison Corporation since Margf4 and held
other various positions at Avery Dennison Corpora{producer of
pressure sensitive materials, office products,|sahed other
converted products) from 19¢

Daniel A. Skoch 61 Senior Vice President Administration . Mr. Skoch was named Senior
Vice President Administration in July 2000. Priorthat time, he had
served as Vice President Administration and HumasoRrces since
March 1996. He had served as Vice President HunegourRces sint
July 1991 and prior to that time, he was Corpotitector —
Personnel

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business, financial condition, results of ofieres and cash flows can be affected by a numbérabérs,
including, but not limited to, those set forth beland elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 1@, one of
which could cause our actual results to vary maligrfrom recent results or from our anticipatetlufe results.
Therefore, an investment in us involves some risicdiding the risks described below. The risksdssed below
are not the only risks that we may experiencenyf af the following risks occur, our business, tesaf operations
or financial condition could be negatively impacted
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The businesses of many of our customers are sulteaignificant fluctuations as a result of the cial nature of
their industries and their sensitivity to generat@nomic conditions, which could adversely affecetdemand for
our products and reduce our sales and profitability

A substantial number of our customers are in thmsgmer electronics, telecommunications infrastmegtu
defense and science, industrial components and eosomhaerospace, automotive electronics and appsia
industries. Each of these industries is cyclicalature, influenced by a combination of factors twald have a
negative impact on our business, including, amdhgrahings, periods of economic growth or recegsstrength or
weakness of the U.S. dollar, the strength of thesamer electronics, automotive electronics and ederpndustries
and the rate of construction of telecommunicatiofiastructure equipment and government spendindef@nse.

Also, in times when growth rates in our marketsvsttown, there may be temporary inventory adjusts et
our customers that may negatively affect our bissine

The recent global economic crisis had, and any datdial negative or uncertain worldwide economic aditions
may have, a negative impact on our financial penfoance.

The recent global economic crisis adversely afféthe global economy. Some customers experienced
difficulty in obtaining adequate financing due bhetdisruption in the credit markets, which has ioted our sales.
Our exposure to bad debt losses may also incréasstomers are unable to pay for products preWouslered.
The severe recession has also caused higher ungmgiorates globally which could have an adversecebn
demand for consumer electronics, which comprisé€d éflour sales in 2010. Any additional negativeincertain
financial and macroeconomic conditions may havigiaificant adverse effect on our sales, profitapiéind results
of operations.

We may not be able to execute our acquisition st or successfully integrate acquired businesses.

We have been active over the last several yegrarsuing niche acquisitions. For example, during®@e
completed the acquisition of Materion Advanced Mate Technologies and Services Corp. (formerlyvnas
Academy Corporation). We intend to continue to adersfurther growth opportunities through the asgion of
assets or companies and routinely review acquis@portunities. We cannot predict whether we bdlisuccessful
in pursuing any acquisition opportunities or whed tonsequences of any acquisition would be. Fatcgeisitions
may involve the expenditure of significant fundslananagement time. Depending upon the natureasideiming
of future acquisitions, we may be required to raidditional financing, which may not be availalbdeus on
acceptable terms. Further, we may not be abledoesgfully integrate any acquired business withexisting
businesses or recognize any expected advantagesfrp completed acquisition.

In addition, there may be liabilities that we fait,are unable, to discover in the course of periog due
diligence investigations on the assets or compamébkave already acquired or may acquire in theréutWe cannot
assure that rights to indemnification by the ssllerthese assets or companies to us, even ifnrautawill be
enforceable, collectible or sufficient in amourpge or duration to fully offset the possible lidlds associated
with the business or property acquired. Any sughilities, individually or in the aggregate, collave a materially
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiog results of operations.

The markets for our products are experiencing rapitianges in technology.

We operate in markets characterized by rapidly gimantechnology and evolving customer specificatiand
industry standards. New products may quickly rerasheexisting product obsolete and unmarketableekample,
copper beryllium has long been used for high réltglcontacts in mobile handheld devices. Mobikvite
designers may justify using lower-performance malgin some of the less-critical components of ieophones.
Our growth and future results of operations degenghrt upon our ability to enhance existing pradwand
introduce newly developed products on a timely d#sat conform to prevailing and evolving industtgndards,
meet or exceed technological advances in the n@adagt, meet changing customer specifications, aehigarket
acceptance and respond to our competitors’ products
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The process of developing new products can be tdabitally challenging and requires the accurate
anticipation of technological and market trends. M&y not be able to introduce new products sucakgsir do so
on a timely basis. If we fail to develop new protduihat are appealing to our customers or failewetbp products
on time and within budgeted amounts, we may be lertalrecover our research and development cosiishveould
adversely affect our margins and profitability.

A portion of our revenue is derived from the salédefens«related products through various contracts and
subcontracts. These contracts may be suspendeanceled, which could have an adverse impact on cewenue.

In 2010, 12% of our revenue was derived from saesistomers in the defense and science marketrifop
of these customers operate under contracts witltSegovernment, which are vulnerable to termoratit any
time, for convenience or default. Some of the reasor cancellation include, but are not limitedhadgetary
constraints or re-appropriation of government fynidsing of contract awards, violations of legalregulatory
requirements, and changes in political agendael¢ cancellations were to occur, it would resuét reduction on
our revenue. For example, various projects, incgdhe F-22 fighter aircraft, have been cancelddchvhad, and
will have, a negative impact on our revenue.

Our products are deployed in complex applicationsganay have errors or defects that we find onlyeaft
deployment.

Our products are highly complex, designed to béayepl in complicated applications and may contain
undetected defects, errors or failures. Althoughpraducts are generally tested during manufaagupnior to
deployment, they can only be fully tested when dg@dl in specific applications. For example, we Beflyllium-
copper alloy strip products in a coil form to socustomers, who then stamp the alloy for its spegifirpose. On
occasion, it is not until such customer stampsatioy that a defect in the alloy is detected. Consatly, our
customers may discover errors after the produatse baen deployed. The occurrence of any defectsseor
failures could result in installation delays, protteturns, termination of contracts with our castss, diversion of
our resources, increased service and warranty aaststher losses to our customers, end usersus. #ny of
these occurrences could also result in the loss délay in market acceptance of our products autbocdamage our
reputation, which could reduce our sales.

The terms of our indebtedness may restrict our agténs, including our ability to pursue our growtand
acquisition strategies.

The terms of our credit facilities contain a numbgrestrictive covenants, including restrictionsour ability
to, among other things, borrow and make investmewtguire other businesses and consign additioralqus
metals. These covenants could adversely affecy lisiting our ability to plan for or react to magkconditions or
to meet our capital needs, as well as adversedgdiur ability to pursue our growth, acquisitierasegies and other
strategic initiatives.

Our failure to comply with the covenants contain@dthe terms of our indebtedness could result in ement of
default, which could materially and adversely aftemur operating results and our financial conditian

The terms of our credit facilities require us tongdy with various covenants, including financiaveoants. If
the recent global economic downturn returns, itd¢tave a material adverse impact on our earningscash flow,
which could adversely affect our ability to compiith our financial covenants and could limit ourtmaving
capacity. Our ability to comply with these coversatepends, in part, on factors over which we mas m@ control.
A breach of any of these covenants could reswdhievent of default under one or more of the ages¢sngoverning
our indebtedness that, if not cured or waived, @give the holders of the defaulted indebtednessight to
terminate commitments to lend and cause all amaurnttanding with respect to the indebtedness wuleeand
payable immediately. Acceleration of any of ouréhtedness could result in cross defaults undeoitwer debt
instruments. Our assets and cash flow may be iogrif to fully repay borrowings under all of ountetanding debt
instruments if some or all of these instrumentsaaaelerated upon an event of default, in whicle ees may be
required to seek legal protection from our creditor
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We conduct our sales and distribution operations anvorldwide basis and are subject to the riskscasated with
doing business outside the United States.

We sell to customers outside of the United Statas four United States and international operatitvis.have
been and are continuing to expand our geographithrizn Europe and Asia. Shipments to customersdeuts the
United States accounted for approximately 28% ofsales in 2010, 35% in 2009 and 37% in 2008. Wicipate
that international shipments will account for angfigant portion of our sales for the foreseeabieife. Revenue
from international operations (principally EuropedaAsia) amounted to approximately 17% of our sade010 an
24% in each of 2009 and 2008. There are a numhésksf associated with international business #ietsy
including:

¢ burdens to comply with multiple and potentiadbnflicting foreign laws and regulations, inclngiexport
requirements, tariffs and other barriers, environtakhealth and safety requirements and unexpettadge
in any of these factor.

« difficulty in obtaining export licenses from the ited States governmer
« political and economic instability and disruptiois;luding terrorist attack:

« disadvantages of competing against comparoas €ountries that are not subject to U.S. laws and
regulations, including the Foreign Corrupt Pradtiget (FCPA);

« potentially adverse tax consequences due to oy@rgpr differing tax structures; ai
« fluctuations in currency exchange rai

Any of these risks could have an adverse effeaiwrinternational operations by reducing the denfandur
products or reducing the prices at which we canoselproducts, which could result in an advergeatfon our
business, financial position, results of operationsash flows.

In addition, we could be adversely affected byatioins of the FCPA and similar worldwide anti-brijpé&aws.
The FCPA and similar anti-bribery laws in otheligdictions generally prohibit companies and theieimediaries
from making improper payments to non-U.S. offici@isthe purpose of obtaining or retaining busin€as: policies
mandate compliance with these anti-bribery laws.dfMerate in many parts of the world that have dégpeed
governmental corruption to some degree and, imicecircumstances, strict compliance with anti-eriplaws may
conflict with local customs and practices. We carassure you that our internal controls and proceslalways wil
protect us from the reckless or criminal acts cottadiby our employees or agents. If we are fourtuktbable for
FCPA violations, we could suffer from criminal avit penalties or other sanctions, which could havaaterial
adverse effect on our business.

A major portion of our bank debt consists of vari@-rate obligations, which subjects us to interestea
fluctuations.

Our credit facilities are secured by substantiallyof our assets (other than nomning real property and cert:
other assets). Our working capital line of creddlides variable-rate obligations, which expostousterest rate
risks. If interest rates increase, our debt ser@ldegations on our variable-rate indebtedness dadrease even if
the amount borrowed remained the same, resultiagdiecrease in our net income. We have developedging
program to manage the risks associated with intesés fluctuations, but our program may not effesty eliminate
all of the financial exposure associated with iestrate fluctuations. Additional information redijag our market
risks is contained in Part I, Item 7A of this Foli®-K.

The availability and prices of some raw materialgwse in our manufacturing operations fluctuate, en
increases in raw material costs can adversely affeer operating results and our financial conditian

We manufacture advanced engineered materials mamgus precious and non-precious metals, including
aluminum, beryllium, cobalt, copper, gold, nickahlladium, platinum, ruthenium, silver and tin. Tdeailability of
and prices for these raw materials are subjecolatility and are influenced by worldwide econoranditions,
speculative action, world supply and demand bakgriogentory levels, availability of substitute st the
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U.S. dollar exchange rate, production costs of éthBtates and foreign competitors, anticipateceacgived
shortages and other factors. Precious metal piiicelsiding prices for gold and silver, have incredsignificantly ir
recent years. These higher prices can cause adjntstno our inventory carrying values, whethersalteof quantity
discrepancies, normal manufacturing losses, difilege in scrap rates, theft or other factors, telemgreater impact
on our profitability and cash flows. Also, the @riof our products has increased in tandem withisiireg metal
prices, as a result of pass-through, which coutdrdaistomers from purchasing our products andradiyeaffect
our sales.

Further, we maintain some precious metals on aigoed inventory basis. The owners of the precioetain
charge a fee that fluctuates based on the marlcet pf those metals and other factors. A signifiéaarease in the
market price of precious metals or the consignrfeatould increase our financing costs, which cautdease our
operating costs.

We are dependent on the successful scheduled catioplef a new primary beryllium facility for our fture
supply of pure beryllium

We have partnered with the Department of Defenshaéoe in the cost of a new beryllium plant formary
beryllium feedstock. We may experience quality ang@foduction issues in start-up of this new fagilAny
prolonged delays of pure beryllium production fridme new plant could negatively impact our business.

Because we experience seasonal fluctuations in sales, our quarterly results will fluctuate, and oannual
performance will be affected by the fluctuatior

We expect seasonal patterns to continue, whichesamsr quarterly results to fluctuate. For examibie,
Christmas season generates increased demand frocusiamers that manufacture consumer productsir|f
revenue during any quarter were to fall below thygeetations of investors or securities analysts share price
could decline, perhaps significantly. Unfavoraldemomic conditions, lower than normal levels of deih and
other occurrences in any of the other quartersdcalgio harm our results of operations.

Natural disasters, equipment failures, work stopasg bankruptcies and other unexpected events mag lsur
customers to curtail production or shut down thesperations.

Our customers’ manufacturing operations are suligeconditions beyond their control, including ravaterial
shortages, natural disasters, interruptions inteat power or other energy services, equipmeitries,
bankruptcies, work stoppages due to strikes ordots including those affecting the automotive istdy, one of ou
major markets, and other unexpected events. Fonghea Delphi Corporation, a customer of three af lmusiness
units and the largest United States supplier afraotive parts, filed for bankruptcy protection i005. Delphi
Corporation emerged from bankruptcy reorganizaitio®009. Similar events could also affect othendigps to our
customers. Such events could cause our customewstl production or to shut down a portion drcdltheir
operations, which could reduce their demand forpyaducts and reduce our sales.

Unexpected events and natural disasters at our mioeld increase the cost of operating our business.

A portion of our production costs at our mine axed regardless of current operating levels. Owrafing
levels are subject to conditions beyond our cortrat may increase the cost of mining for varyiegdths of time.
These conditions include, among other things, fietural disasters, pit wall failures and ore pssagy changes.
Our mining operations also involve the handling pratiuction of potentially explosive materialsislpossible that
an explosion could result in death and injuriesrtployees and others and material property danuaterd parties
and us. Any explosion could expose us to adverbéqity or liability for damages and materially atgéely affect
our operations. Any of these events could increaseost of operations.

Equipment failures and other unexpected events at €acilities may lead to manufacturing curtailmestor
shutdowns

The manufacturing processes that take place imining operation, as well as in our manufacturiaglities,
depend on critical pieces of equipment. This eqeipihmay, on occasion, be out of service because of
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unanticipated failure, and some equipment is nadihg available or replaceable. In addition to eguént failures,
our facilities are also subject to the risk of lds® to unanticipated events such as fires, exgiesir other disaste
Material plant shutdowns or reductions in operatioould harm our ability to fulfill our customerd@mands, which
could harm our sales and cause our customersdmfirer suppliers. Further, remediation of anyringtion in
production capability may require us to make largpital expenditures, which may have a negativecefin our
profitability and cash flows. Our business intetrop insurance may not cover all of the lost revanassociated
with interruptions in our manufacturing capabilitie

Many of our manufacturing facilities are dependenn single source energy suppliers, and interruptionenergy
services may cause manufacturing curtailments ougtiowns.

Many of our manufacturing facilities depend on eonerce for electric power and for natural gas.&a@mple,
Utah Power is the sole supplier of electric poweethie processing facility for our mining operationdJtah. A
significant interruption in service from our energyppliers due to equipment failures, terrorisramy other cause
may result in substantial losses that are not fudlyered by our business interruption insurance. gubstantial
unmitigated interruption of our operations duehtese conditions could harm our ability to meetaustomers’
demands and reduce our sales.

If the price of electrical power, fuel or other engy sources increases, our operating expenses cintdease
significantly.

We have numerous milling and manufacturing faeitand a mining operation, which depend on eledtric
power, fuel or other energy sources. See “ltem Rreperties,” of this Form 10-K. Our operating expes are
sensitive to changes in electricity prices and fuges, including natural gas prices. Prices fecteicity and nature
gas have continued to increas® can fluctuate widely with availability and dexddevels from other users. Duri
periods of peak usage, supplies of energy may tailed, and we may not be able to purchase erergjistorical
market rates. While we have some long-term corgnaih energy suppliers, we are exposed to fluainatin
energy costs that can affect our production c@dteough we enter into forward-fixed price supphyntracts for
natural gas and electricity for use in our operegjghose contracts are of limited duration andatocover all of ou
fuel or electricity needs. Price increases in fure electricity costs, such as those increaseswhay occur from
climate change legislation or other environmentahdates, will continue to increase our cost of aens.

We have a limited number of manufacturing facilitle and damage to those facilities could interruptro
operations, increase our costs of doing businessl @mpair our ability to deliver our products on anely basis.

Some of our facilities are interdependent. Forainsé, our manufacturing facility, in EImore, Ohalies on our
mining operation for its supply of beryllium hydide used in production of most of its beryllium-taining
materials. Additionally, our Reading, Pennsylvakiegmont, California and Tucson, Arizona manufdotyr
facilities are dependent on materials producedusygbmore, Ohio manufacturing facility and our Wifesdd, New
York manufacturing facility is dependent on our ild, New York manufacturing facility. See “ltem-2
Properties”, of this Form 10-K. The destructiorctrsure of any of our manufacturing facilities arr anine for a
significant period of time as a result of fire, #gion, act of war or terrorism or other naturaladiter or unexpected
event may interrupt our manufacturing capabilitiesrease our capital expenditures and our cosi®iolg business
and impair our ability to deliver our products otiraely basis. In such an event, we may need rtés an
alternative source of manufacturing or to delaydpiagion, which could increase our costs of doingitess. Our
property damage and business interruption insuraraenot cover all of our potential losses and matycontinue
to be available to us on acceptable terms, iflat al

Our lengthy and variable sales and development eymlakes it difficult for us to predict if and whes new
product will be sold to customer

Our sales and development cycle, which is the gdriam the generation of a sales lead or new proidaea
through the development of the product and therdiag of sales, may typically take up to two orethryears,
making it very difficult to forecast sales and ésof operations. Our inability to accurately pdhe timing and
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magnitude of sales of our products, especially pémttoduced products, could affect our abilitymeet our
customers’ product delivery requirements or causaesults of operations to suffer if we incur expes in a
particular period that do not translate into salesng that period, or at all. In addition, theadures would make it
difficult to plan future capital expenditure needsd could cause us to fail to meet our cash flayuirements.

Future terrorist attacks and other acts of violence war may directly harm our operations.

Future terrorist attacks or other acts of violeacear may directly impact our facilities. For exalay, our
Elmore, Ohio facility is located near, and deripesver from, a nuclear power plant, which could harget for a
terrorist attack. In addition, future terroristeaks, related armed conflicts or prolonged or iaseg tensions in the
Middle East or other regions of the world couldsmeonsumer confidence and spending to decreageadang
demand for consumer goods that contain our prodEatsher, when the United States armed forcesmamved in
active hostilities or large-scale deployments, dséespending tends to focus more on meeting theiqaiyneeds of
the troops, and planned expenditures on weaponsthed systems incorporating our products may daaed or
deferred. Any of these occurrences could also as@evolatility in the United States and worldwidehcial
markets, which could negatively impact our sales.

We may be unable to access the financial marketsfarorable terms.

The inability to raise capital on favorable terparticularly during times of uncertainty in thedimcial market:
could impact our ability to sustain and grow ousibess and would increase our capital costs. lticpéar, the
substantial volatility in world capital markets digethe recent global economic crisis has had mifgignt negative
impact on the global financial markets.

We rely on access to financial markets as a siganifi source of liquidity for capital requirements ratisfied
by cash on hand or operating cash flow. Our adwetg financial markets could be adversely impbig various
factors, including:

« changes in credit markets that reduce availat®dit or the ability to renew existing liquiditgcilities on
acceptable term:

* a deterioration of our cred
+ adeterioration in the financial condition of thenks with which we do busines
« extreme volatility in our markets that increasesgimaor credit requirements; ai

« the collateral pledge of substantially alloofr assets in connection with our existing indebésd, which
limits our flexibility in raising additional capita

These factors have adversely impacted our accahe fmancial markets from time to time. Negatire
uncertain global economic conditions may makefftatilt for us to access the credit market andhitam financing
or refinancing, as the case may be, to the exirgssary, on satisfactory terms or at all.

Low investment performance by our domestic pengidan assets may require us to increase our pendiahility
and expense, which may require us to fund a portieihour pension obligations and divert funds fromireer
potential uses

We provide defined benefit pension plans to elgidmployees. Our pension expense and our required
contributions to our pension plans are directlyeté#d by the value of plan assets, the projectedofaeturn on pla
assets, the actual rate of return on plan assdttharactuarial assumptions we use to measureafimed benefit
pension plan obligations, including the rate atahitfuture obligations are discounted to a presahtey or the
discount rate. As of December 31, 2010, for penamgounting purposes, we assumed an 8.00% ragtushron
pension assets.

Lower investment performance of our pension plaetssresulting from a decline in the stock marketd
significantly increase the deficit position of qulans. Should the pension asset return fall belomeapectations, it
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is likely that future pension expenses would inseed he actual return on our plan assets for the greded
December 31, 2010 was a gain of approximately 13.4%

We establish the discount rate used to determm@ntbsent value of the projected and accumulateefibe
obligation at the end of each year based uponuhiadle market rates for high quality, fixed incemvestments.
An increase in the discount rate would reduce tiheré pension expense and, conversely, a loweoudiidcate
would raise the future pension expense.

Based on current guidelines, assumptions and gstimniacluding stock market prices and interegts;ave
anticipate that we will be required to make a cashtribution of approximately $8.8 million to ouemsion plan in
2011. If our current assumptions and estimatesi@ireorrect, a contribution in years beyond 201¥ imagreater
than the projected 2011 contribution required.

We cannot predict whether changing market or ecanoonditions, regulatory changes or other factuits
further increase our pension expenses or fundifigaitons, diverting funds we would otherwise apfdyother use

Our expenditures for post-retirement health bensfitould be materially higher than we have prediciédur
underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect.

We provide post-retirement health benefits to bligemployees. Our retiree health expense is tiratfected
by the assumptions we use to measure our retiétman obligations, including the assumed ratetdach health
care costs will increase and the discount rate tesedlculate future obligations. For retiree healtcounting
purposes, we maintained the assumed rate at wkalthhcare costs will increase for the next ye&@%%tfor both
December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009. In additie have assumed that this health care costasereend
rate will decline to 5% by 2019.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifeffect on the amounts reported for the health plans.
A one percentage point increase in assumed hemihcost trend rates would have increased theqmpteyment
benefit obligation by $0.7 million at December 2010.

We cannot predict whether changing market or econoonditions, regulatory changes or other factails
further increase our retiree health care expensebligations, diverting funds we would otherwigmby to other
uses.

We are subject to fluctuations in currency exchangees, which may negatively affect our financial
performance.

A significant portion of our sales is conductednternational markets and priced in currencies rotihan the
U.S. dollar. Revenues from customers outside ofJihised States (principally Europe and Asia) amedrtb 28% ¢
sales in 2010, 35% in 2009 and 37% in 2008. A fianit part of these international sales are prioeclrrencies
other than the U.S. dollar. Significant fluctuasdn currency values relative to the U.S. dollaymagatively affect
our financial performance. In the past, fluctuasiégm currency exchange rates, particularly forahe and the yen,
have impacted our sales, margins and profitabilitye fair value of our net liability relating to tstanding foreign
currency contracts was $1.5 million at December2®10, indicating that the average hedge rates wefg/orable
compared to the actual year end market exchangs. Nathile we may hedge our currency transactiomsitigate
the impact of currency price volatility on our eags, any hedging activities may not be successful.

Our holding company structure causes us to rely famds from our subsidiaries.

We are a holding company and conduct substantdlilyur operations through our subsidiaries. Asking
company, we are dependent upon dividends or otiterciompany transfers of funds from our subsidéaride
payment of dividends and other payments to us Ipysobsidiaries may be restricted by, among othieg#h
applicable corporate and other laws and regulatiameements of the subsidiaries and the termsrofwrent and
future indebtedness.
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Our financial results are likely to be negativelynpacted by an impairment of goodwill should our skholder
equity exceed our market capitalization for a numb quarters.

A goodwill impairment charge may be triggered byeduction in actual and projected cash flows, wiichld
be negatively impacted by the market price of @mmmon shares. Our goodwill balance at Decembe2@10 was
$72.9 million. Any required non-cash impairment gacould significantly reduce this balance andehawnaterial
impact on our reported financial position and ressaf operations.

Changes in laws or regulations or the manner of thaterpretation or enforcement could adversely fract our
financial performance and restrict our ability tofmerate our business or execute our strateg

New laws or regulations, or changes in existingslawregulations or the manner of their interpretaor
enforcement, could increase our cost of doing lmssirand restrict our ability to operate our busireexecute our
strategies. This includes, among other thingsptissible taxation under U.S. law of certain incdroen foreign
operations, compliance costs and enforcement thddpodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumereetisin
Act, and costs associated with complying with théeéht Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2000 éhe
regulations promulgated thereunder.

We are exposed to lawsuits in the normal courséosiness, which could harm our business.

During the ordinary conduct of our business, we t@gome involved in certain legal proceedings udirig
those involving product liability claims, third-ggriawsuits relating to exposure to beryllium atairas against us
of infringement of intellectual property rights third parties. Due to the uncertainties of litigati we can give no
assurance that we will prevail at the conclusiofutdre claims. Certain of these matters involvaety of claims the
if they result in an adverse ruling to us, couldegiise to substantial liability which could havenaterial adverse
effect on our business, operating results or firdmondition.

We are presently uninsured for beryllium-relatearob where the claimants’ first exposure to beuytli
occurred on or after January 1, 2008, and we havemdertaken to estimate the impact of such claivhich have
yet to be asserted. In addition, some jurisdictiprezlude insurance coverage for punitive damage ds
Accordingly, our profitability could be adverselffected if any current or future claimants obtaidgments for any
uninsured compensatory or punitive damages. Fyrdmennfavorable outcome or settlement of a pen@rgllium
case or additional adverse media coverage couloleage the commencement of additional similardiiign.

Health issues, litigation and government regulatiorelating to our beryllium operations could signifantly
reduce demand for our products, limit our abilitp toperate and adversely affect our profitability.

If exposed to respirable beryllium fumes, dustp@rder, some individuals may demonstrate an attergi
reaction to beryllium and may later develop a cledung disease known as chronic beryllium diseas&BD.
Some people who are diagnosed with CBD do not deveinical symptoms at all. In others, the diseze®lead to
scarring and damage of lung tissue, causing clisigaptoms that include shortness of breath, wingeand
coughing. Severe cases of CBD can cause disabilitfgath.

Further, some scientists claim there is eviden@nadssociation between beryllium exposure and camger,
and certain standargktting organizations have classified beryllium badyllium compounds as human carcinog

The health risks relating to exposure to beryllivave been, and will continue to be, a significastie
confronting the beryllium-containing products inttys The health risks associated with beryllium éagsulted in
product liability claims, employee and third-paldyvsuits and increased levels of scrutiny by fellstate, foreign
and international regulatory authorities. This soguincludes regulatory decisions relating to #pproval or
prohibition of the use of beryllium-containing miagés for various uses. Concerns over CBD and gtlogzntial
adverse health effects relating to beryllium, ali @& concerns regarding potential liability frohetuse of
beryllium, may discourage our customers’ use oftmryllium-containing products and significanthduee demand
for our products. In addition, continued or increadverse media coverage relating to our beryllium
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containing products could damage our reputatiotaose a decrease in demand for beryllium-contaimingucts,
which could adversely affect our profitability.

Our bertrandite ore mining and beryllium-related mafacturing operations and some of our customers’
businesses are subject to extensive health andtgaggulations that impose, and will continue to puse,
significant costs and liabilities, and future regation could increase those costs and liabilitieseffectively
prohibit production or use of berylliur-containing products.

Our customers and we are subject to laws regulatiorier exposure to beryllium. Standards for expesa
beryllium are under review by OSHA, the DepartmarEnergy and by other governmental and privatedzted-
setting organizations. One result of these revieilldikely be more stringent worker safety standsirSome
organizations, such as the California Occupatittesdlth and Safety Administration and the Americamf@rence
of Governmental Industrial Hygienists, have adosi@edards that are more stringent than the custantiards of
OSHA. The development, proposal or adoption of nstri@gent standards may affect buying decisionthbyusers
of beryllium-containing products. If the standaeile made more stringent andéar customers or other downstre
users decide to reduce their use of beryllium-dairtg products, our results of operations, liquidihd financial
condition could be materially adversely affectede Tmpact of this potential adverse effect woulgetel on the
nature and extent of the changes to the standalspst and ability to meet the new standardsextitent of any
reduction in customer use and other factors. Thgnithade of this potential adverse effect cannot&témated.

Our bertrandite ore mining and manufacturing operains are subject to extensive environmental regidat that
impose, and will continue to impose, significantste and liabilities on us, and future regulation atd increase
these costs and liabilities or prevent productiohberyllium-containing products.

We are subject to a variety of governmental regadatrelating to the environment, including thoskating to
our handling of hazardous materials and air andemagter emissions. Some environmental laws impoksstantial
penalties for non-compliance. Others, such aseatiertl Comprehensive Environmental Response, Caapen,
and Liability Act, or CERCLA, impose strict, retriéve and joint and several liability upon entitresponsible for
releases of hazardous substances. Bertranditeionegnis also subject to extensive governmentaliiggn on
matters such as permitting and licensing requirésygiant and wildlife protection, reclamation aedtoration of
mining properties, the discharge of materials thieovenvironment and the effects that mining hagronndwater
quality and availability. The Environmental ProtentAgency is developing financial responsibiligguirements
under CERCLA for hardrock mining facilities. Thefséure requirements could impose on us signifiealtitional
costs or obligations with respect to our extractimiiling and processing of ore. If we fail to colpith present
and future environmental laws and regulations, addtbe subject to liabilities or our operationsiiciobe
interrupted. In addition, future environmental laavsl regulations could restrict our ability to emgaur facilities o
extract our bertrandite ore deposits. These ennisttal laws and regulations could also requirewctjuire costly
equipment, obtain additional financial assurancénaur other significant expenses in connectiothwiur business,
which would increase our costs of production.

The availability of competitive substitute matersafor beryllium-containing products may reduce oaustomers’
demand for these products and reduce our sales.

In certain product applications, we compete wittmaofacturers of non-berylliumentaining products, includir
organic composites, metal alloys or compositeghititm and aluminum. Our customers may choose to use
substitutes for berylliuncontaining products in their products for a varietyeasons, including, among other thir
the lower costs of those substitutes, the healthsafety concerns relating to these products amdishk of litigation
relating to beryllium-containing products. If ouwrstomers use substitutes for beryllium-containiragpcts in their
products, the demand for our beryllium-containimgducts may decrease, which could reduce our sales.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

15




Table of Contents

Item 2. PROPERTIES

We operate manufacturing plants, service and Higion centers and other facilities throughoutwoeld.
During 2010, we made effective use of our prodectapacities at our principal facilities. We beéidtiat the
quality and production capacity of our facilitisssufficient to maintain our competitive positiar the foreseeable
future. Information as of December 31, 2010, wékpect to our significant facilities that are owoedeased, and
the respective segments in which they are incluideskt forth below.

Approximate

Number of
Location Owned or Leasel Square Feel
Corporate and Administrative Office
Mayfield Heights, Ohic23)®) Leasec 53,80(
Manufacturing Facilities
Albuguerque, New Mexic() Owned/Lease 13,000/80,20
Bloomfield, Connecticu() Leasec 23,40(
Brewster, New York1) Leasec 75,00(
Buellton, Californis® Leasec 35,00(
Buffalo, New York®) Owned 97,00(
Delta, Utah® Owned 86,00(
Elmore, Ohic2®) Owned/Lease 556,000/316,0C
Fremont, Californi3) Leasec 16,80(
Limerick, Ireland®) Leasec 18,00(
Lincoln, Rhode Islani(4) Owned/Lease 130,000/11,00
Lorain, Ohio®) Owned 55,00(
Louny, Czech Republi® Leasec 19,80(
Milwaukee, Wisconsii®) Owned/Lease 99,000/7,30
Newburyport, Massachuse(® Owned 30,00(
Reading, Pennsylvan(@ Owned 123,00(
Santa Clara, Californi(®) Leasec 5,80(
Singapore®) Leasec 24,50(
Subic Bay, Philippine@ Leasec 5,00(
Suzhou, Chini® Leasec 22,40(
Taipei, Taiwar(® Leasec 11,50(
Tucson, Arizond3 Owned 53,00(
Tyngsboro, Massachuse(@ Leasec 38,00(
Westford, Massachusei() Leasec 75,00(
Wheatfield, New Yorkd) Owned 35,00(
Windsor, Connectict(1) Leasec 34,70(
Service and Distribution Centet
Elmhurst, Illinois®@ Leasec 28,50(
Fukaya, Japa@@®)(4) Owned 35,50(
Gallup, New Mexicc®) Leasec 5,00(
Reading, Englan®)@G)4) Leasec 9,70(
Singapore ) Leasec 2,50(
Stuttgart, German(2(4) Leasec 24,80(
Tokyo, Japai(@)@E)4) Leasec 6,90(
Warren, Michigar(@ Leasec 34,50(

(1) Advanced Material Technologii
@ Performance Alloy:

() Beryllium and Composite

@ Technical Material:

®) All Other
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In addition to the above, the Company holds certaimeral rights on 7,500 acres in Juab County, iaim
which the beryllium-bearing ore, bertrandite, is1ed by the open pit method. A portion of these maheghts are
held under lease. Ore reserve data can be fouRdriril, Item 7 of this Form 10-K.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Our subsidiaries and our holding company are stifj@n time to time, to a variety of civil and advistrative
proceedings arising out of our normal operationsluiding, without limitation, product liability clans, health, safe
and environmental claims and employment-relateidast Among such proceedings are the cases deddréiew.

Beryllium Claims

As of December 31, 2010, our subsidiary, Materionsh Inc. (formerly known as Brush Wellman Inc.asna
defendant in two proceedings in state and fedenadts brought by plaintiffs alleging that they haamntracted, or
have been placed at risk of contracting, beryllaensitization or chronic beryllium disease or ofbheg conditions
as a result of exposure to beryllium. Plaintiffderyllium cases seek recovery under negligencevaridus other
legal theories and seek compensatory and punitiveades, in many cases of an unspecified sum. Spofiseme
plaintiffs claim loss of consortium.

As of December 31, 2009, there were four beryllzases (involving eight plaintiffs) and as of Decem®1,
2010, there were two beryllium cases (involving@aintiffs). During 2010:

« one case (involving one plaintiff) was file

« the earlier dismissal of one purported class adiiorolving one named plaintiff) was affirmed byethourt o
appeals, as discussed more fully below;

 two cases (involving two plaintiffs) were settleatdadismissec

The two pending beryllium cases as of DecembeR310 involve four plaintiffs, plus two spouses with
consortium claims. The Company has some insurameerage, subject to an annual deductible.

The purported class action was Gary Anthony v. $idbe Manufacturing Corporation d/b/a Small Tube
Products Corporation, Inc., et afiled in the Court of Common Pleas of Philadetp@iounty, Pennsylvania, case
number 000525, on September 7, 2006. The caseamas/ed to the U.S. District Court for the Easterstiixt of
Pennsylvania, case number 06-CV-4419, on Octob20@6. The only named plaintiff was Gary AnthonheT
defendants were Small Tube Manufacturing Corponatigh/a Small Tube Products Corporation, Inc.; Adim
Metals Inc.; Tube Methods, Inc.; and Cabot CorporatThe plaintiff purported to sue on behalf aflass of currer
and former employees of the U.S. Gauge facilitgéliersville, Pennsylvania who had been exposéeitgllium for
a period of at least one month while employed &.\Gauge. The plaintiff brought claims for negligenPlaintiff
sought the establishment of a medical monitoringttfund, cost of publication of approved guidedimad
procedures for medical monitoring of the clasgratys’ fees and expenses. Defendant Tube Methoddjled a
third-party complaint against Brush Wellman Incthat action on November 15, 2006. Tube Methodell that
Brush supplied beryllium-containing products to UG&wuge, and that Tube Methods worked on thoseuptsdbut
that Brush was liable to Tube Methods for indenwaifion and contribution. Brush filed its answethe amended
third-party complaint on October 19, 2007. On February??®8, Brush filed a motion for summary judgmessdx
on plaintiff's lack of any substantially increasgsk of CBD. On September 30, 2008, the court gratlhe motion
for summary judgment in favor of all of the defenttaand dismissed plaintiff's class action compladn
October 29, 2008, plaintiff filed a notice of appd&éade Court of Appeals granted a motion to staydppeal due to
the bankruptcy of one of the appellees, Millenniaetrochemicals. On July 29, 2009, after relief frpimankruptcy
stay, the Company and the other appellees fileid biief in the Court of Appeals. The Court heardl@argument o
January 11, 2010. On June 7, 2010, the Court afirthe trial court’s ruling.
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Subsequent Event:

From January 1, 2011 to March 8, 2011, the follgsnbsequent events took place. On January 26, 2011
Stipulation for Dismissal without Prejudice wafllin one case (involving one plaintiff), and tlse is now
dismissed. On February 7, 2011, in the sole remgioase (involving five plaintiffs), two spouseledi a Request f
Dismissal of their consortium claims.

Other Claims

One of our subsidiaries, Materion Advanced Materi@chnologies and Services Inc. (formerly known as
Williams Advanced Materials Inc.) (WAM herein), wagarty to patent litigation in the United Statesolving
Target Technology Company, LLC of Irvine, Califar(iTarget). The litigation involved patents directe
technology used in the production of DVD-9s, which high storage capacity DVDs, and other optieabrding
media. The patents at issue primarily concernethicesilver alloys used to make the semi-reflectayger in DVD-
9s, a thin metal film that is applied to a DVD-9dhgh a process known as sputtering. The raw nahigsed in the
sputtering process is called a target. Target efldgat WAM manufactured and sold infringing sputig targets to
DVD manufacturers.

In the first action, filed in April 2003 by WAM agest Target in the U.S. District Court, Westerntibét of
New York (caseno. 03-CV-0276A (SR)) (the NY Action), WAM had ask#he Court for a judgment declaring
certain Target patents invalid and/or unenforceahkawarding WAM damages. Target counterclaimiedjialg
infringement of those patents and seeking a judgfieernfringement, an injunction against furthafringement
and damages for past infringement. Following cengoceedings in which WAM was denied an injunction
prevent Target from suing and threatening to sueWé/Acustomers, Target filed an amended counterckicha
third-party complaint naming certain of WABItustomers and other entities as parties to the aad adding relat:
other patents to the NY Action. The action tempbravas stayed pending resolution of the ownerssspe in the
CA Action (defined below), as discussed more foljow. On January 26, 2009, the Court in the CAdkcorderet
that the case and remaining issues be transfeyrbe tCourt in the NY Action. As a result, the siiayhe NY Actior
was lifted, and the Court in the NY Action consalield the CA Action with the NY Action. With the pias having
resumed pre-trial proceedings, Target had move@thet to further amend its counts for infringemeninclude
only certain claims of six of the patents claimedé owned by Target. If granted, Target's couotsrifringement
of other claims in those patents and six otherrpgatelaimed to be owned by Target would have besroved from
the NY Action. WAM had opposed the motion to théeet Target sought dismissal without prejudicehef tounts
for infringement of the other claims and other p&geFollowing a Court hearing on Target’s motioratend its
pleadings and upon agreement of the parties, Taugber amended its counts for infringement tdude a total of
nine U.S. patents and withdrawing four other patelmt response to Target's amendment of its plegdiWAM
moved for (a) dismissal of Target’s counts for latkurisdiction on the basis that Target did naihahe patents,
(b) terminating sanctions on the basis of litigatinisconduct by Target, and (c) a stay of discopending a
decision by the Court on the first two WAM motioad, of which motions were pending. WAM continueddispute
Target’s claims of ownership of all of the pateatsl denied both validity and infringement of théepa claims.
Following a September 11, 2009 oral argument on Vi&Aotions, the Magistrate Judge reserved decisimth
pending the Court’s action on the motions effedyivetayed further discovery. On October 28, 2088, Magistrate
Judge recommended to the District Court Judgetiiga€ourt deny WAM'’s motion for dismissal of Targatounts
for lack of jurisdiction on the basis of WAM'’s chaithat Target did not own the patents. The Madistiadge
reasoned that, in view of the earlier reported Malver 2008 settlement agreement between the Sonyarias and
Target, any lack of jurisdiction was cured wheduy 2009, Target filed an amended answer. The $fiege Judge
further deferred until trial WAM’s motion for termating sanctions because of Target’s litigationcangluct, but
reopened discovery. Both WAM and Target objectetthéoMagistrate Judgereport, and their objections were tc
heard by the District Court Judge before rulinglomrecommendation. Notwithstanding the Magistiai#ge’s
recommendation, WAM continued to dispute Targetgénes of ownership of the patents remaining inAlegion,
and to deny both validity and infringement of ttetgmts. The Magistrate Judge by separate ordewihdhe
consent of the parties referred the case to a toed@ consideration under the Court’s alternagpdte resolution
plan.
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Target in September 2004 filed in the U.S. Dist@ourt, Central District of California (case
no. SAC04-1083 DOC (MLGX)), a separate action fidingement of one of the same patents named ilNthe
Action (the CA Action), naming as defendants WAMlarertain of WAMS customers who purchased certain W
sputtering targets. Target sought a judgment tilepatent was valid and infringed by the defendanpsermanent
injunction, a judgment on ownership of certain Engatents, damages adequate to compensate Tartjeet f
infringement, treble damages and attorneys’ fedscasts. In April 2007, Sony DADC U.S., Inc. amantger Sony
companies (Sony) had intervened in the CA Acti@ineing ownership of that patent and others of temts that
Target sought to enforce in the NY Action. Sony&@m was based on its prior employment of the gatand
Targets founder, Han H. Nee (Nee), and had included sadédrfor damages against both Target and Nee. WA
behalf of itself and its customers has a paid-cgnise from Sony under any rights that Sony hasdgset patents.
Although trial of the CA Action had been scheduledMarch 2009, in December 2008, a confidentitlement
agreement was reached between Target and Sonyllassva partial settlement agreement between Targe
WAM releasing WAM and its customers from infringemhef the one named patent. As a result, the issaes
subject to any settlement were (1) a remaining touwhich the Target parties had requested a judgrdeclaring
that Target was the owner of certain of the Tapgé¢nts and (2) WAM's request for sanctions agdiastjet.
Pursuant to various stipulations filed by the gartthe Court on January 6, 2009 ordered a dishvigtbaprejudice
of all of the respective intervention claims andmigrclaims between the Target parties and the Sompanies,
and a dismissal without prejudice of the countémtéaby WAM and its defendant customers, the exoedtieing th
remaining declaratory judgment count on patent oship. Following motions filed by the parties, @@eurt on
January 26, 2009 ordered that the case and rergagsunes be transferred to the Court in the NY @xcti

On April 1, 2010, WAM and Target entered into afidential settlement agreement, terminating thé@astas
between them, which includes a release of all ddimat each may have had against the other. O Zhr2010, th
District Court approved the consent motion to d&hthe actions between WAM and Target, and dectheed
consolidated cases (the CA Action and the NY Agtidosed.

Item 4. (REMOVED AND RESERVED)
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PART Il

ltem 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY , RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information and Dividends

The Company’s common shares are listed on the Nesk $tock Exchange under the symbol
“MTRN?” (formerly “BW”). As of February 21, 2011, #re were 1,375 shareholders of record. The tatidmtis a
summary of the range of market prices with respecommon shares during each quarter of fiscalsygat0 and
2009. We did not pay any dividends in 2010 or 2008.have no current intention to declare divideo®ur
common shares in the near term. Our current p@ity retain all funds and earnings for the usthéoperation an
expansion of our business.

Stock Price Range

Fiscal Quarters High Low
2010
First $22.98  $15.8(
Seconc 30.3¢ 18.7¢
Third 29.2: 18.2¢
Fourth 40.11 27.62
2009
First $17.27  $10.5(
Seconc 19.1¢ 12.41
Third 25.3¢ 14.11
Fourth 27.0¢ 17.11

Performance Graph

The following graph sets forth the cumulative shaider return on our common shares as comparédeeto t
cumulative total return of the S&P SmallCap 600ee@nd the Russell 2000 Index as Materion Corpmras a
component of these indices.

3300

o200 r’_/'d\ /
3
=] _ __m
~ ___,_._-—-"_' 3 "-"'-n.._\_\_\_\ /_—
3100 ____W_L
g0 ki i i i i
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| —— Materion Corporation F&F SmallCap 800 —a— Russell 2000 |
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Materion Corporatiol $10C $212z $23: $80 $117 $24:
S&P SmallCap 60 $10C $11& $11t $79 $ 99 $12¢
Russell 200( $10C $11€ $117 $77 $ 98 $124

The above graph assumes that the value of our constmares and each index was $100 on December @3, 20
and that all dividends, if paid, were reinvested.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries

(Thousands except per share amounts) 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
For the year
Net sales $1,302,31. $715,18¢ $909,71. $955,70¢ $763,05¢
Cost of sale: 1,079,66! 623,76 757,83t 759,03 600,88:
Gross margir 222,644 91,42: 151,87! 196,67: 162,17:
Operating profit (loss 73,63 (19,485 28,07: 84,46¢ 43,84(
Interest expens— net 2,66t 1,29¢ 1,99¢ 1,76(C 4,13¢
Income (loss) before income tax 70,96¢ (20,78¢) 26,07¢ 82,70 39,70¢
Income taxes (benefi 24,54 (8,429 7,71¢ 29,42( (9,899
Net income (loss 46,427 (12,359 18,357 53,28t 49,60:
Earnings per share of common stc

Basic 2.2¢ (0.62) 0.9C 2.62 2.52

Diluted 2.2¢ (0.67) 0.8¢ 2.5¢ 2.4¢F
Depreciation and amortizatic 35,93: 32,36¢ 34,20: 24,29¢ 25,141
Capital expenditure 42,31« 44,17: 35,51¢ 26,42¢ 15,52:
Mine development expenditur 11,34¢ 80¢ 421 7,121 —
Year-end position
Working capital 208,36! 140,48: 189,89¢ 216,25: 158,06
Ratio of current assets to current liabilit 24101 2.0to! 2.8to0! 29to! 2410
Property and equipmer

At cost 719,95: 665,36 635,26t 583,96: 557,86:

Cost less depreciation and impairm 265,86¢ 227,76¢ 207,25¢ 186,17! 175,92¢
Total asset 735,41( 621,95: 581,89° 550,55. 498,60t
Long-term liabilities 157,57: 131,63( 116,52: 69,14( 70,731
Long-term debr 38,30¢ 8,30¢ 10,60¢ 10,00¢ 20,28:
Shareholder equity 384,35 339,85¢ 347,09° 353,71« 291,00(

Weighted-average number of shares of stock
outstanding
Basic 20,28: 20,19: 20,33t 20,32( 19,66t
Diluted 20,59( 20,19: 20,54: 20,61: 20,23¢

Capital expenditures shown above include amourgstgmder government contracts for which reimbuesgs
were received from the government in the amoun®&2af9 million in 2010, $28.2 million in 2009, $&1llion in
2008 and $3.5 million in 2007.

Changes in deferred tax valuation allowances deertancome tax expense by $21.8 million in 2006.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF F INANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

We are an integrated producer of high performade@rced engineered materials used in a varietieofrecal,
electronic, thermal and structural applicationsr Pducts are sold into numerous markets, inciydonsumer
electronics, defense and science, industrial compisrand commercial aerospace, energy, automadéega@nics,
telecommunications infrastructure, medical and iapgk.

Sales of $1.3 billion in 2010 were 82% higher thates in 2009 and established a record high. Theade
from various key markets, after a steep fall-of2009 largely due to the global economic crisigrioved
significantly in 2010. Sales also improved in 2@K0a result of two acquisitions, higher metal @igaed product ar
market development efforts. Sales from each offaur reportable segments grew at double digit rete910 over
20009.

Gross margin of $222.6 million in 2010 was $131iliom higher than the gross margin generated i620 he
margin also improved to 17% of sales in 2010 fr@®olof sales last year. The margin improvement wagely due
to a combination of the higher sales volume (frodisteng operations and the acquisitions), operagifiigiencies
(partially due to higher production volumes), prodmix effects and other factors.

After reducing our manufacturing, selling and adsthative costs in 2009 due to the fall-off in salportions
of these costs increased in 2010 in order to supiperhigher level of business. The spending leicchot increase
proportionately with sales, however, which allowsdto leverage the sales growth to generate addltjgrofits. Thi
increase in selling, general and administrativeeasps in 2010 was mainly a result of the expemsesried by the
acquisitions and higher incentive compensationtdwir improved profitability.

Operating profit was $73.6 million in 2010, a sfigant turn around from the $19.5 million operationgs in
2009. Diluted earnings per share grew to $2.29it0Xrom a per share loss of $0.61 in 2009.

In the first quarter 2010, we acquired all of thiestanding capital stock of Academy Corporationgdemy)
for an adjusted purchase price of $21.0 milliosash. Academy’s precious and non-precious metalyats and
metal refining capabilities augment our existingdurct offerings as well as expand our reach intioua new
markets. The Academy acquisition closely followed purchase of all of the outstanding capital stocBarr
Associates, Inc. (Barr) in October 2009 for $55iftiom in cash.

Our working capital levels, after declining in 20@%creased in 2010 as a result of and in supgdheo
improved business levels. Cash flow from operatiotedled $31.0 million in 2010. This cash flow plrsincrease
of $21.6 million in debt during 2010 was used t@fice capital expenditures and the acquisitionaafdemy. As a
result of the higher debt levels, our debt-to-dabs-equity ratio increased to 18% as of year-edithZrom 16% as
of year-end 2009.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(Millions except per share amounts) 2010 2009 2008

Net sales $1,302.0 $715.2  $909.7
Operating profit (loss 73.€ (19.5) 28.1
Income (loss) before income tax 71.C (20.¢) 26.1
Net income (loss 46.4 (12.9) 18.4
Diluted earnings per sha 2.2t (0.67) 0.8¢

Salesof $1.3 billion were $587.1 million, or 82%, hightian sales of $715.2 million in 2009, while sates
2009 declined $194.5 million, or 21%, from the 2@@&s level of $909.7 million.

Demand from the majority of our key markets imprbue 2010 over 2009. Demand had fallen significamtl
2009 from the 2008 level largely as a result ofgldal economic crisis and the related impact@msamer
spending. Demand levels hit the near-term low pioitihe first quarter 2009 and then began improwingr the
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balance of 2009. The overall demand remained stitmmagighout 2010 as order entry levels exceedexs $aleach
quarter of 2010 and also established a recordfoigtine year.

Consumer electronicsis our largest market, accounting for 41% of sale2010. Sales to this market were
affected the most by the global economic crisi2d9 and showed the most improvement in 2010. Goasu
electronics sales grew in 2010 as a result of arease in consumer spending as well as the develuipof new
applications as our materials are used in thetlgeseration of smart phones and in a number @ratlireless and
hand-held devices. Sales of our materials for nesvgrowing LED applications also contributed to thigher sales
to the consumer electronics market in 2010.

Sales to thelefense and science market , which accounted for 12% of total sales in 20x@wgin 2010 over
2009 as a result of improvements in our existinfgiee business and the inclusion of a full yedBaf’s defense
business. Defense sales, after being solid initkehalf of 2009, softened in the second halfhattyear due to
program delays and push outs and finished 2009bikle 2008 level.

Sales to théndustrial components and commercial aerospace market , which were 11% of our total sales in
2010, also contributed to the growth in sales ih@®6ver 2009. Commercial aerospace sales, which st in
2009, improved in 2010 due to an increase in thig loate for aircraft utilizing our materials. Shignts of material
for heavy equipment and other industrial appliaagigrew in 2010 as well.

Automotive electronics sales in 2010 were approximately double the saled in 2009 as sales improved in
both the domestic and European markets in 201@rAotive electronics sales were approximately 5%usftotal
sales in 2010. Sales to this market had declineddatuble-digit rate in 2009 from 2008. Shipments Europe,
partially spurred by the lower value of the U.Sllalo helped offset a portion of the weakness athS. market in
20009.

Sales to thenergy market were over 6% of our total sales in 2010. We sehmety of products into this
expanding market and we have a number of growttfioplas. Our traditional oil and gas materials ciintred to the
growth in energy market sales in 2010 as did dalearchitectural glass applications through Acagewie also se
materials for new and developing solar energy, éedlland other energy-related applications.

Medical market sales were relatively unchanged in 2010 from 23G9 declining in 2009 from 2008. In 2010,
we temporarily lost sales to a key medical applicatustomer as a result of lower manufacturinddgieProcess
improvements have been implemented and shipmetie toustomer have resumed in early 2011. Otheiopsrof
our medical business improved in 2010, includingywindow assemblies and related materials. Saldse
medical market were 4% of total sales in 2010.

We believe that the demand level in certain marfatgurther in the first half of 2009 than thetaal decline ir
consumer spending levels as a result of excesstomelevels in the downstream supply chain. We &lslieve that
a portion of the sales improvement in the firsf bA2010 may have been due to a replenishmeritesfet
downstream inventory levels.

The acquisitions of Barr and Academy accountedl@8b of the sales growth in 2010 over 2009. A large
portion of Academy’s sales is a precious metal {lagsugh.

Sales are affected by metal prices as change®aiopis metal and a portion of the changes in batelmrices
primarily copper, are passed on to our customeetahprices have been quite volatile over thetlagte years, with
various metals reaching near-term or all-time réddoghs in 2010. The average copper price for 2049 higher
than 2009 while the average 2009 price was lowan the 2008 average price. Gold and other precimial prices
were higher on average in 2010 and 2009 than theefiate prior year. The change in metal pricesltesin an
estimated $103.0 million net increase in saleDib02over 2009 and an estimated $9.1 million deer@asales in
2009 from 2008.

Domestic sales in 2010 were slightly more than ¢othe 2009 level. Domestic sales had declined B200¢
from the 2008 level. Domestic sales include theomitgj of the sales from the two acquisitions aslaslthe
majority of the impact of the higher metal pricespthrough between periods. International sales, whrehinclude
in each of our reportable segments, improved 4820k0 over 2009 after declining 25% in 2009 frond&0
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We implemented various cost-saving initiatives bagig in the fourth quarter 2008 and throughouftfitst
nine months of 2009 in response to the weakenidgrantry rate at that time. These initiativesudeld a reduction
in work force, reduced wage and compensation leedilmination of overtime (and a reduction in resgulvork hour
in some cases), reduced discretionary spendinghenciincellation or deferral of various projectd anitiatives.
These efforts helped to offset the negative impéatte lower sales volume in 2009.

With the improved volumes in 2010, wage levels hawen restored and various resources, includingovaer
and services, have been added back as neededpirstie current and projected sales volumes. Hewdutal
manpower, excluding the two acquisitions, as ofyaal 2010 was still 9% lower than the third qua2@08
manpower level (which was just prior to when thebgll economic crisis began to significantly impagt business
The cost control programs remain in place as ctehgee been made to help improve our total casttstre.

We estimate that spending on certain operatingsdescluding materials) and other manufacturinglosad
and selling, general and administrative costs it02@hile higher than 2009, was still 7% lower tliaa 2008 level,
excluding the impact of the acquisitions, despiteinhcrease in sales volume.

Gross marginof $222.6 million in 2010 was $131.2 million hightan the gross margin of $91.4 million in
2009. Gross margin also improved from 13% of sgle09 to 17% of sales in 2010. In 2008, the groasgin wa:
$151.9 million, or 17% of sales.

We estimate that the incremental margin generaggtidohigher sales volumes, including the sales filwe twc
acquisitions, accounted for approximately 76% efghoss margin improvement in 2010 over 2009. Mactufing
efficiencies, in part due to the increased produnckevels, and cost control efforts also contributethe margin
growth in 2010. Factory labor, other direct mantifdog costs and manufacturing overhead costs didncrease
proportionately with the increase in sales in 200ge overall change in product mix was favorableveen 2010
and 2009 while pricing improvements were made inigas of our business. Yield losses and otherritwmegy
valuation adjustments at certain operations hathammegative impact on overall margins in 2010.

The lower sales volume in 2009 reduced marginsnbgsimated $69.5 million from 2008 and was thenpriy
cause for the overall decline in margins in 20@®rfr2008. Production levels were reduced in 200@ (duhe lowe
sales and a reduction in inventory), which resuiitedperating inefficiencies at various facilitidet negatively
affected margins. The change in product mix waswmfable in 2009 as compared to 2008 partiallytduewer
sales of higher margin generating beryllium-corntajrproducts in 2009. The 2009 gross margin was rduced
by the cost of a manufacturing quality return, ampled downtime on a key piece of equipment anchitove
valuation adjustments.

The cost-reduction efforts offset a portion of tiegative impact of the above items on gross mang?®09 as
operating and overhead manufacturing costs wererl@w2009 than in 2008.

The margin comparison between years was also affdnt lower of cost or market charges of differing
amounts each year as accounting regulations reiguieatory to be written down to its market val@ié is below its
cost. As a result of the falling prices for certdéms, primarily rutheniuncentaining materials, we recorded chau
of $0.4 million in 2010, $0.7 million in 2009, a®d 5.2 million in 2008.

In the first quarter 2009, we determined that tbmestic defined benefit pension plan was curtadleel to the
significant reduction in the workforce. As a reqfithe curtailment and the associated plan renteasnt, we
recorded a $1.1 million one-time benefit during fingt quarter 2009, $0.8 million of which was reded against
cost of sales and $0.3 million recorded againdingelgeneral and administrative expenses on thes@alated
Statement of Income and Loss. The all-in expenstisrplan, including the one-time benefit in 200@s
$5.8 million in 2010, $3.2 million in 2009 and $4r8llion in 2008. See “Critical Accounting Policielselow.

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expensesre $126.5 million (10% of sales) in 2010,
$89.8 million (13% of sales) in 2009 and $104.9ioml (11% of sales) in 2008. The majority of thes&3million
increase in SG&A expenses in 2010 over 2009 wagaaeombination of the expenses incurred by dugiigitions
and higher incentive compensation expenses. Sallat®d expenses and other
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costs had a minor impact on the increase. The lexeense in 2009 as compared to 2008 was mainlyodite
cost-reduction efforts in light of the sales deelass manpower levels and costs and discretionarydapy were cut
in 2009. Sales and distribution-related expenses Wosver in 2009 than in 2008 as well. With thendfigantly
improved sales volumes in 2010, a portion, butatipbf the previously reduced resources were addett to
support the current and projected growth in thertass.

Approximately 35% of the increase in SG&A experige2010 over 2009 was due to the expenses incbired
Barr and Academy subsequent to their acquisition.

The incentive compensation expense on plans dabigneay in cash was $15.2 million higher in 20l8rtin
2009 and $1.2 million lower in 2009 than in 200&eTchanges in the annual expense between yearswesed by
the performance of the individual businesses ragdat their plans’ objectives. In 2010, the majoaf our
operations exceeded their plans’ targets. Stockébasmpensation expense, including the expensstdok
appreciation rights, restricted stock and perforoearestricted shares, was $4.1 million in 20105 $3illion in 2009
and $2.6 million in 2008. The comparison of stoelsdéd compensation expense between years may beedfiey
changes in plan design, the number of grants imeng/ear, actual performance relative to the plabgectives,
movement in our stock price and other factors.

International SG&A expenses, excluding incentivenpensation (which is included in the above paragrap
were approximately 5% higher in 2010 than in 2099ortion of this increase is due to translatiote idifferences.
International expenses were 19% lower in 2009 th&9008 largely due to the costeuction efforts and a decline
sales-related expenses.

Severance and related costs associated with heatdemluctions totaled $1.1 million in 2010 and $&illion
in 2009.

Acquisition-related expenses for legal, accountind due diligence services associated with the &adr
Academy transactions totaled $0.7 million in 2088ditional fees totaling $0.1 million were incurreéd2010. As a
result of a change in accounting regulations efffectanuary 1, 2009, acquisition-related expensgest bre charged
against income as incurred. Previously, these esggwould have been capitalized as part of theafdbe
acquisitions.

Other corporate administrative expenses were high2010 than in 2009 partially as a result of ¢bet of
various initiatives that were designed to providleg-term benefits. Costs associated with changimgorporate
name, along with our subsidiaries’ nhames, totafgat@imately $0.9 million in 2010. Corporate expengvere
down $5.6 million in 2009 from 2008 in part duethe costreduction efforts and the related impact on comagoe
and benefits. Information technology costs were bdgver in 2009 than 2008 as were costs for varauiside
services.

Research and development (R&D) expenseze $7.1 million in 2010, $6.8 million in 2009 a#f.5 million ir
2008. R&D expenses were less than 1% of salescim @fsthe last three years. Despite the corporatie-aost-
reduction efforts in light of the lower sales voleiim 2009, we increased our R&D spending slightlyhiat year.
R&D efforts are focused on developing new prodacis applications as well as continuing improvementsur
existing products.

Thelitigation settlement gairof $1.1 million in 2008 represents the favorablglement of a lawsuit, net of
legal fees, in which we sought recovery of our tsgimder a previously signed indemnity agreement.

There were no litigation settlement gains in 200.Q@09.

Derivative ineffectivenesexpense was $0.6 million in 2010, $4.9 million B02 and $0.2 million in 2008. We
secured a copper derivative embedded in a delgaitdn in 2009 that served as an economic hedghanges in
the value of our copper inventories. However, thBvative did not qualify as a hedge for accounfimigposes and
changes in its fair value were recorded againgtnmeas ineffectiveness expense. The derivativeiwasgoss
position of $4.9 million as of year-end 2009 agsuit of an increase in the market price of cogireee the
derivative’s inception. Forward contracts were sedun 2010 to hedge against further unfavorabénghs in the
embedded derivative’s fair value. The $0.6 millafrexpense in 2010 was the net unfavorable changeeifair
value of these instruments in 2010. The embeddedadize and forward contracts matured during 2010.
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Derivative ineffectiveness expense of $0.2 millior2008 resulted from changes in the fair valuarofnterest
rate swap that did not qualify as a hedge for aeting purposes. This swap was terminated in thelticquarter
2008.

Other-net expenswas $14.8 million in 2010, $9.5 million in 2009 ati3.6 million in 2008. See Note O to
Consolidated Financial Statements for the detditi@major components of other-net expense fon ethe three
years. The major differencesother-net expense between the years include ttefiolg:

Amortization expense increased $2.4 million in 20%@r 2009 and $0.5 million in 2009 over 2008 priiya
due to the amortization of the intangible assetgimed with Barr and Academy. See Note E to thesdbdated
Financial Statements.

The metal consignment fee, after declining $1.2ionilin 2009 from 2008, increased $3.2 million B1® over
2009 as a result of higher metal prices, increasrahtities of metal on hand and the inclusion chdemy’s
requirements under the consignment lines in 20h@. 8xpense was lower in 2009 than in 2008 as weegtithe
guantity of metal on hand in response to the losedes and production requirements in that year.

The Barr purchase agreement included an earn-aturéethat would require us to make additional payt® to
the prior owners of Barr based upon Barr’s perforogaagainst identified benchmarks over the 202Di@8 period.
The present value of the earn-out was estimatée t%il.9 million at the time of the acquisition amas recorded in
other long-term liabilities on the Consolidated &ale Sheet as of December 31, 2009. No paymentegased to
be made for 2010 based upon Barr’s actual perfocmagiative to the benchmark for the year. We deitezd that
the fair value of this liability, based upon theremt facts and circumstances and updated projestghould be
reduced to $1.1 million as of December 31, 201@ $0.8 million benefit from the reduction in thaHility was
recorded as income in the fourth quarter 2010 goatance with accounting guidelines.

We donated our former headquarters building andsiseciated land to a non-profit organization, Whic
resulted in a write-off of the carrying value of.%@nillion to other-net expense in 2010. The m&joof this
unfavorable impact on income before income taxes afset by a favorable income tax adjustment.

Foreign currency exchange and translation losgaketh$0.8 million in 2010, $0.7 million in 2009can
$3.7 million in 2008. These losses result from moegats in the value of the U.S. dollar versus otlwerencies,
primarily the euro, yen and sterling, and the eslampact on certain foreign currency denominatedts, liabilities
and transactions and the maturity of foreign cwyemedge contracts.

Theoperating profitin 2010 was $73.6 million, a $93.1 million improvem over the $19.5 million operating
loss in 2009. This improvement was due to the highargin generated by the increased sales volutimesnpact ¢
the acquisitions and other factors offset in pgrab increase in incentive compensation, metaligangent fees,
amortization and other expenses. The operatingmo2809 was $47.6 million lower than the operatimgfit of
$28.1 million generated in 2008. This reduction wemarily a result of the lower gross margin daette decline i
sales and other factors along with the derivatnegfectiveness loss offset in part by the operating overhead
spending savings from the cost-reduction effodwgr foreign currency exchange and translatione®ssd other
items.

Interest expens¢otaled $2.7 million in 2010, $1.3 million in 20@@d $2.0 million in 2008. The average
outstanding debt levels were higher throughout 2628 2009 primarily as a result of the two acdigiss and the
increase in working capital. Capital lease balamee® higher in 2010 than 2009 as well. The impéthe higher
debt and capital lease levels on interest expeasepartially offset by a lower effective borrowirgge in 2010 than
in 2009. Average debt levels for the full year 20@&e lower than in 2008 and the average borrowabe was
slightly lower as well.

Theincome (loss) before income taxaad theincome tax expense (benefir each of the past three years
were as follows:

(Dollars in millions) 2010 2009 2008
Income (loss) before income tax $71.C $(20.¢) $26.1
Income tax expense (benel 24.F (8.9 7.7
Effective tax (benefit) rat 34.6% (40.6% 29.6%
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The effects of percentage depletion (a tax beneditilting from our mining operations), foreign ssaimcome
and deductions, the production deduction and atbers were major causes of the differences betweeerffective
and statutory rates in each of the three yearseffhet of executive compensation was also a chugbe
difference between the effective and statutorysrate?010 and 2008.

The tax expense in 2010 included $1.5 million far teduction of a deferred tax asset as a resthiedPatient
Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amendechbyHealth Care and Education Reconciliation AcgiBeing in
2013, we will no longer be able to claim an incaape deduction for prescription drug benefits preddo our
retirees and reimbursed under the Medicare Pagtitze drug subsidy program. While this tax inceedges not
take effect until 2013, accounting standards reqthat the carrying value of a deferred tax assetdpusted in the
period in which legislation changing the applicatale law is enacted.

The 2010 tax expense included the unfavorable itgfeer net $0.6 million increase in the tax reseriat was
recorded in accordance with accounting guideline2009, the tax benefit was increased by a nét 8lion
reduction in the tax reserves while in 2008 theetggense was affected by a net $1.3 million reduadti tax
reserves.

See Note Q to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentsreconciliation of the statutory and effeettax rates.

Net incomewas $46.4 million, or $2.25 per share diluted, @@ compared to a net loss of $12.4 million, or
$0.61 per share diluted, in 2009. In 2008, netimeavas $18.4 million, or $0.89 per share diluted.

Segment Disclosures

In the first quarter 2011, we announced the chafigeir name from Brush Engineered Materials Inc. to
Materion Corporation effective March 8, 2011. Ttaenes of all of our active subsidiaries are changsgell and
each subsidiary will have Materion as part of ésne. The legal and ownership structure of our slidrsés
remained unchanged.

This name change did not alter our senior managestercture or how the chief operating decision erak
evaluates the performance of our businesses. W@aerto have the same four reportable segmeniedsad
previously with no change in their make up or réipgrstructure, although the names of those segriente
changed. Advanced Material Technologies and Ses\ies been renamed as Advanced Material Technslogie
Specialty Engineered Alloys is now known as Perfomoe Alloys, Beryllium and Beryllium Composites Heeen
shortened to Beryllium and Composites, and Engatétaterial Systems has been changed to Techniadrils.

Results by segment are shown in Note M to the Qmfsded Financial Statements. The All Other column
Note M includes our parent company expenses, athriporate charges and the operating results of idat
Services Inc. (formerly BEM Services, Inc.), a whawned subsidiary that provides administrative éinancial
oversight services to our other businesses ontgpbas basis.

The All Other column shows an operating loss o83%8illion in 2010, $9.4 million in 2009 and $2.9llain in
2008. The loss was lower in 2010 than in 2009 as@ease in corporate spending and higher incentiv
compensation expense were more than offset byaaase in charges out to the business units ardiffeesnce in
derivative ineffectiveness between periods.

The increased loss in the All Other column in 268%ompared to 2008 was due primarily to the $4l&bm
derivative ineffectiveness expense recorded in 20@9%$1.1 million litigation settlement gain reded in 2008 and
differences in the level of costs charged to thieotnits offset in part by lower corporate spegdind other
factors.

Advanced Material Technologies

(Millions) 2010 2009 2008
Net sales $879.C $460.6 $480.:
Operating profit 39.t 22.¢ 10.¢
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Advanced Material Technologiemanufactures precious, non-precious and speciatalmroducts, including
vapor deposition targets, frame lid assembliesl alad precious metal preforms, high temperatureebnzaterials,
ultra-fine wire, advanced chemicals, optics, perfance coatings and microelectronic packages. Tpreskicts are
used in wireless, semiconductor, photonic, hybnid ather microelectronic applications within thexsamer
electronics and telecommunications infrastructuaekets. Other key markets for these products irchaddical,
defense and science, energy and industrial compen&dvanced Material Technologies also has métaining
operations and in-house refineries that allow lierieclaim of precious metals from internally gated or
customers’ scrap. This segment has domestic fasilih New York, Connecticut, Wisconsin, New Mexico
Massachusetts and California and internationalifi@si in Asia and Europe.

Sales from Advanced Material Technologies of $878illon in 2010 grew $418.2 million, or 91%, oveales
of $460.8 million in 2009. Sales in 2009 were 4%édo than sales of $480.3 million in 2008. The giowit2010
was due to a combination of improved market coodgj product development efforts, higher metalgsriand the
two acquisitions. The decline in sales in 2009 fr2008 was largely due to the impact of the glolcahemic
conditions, particularly for consumer electronipplécations in the first half of 2009, and lowetesafor defense,
medical and media applications offset in part lghlkr metal prices and other factors.

Revenues for fabrication and other related chafrgas the Buffalo, New York facility, this segmentargest
operation, grew 30% in 2010 over 2009. The Buffakility manufactures vapor deposition targetss,litire and
other precious metal products for various semicotafiand other microelectronic applications. The #gver for
this growth was improved demand from the consureat®nics market for materials for LED and wiralesd
other hand-held device applications. Demand frameioimarkets served, including defense and scigmee; as
well. Refining revenue, after declining in 2009rfr@008, also contributed to the growth in 2010.iftef revenue
is partially a function of the volume of preciousta products sold and the available quantity ofafia the market
to be reclaimed.

Sales of advanced chemicals, after declining iroZé@m 2008 due to the global economic crisis, iowed
approximately 34% in 2010 from 2009. A large partaf this growth was due to sales of materiald 6D
applications within the consumer electronics magsea result of the expanded use of LED technaodogyiel the
development of new applications. Advanced chemiaasalso used in the growing solar energy marketal as
for optics and security applications.

Sales of electronic packages, one of this segmemtaler product lines, grew 42% in 2010 over 26086 to
improved demand for telecommunications infrastrrecapplications in Asia. Sales of these produatsvgd% in
2009 over 2008. Due to a change in technologyemtlarket, we anticipate that sales of electronakages may
soften in 2011. Sales for data storage applicatiprisarily magnetic head materials, showed modesuth in the
first three quarters of 2010 over a sluggish 2@0@ softened in the fourth quarter 2010, partidilye to an inventor
correction in the market place.

The acquisitions of Academy and Barr accountedfgroximately 56% of the increase in the segmesatiss
in 2010 over 2009, while Barr’'s sales subsequeitstacquisition in the fourth quarter 2009 helpédet a portion
of the decline in total segment sales between 20@92008. The addition of Academy provided accesetv
markets and applications for us, including architead glass and jewelry, as well as additional jgnes metal
refining capabilities and capacity. Academy’s opierss in Albuquerque, New Mexico dovetail with axisting
Buffalo, New York operations and provide opportigstfor enhanced operational efficiencies.

Barr produces precision thin film optical filtersad in defense, medical, telecommunications anet otiarkets
The acquisition of Barr, coupled with our existimgerations, expands our precision optics produoet illowing us
to provide a broad array of optical filters acrasside band of wavelengths. The Barr facility fasadous
operational challenges that hampered sales inrgiehlf of 2010, including unsatisfactory on-timelivery
performance and other inefficiencies. However, psscchanges were made throughout the year andmparfoe
and operating results improved in the second Hali@year. The backlog for precision optics wad&lsentering
2011. New applications within the defense and s@anarket helped to drive improvements in salestl@adrder
backlog.
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Offsetting a portion of the growth in the abovedurots and markets was a decline in sales of |anege special
coatings to the medical market. Sales of theseymtsdmainly precision precious metal coated polyfitras, were
17% lower in 2010 than in 2009. Lower manufactugigjds and the inability to hold tolerances resdlin missed
sales to a key customer and the loss of a porfitimecbusiness to our competitor in 2010. New psses have been
developed and qualified with the customer and shipntevels began to ramp back up in the first qua?011. Sale
of polymer films to the medical market were softe2009 than a solid 2008 due to weaker demancdéret
factors.

Sales of other materials to the medical markemarily lids, were relatively unchanged throughdwe 2008 to
2010 time frame.

We adjust our selling prices daily to reflect therent cost of the precious and various non-precioatals
sold. While a change in the cost of the metal izegally a passhrough to the customer, we generate a margin ¢
fabrication efforts irrespective of the type of mlaised in a given application. On average, thdicgipge metal
prices were higher in 2010 and 2009 than the rdisjeggrior years. We estimate that the higher metiales
increased sales by $90.9 million in 2010 as conthtr€009 and $5.0 million in 2009 as comparedXos2

Total order entry for the segment exceeded salegppyoximately 4% in 2010.

Gross margins generated by Advanced Material Tdolyies totaled $113.3 million (13% of sales) in @01
$68.1 million (15% of sales) in 2009 and $59.6 imill(12% of sales) in 2008.

The main cause for the $45.2 million increase wsgmargin in 2010 over 2009 was the margin befrefit
the higher sales volume from the existing operatasmwell as from the two acquisitions. This matmgnefit was
partially offset by the incremental manufacturingedhead costs incurred by the two acquisitiondit@a
$11.4 million and the increased manufacturing ogadhcosts incurred by the existing operations d $lllion.

The 2010 margin was adversely affected by the lonedical market sales, which typically generatdbig
margins. Approximately 18% of Academy’s sales ii@®ere silver investment bars that generate @y |
margins. These negative mix effects were geneddlset by efficiencies and improvements in otheraar Gross
margin as a percent of sales declined in 2010 2669 largely due to the higher precious metal po&ss-through
in sales in 2010 and the addition of Academy’sssalich have a very high metal content.

Margins grew in 2009 on the reduced sales volumgelg due to lower of cost or market charges of
$0.7 million in 2009 compared to $15.2 million iGaB. This $14.5 million benefit between years wasially offse
by an estimated $8.0 million margin impact from kheer sales volume. Lower yields on polymer sfipducts an
various inventory valuation adjustments reducedgmnarby an estimated $1.1 million in 2009. The ajeaim
product mix was slightly unfavorable in 2009 laggdlie to lower medical and defense sales. Manufactu
overhead costs at the existing facilities were ceduin 2009, but these savings were partially otfgehe inclusion
of Barr beginning in the fourth quarter.

SG&A, R&D and other-ne¢xpenses from Advanced Material Technologies wgB8million (8% of sales) i
2010, $45.5 million (10% of sales) in 2009 and $448illion (10% of sales) in 2008.

Expenses incurred by Academy and Barr accountedpiproximately 56% of the increase in expense®id2
over 2009. The decline in expenses in 2009 wasfribe $1.9 million of SG&A expenses incurred byrBsince its
acquisition in the fourth quarter 2009.

Incentive compensation expense was $3.9 milliohdrign 2010 than 2009, due to the improved perforaan
2010, and $0.1 million higher in 2009 than 2008riMas sales-related expenses increased in 201{ppmst the
higher volumes. R&D costs increased in each ofaketwo years in order to support the currentitess and future
growth. Corporate charges increased $4.7 millio20h0 over 2009 after declining in 2009 from th@2@vel.

Expenses were reduced in 2009 mainly in responeettower sales volumes. Manpower levels and cuds
discretionary spending items were reduced at varadilities during the year.

Amortization of intangible assets increased $2.[Baniin 2010 over 2009 and $0.5 million in 200902008
largely due to the acquisitions of Academy and Barr
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Metal financing fees were $2.1 million higher inl20than in 2009 due to the additional quantity etahon
hand (due to the higher production requirementsfiaomd the inclusion of Academy’s requirements unither
consignment lines) and higher metal prices. Fiman&ees were $1.2 million lower in 2009 than in @@imarily
due to a reduction in the average quantity of matahand.

Operating profit from Advanced Material Technolag@ $39.5 million in 2010 was a $16.9 million
improvement over the operating profit of $22.6 raiilin 2009. This improvement was due to the mabginefit
from the higher sales volumes and other factorsedih part by higher expenses. The acquisitiontribwted to the
improved profit in this segment in 2010. The opaprofit in 2009 was more than double the profit
$10.8 million earned in 2008 as a result of thegimimprovement and lower expenses. Operating tonefs 4% of
sales in 2010, 5% of sales in 2009 and 2% of $al2808.

Performance Alloys

(Millions) 2010 2009 2008
Net sales $293.6 $172.F $299.¢
Operating profit (loss 27.2 (32.9 5.€

Performance Alloysnanufactures and sells three main product families:

Srip products, the larger of the product families, include thauge precision strip and thin diameter rod and
wire. These copper and nickel alloys provide a doation of high conductivity, high reliability arfdrmability for
use as connectors, contacts, switches, relayshaeldisg. Major markets for strip products incluctnsumer
electronics, telecommunications infrastructurepmdtive electronics, appliance and medical;

Bulk products are copper and nickel-based alloys manufacturgdbte, rod, bar, tube and other customized
forms that, depending upon the application, mayipmsuperior strength, corrosion or wear resigattermal
conductivity or lubricity. While the majority of liuproducts contain beryllium, a growing portiontaflk products’
sales is from non-beryllium-containing alloys agsult of product diversification efforts. Appligans for bulk
products include oil and gas drilling componenearngs, bushings, welding rods, plastic mold tapland
undersea telecommunications housing equipment; and

Beryllium hydroxide is produced at our milling operations in Utah froor bertrandite mine and purchased
beryl ore. The hydroxide is used primarily as a raaterial input for strip and bulk products andatiesser extent,
by the Beryllium and Composites segment. Exterakdssof hydroxide from the Utah operations wers than 4%
of Performance Alloys’ total sales in each of theee most recent years.

Strip and bulk products are manufactured at féaeslin Ohio and Pennsylvania and are distributed
internationally through a network of company-owsedvice centers and outside distributors and agents

Sales from Performance Alloys were $293.8 millinr2010, an improvement of $121.3 million, or 70%gio
sales of $172.5 million in 2009. This growth wa® da improved demand from key markets, higher npsat-
through prices and other price increases. Sal2e@® were $127.4 million, or 42%, lower than salks
$299.9 million in 2008 primarily due to the impadtthe global economic crisis on shipments of tsitip and bulk
products. Sales to all major markets declined abt#odigit rates in 2009 from the 2008 levels.

The order entry rate, after an extremely weak fiedf of 2009, improved in the second half of 2@0@l then
was quite strong during the majority of 2010. Timpioved demand for strip products fueled the grawttne order
entry rate in the first half of 2010 while the derddor bulk products was stronger in the seconfidfé2010. Total
order entry exceeded the sales level in 2010 by.11%

Sales of strip and bulk products grew in 2010 @@99 after declining in 2009 from 2008. The growtistrip
sales in 2010 was largely due to improved demaom the consumer electronics, appliance and autemoti
electronics markets. The growth in sales to thesaorer electronics market, Performance Alloys’ latgearket,
was fueled by the use of our materials in PDAs/dkest generations of smart phones and other halttdevices.
Automotive electronic sales were higher in 2018ales in 2009 were quite low, particularly in tirstfhalf of that
year. Appliance sales grew approximately 50% in®26der 2009, primarily in Europe. The demand foips
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products was stronger in the first half of 201tkize second half of the year due to seasonafitiess model
changeovers and the replenishment of downstreaemtowy positions.

The decline in strip sales in 2009 as compared@82vas mainly caused by the global economic caiststhe
impact on consumer spending. Demand levels froncéhsumer electronics and automotive electroniakets
declined severely, particularly in the first qua2809. Market conditions improved somewhat ingbeond half of
that year due to consumer electronic applicationssia and automotive and appliance applicatiorfsurope.

The growth in bulk product sales in 2010 over 20@% across multiple markets. Demand from the all gas
sector of the energy market improved throughouD2@artially as an aftermath of the gulf oil digash 2010 as
customers turned to our products due to their pigtiormance characteristics. Sales for oil andaggdications
weakened in 2009 from 2008 due to excess invenositions and because the price of oil was genelallow the
level that would spur significant exploration andguction increases. Commercial aerospace salesigr2010
over 2009 as a result of an increase in the batilel of aircraft that utilize our materials. Aerospaales in 2009 had
declined from the 2008 level due to ongoing defsro&new aircraft builds and decreased repairraathtenance
activities. Sales of materials for heavy equipnaend other applications within the industrial comgiots market,
including sales of non-beryllium containing allogéso contributed to the growth in bulk productsah 2010 over
20009.

Strip product volumes (i.e., pounds shipped) gré#5n 2010 over 2009 after declining 32% in 20Q9rir
2008. Bulk product volumes were 70% higher in 2€ih in 2009 while volumes in 2009 were 45% loviramt
2008. Total volumes rebounded in 2010 from thengsf in 2009 and were essentially on par with therwes
shipped in 2008.

Copper prices were higher on average in 2010 th&909 and the increased copper price pass-through
accounted for an estimated $12.1 million of thesagrowth in 2010. Lower copper prices reducedssal@009 by
an estimated $14.1 million from 2008.

As demand declined beginning in the fourth qua2@®8, Performance Alloys initiated various costuetbn
efforts that continued throughout 2009. By the ehd009, the employment levels within manufacturisgles and
administration had been reduced by approximately@bple from the September 2008 level. With the
improvement in demand in 2010 and the increasedugt®dn requirements and other business suppodsnéee
employment level increased during 2010. However yitar-end 2010 employment level was still lowantit was
as of the end of the third quarter 2008.

Performance Alloys generated a gross margin ofZsillion in 2010, an improvement of $65.2 millioner
the gross margin of $9.0 million in 2009. The grosrgin was $59.3 million in 2008. Gross margin \®&% of
sales in 2010 compared to 5% of sales in 2009 8f@ & sales in 2008.

The higher sales volume was the largest causeedfrthroved gross margin in 2010, accounting for an
estimated $31.2 million of the increase. Productiolumes were also higher in 2010 than in 2009 ctvhcombined
with other factors, led to improved manufacturififceencies and higher machine utilization rateactéry labor an
other direct manufacturing costs, while higher @@ than in 2009, did not increase proportionatatia the volume
increase, allowing us to leverage our productidaresf. Higher selling prices for bulk and strip guets also
contributed to the margin increase in 2010 overR2&9did a favorable change in the product mix. dacturing
overhead costs increased $2.7 million in 2010 @089 largely due to increases in maintenance applsexpense
offsetting a decline in utility expenses.

The depletion of a last-in, first-out (LIFO) laykom inventory resulted in a net benefit to grosegin of
$4.4 million in 2010. This benefit may not recuithés extent or at all in 2011.

The $50.3 million margin decline in 2009 was priityadue to the $127.4 million reduction in salesodRction
volumes were even lower than sales in 2009 as tovies were worked down throughout the year. Theelo
production volumes negatively affected margins essalt of increased manufacturing inefficiencied bower
machine utilization rates. In addition, unplannesvdtime on a key piece of equipment in the foudhrter 2009
reduced margins by an estimated $1.3 million. Tienge in product mix was unfavorable in 2009 as.wel
Manufacturing overhead spending, including manpaaver utilities, was lower in 2009 than 2008 angébédlto
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mitigate a portion of the negative impact the abitens had on margins. Pricing improvements impletee during
2009 also provided a small benefit to margins eythar.

Total SG&A, R&D and other-net expenses were $47llom in 2010, an increase of $5.7 million over
expenses of $41.3 million in 2009. The 2009 expemgae $12.2 million lower than expenses of $53lbam in
2008. Expenses were 16% of sales in 2010, 24%led 8282009 and 18% of sales in 2008.

The increased expense in 2010 on a dollar basisluaso higher incentive compensation (which resuftom
the significantly improved operating results), leglkommissions (due to the increased sales) ahaprporate
costs. These increases were offset in part by dewdine in all of the other expenses incurred bgfd?mance Alloy
as many of the cost-reduction efforts implementadnd 2009 remained in place throughout 2010. Gasings
were also obtained in 2010 as a result of the mipsf the distribution center operation in the @diKingdom in the
fourth quarter 2009. Sales to the United Kingdomraow shipped from our German operations or thrargh
independent distributor.

The lower expenses in 2009 as compared to 2008 levgyely due to the aforementioned cost-reductiforts
offset in part by severance costs. Sales-relatpdreses, including commissions and advertising, w&kse lower in
2009 than in 2008. Lower incentive compensationfangign currency exchanges losses contributeddaléecline
in expenses in 2009 as well.

Performance Alloys earned an operating profit 6f.82nillion in 2010, an improvement of $59.5 mitliover
the operating loss of $32.3 million in 2009. Thergase in profit was due to the margin generatetthéigher
sales, manufacturing improvements and improvedrgripartially offset by changes in expenses. Therajing loss
in 2009 was down $38.1 million from the operatimgfjt of $5.8 million earned in 2008 due to the imap of the
lower sales volumes and other factors partiallgetfby the cost saving efforts and other experdgctons.

Beryllium and Composites

(Millions) 2010 2009 2008
Net sales $61.¢  $47.C $63.€
Operating profit 10.C 2.1 8.4

Beryllium and Compositemanufactures beryllium-based metals and metal medmposites in rod, sheet, folil
and a variety of customized forms at the ElImorep@Ind Fremont, California facilities. These maksriare used in
applications that require high stiffness and/or tsmsity and they tend to be premium-priced dubeo unique
combination of properties. This segment also martufas beryllia ceramics produced at the Tucsoizofa
facility. Defense and science is the largest maideBeryllium and Composites, while other marksgsved include
industrial components and commercial aerospaceicalednergy and telecommunications infrastructBreducts
are also sold for acoustics and optical scannimpdjegiions.

Sales from Beryllium and Composites were $61.9iomilin 2010, an improvement of $14.9 million, 08382
over sales of $47.0 million in 2009. Sales in 20@9e 26% lower than sales of $63.6 million in 2008.

The majority of the sales improvement in 2010 ®@09 was due to growth in sales to the defensesciedce
market. Sales to this market, which accounted ¥er dalf of Beryllium and Composites sales in 201 declined
in the second half of 2009 as a result of projentiing delays and push outs at that time. The pyidafense
platforms for these products are aerospace andlensystem applications. Due to changes in govemmsgending
patterns, we anticipate that defense sales willdte¢o softer in 2011 than in 2010.

Sales to the industrial components and commereialspace market, the segment’s second largest thalse
grew in 2010 over 2009. A portion of this growthsague to the development of new applications f@eMet®, a
metal matrix composite, in semiconductor manufactuequipment.

Sales to the medical market improved in 2010 0@&92after declining significantly in 2009 from 2008
Shipments of x-ray window assemblies nearly doubiezD10 over 2009. A key driver for this growthtle
conversion to digital xay equipment, particularly in radiology and fluscopy systems. Shipments of beryllium
for x-ray applications also increased in 2010 &@&99. Our x-ray window assemblies and related nzdsesire used
in medical, scientific and industrial applications.
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Sales of ceramic products increased over 50% if 20&r 2009 after declining 42% in 2009 from 200Be
growth in 2010 was largely due to increased shigmfam applications within the telecommunicationgastructure
market. The decline in sales in 2009 was largely tduthe global economic crisis and its impactartipular on a
key ceramic products customer’s business.

Sales of beryllium speaker domes for acoustic diegrh assemblies grew slightly in 2010 over 2009 but
remained relatively minor. This niche applicatioesgents potential growth opportunities for our miats.

The gross margin on Beryllium and Composites’ selas $21.5 million (35% of sales) in 2010, $11.1lion
(24% of sales) in 2009 and $19.6 million (31% déspin 2008.

The gross margin improved by an estimated $7.9anilh 2010 over 2009 as a result of the highezsal
volume. The change in product mix was favorabl2dh0 as compared to 2009 while manufacturing oaettoests
were also lower in 2010 than in 2009 as we were @bleverage the existing cost base. The differéménput
materials, use of vendor scrap and reclamationtsffivovided an estimated $0.3 million net benaf2010. These
margin benefits were partially offset by lower méauturing yields on welded products that reducedgmna by an
estimated $1.2 million in 2010. Process improvemevrdre implemented and yields on these productsoivegl in
the second half of 2010.

The main cause of the decline in the gross manglilard and rate in 2009 was the significant faflinfsales in
that year. The margin impact of the lower volumes \partially mitigated by a reduction in direct amvérhead
manufacturing costs, including manpower, suppliesb @tility costs. Material input costs increase@@®9 over
2008 and had a negative impact on margins. Thegehanproduct mix was slightly unfavorable in 2009.

SG&A, R&D and other-net expenses were $11.5 mil({p®% of sales) in 2010, $9.0 million (19% of salies
2009 and $11.2 million (18% of sales) in 2008. Tien driver for the increased expense level in 2046 higher
incentive compensation, due to the improved priilityt, and higher corporate charges. Various sales marketin
support expenses, including commissions and tralsd,increased in 2010 over 2009. The lower exp&n2009
was due to the cost-reduction initiatives and reduaocentive compensation. These benefits weréapprvffset by
an increase in R&D expenses.

Beryllium and Composites generated an operatinfitmi$10.0 million in 2010, an improvement of
$7.9 million over the operating profit of $2.1 ol generated in 2009. This improvement was dubdanargin
benefit from the higher sales and other factorsetfin part by an increase in expenses. Operatofg jn 2009
declined $6.3 million from the $8.4 million earn@d2008, primarily as a result of the lower salekimne. Operatin
profit was 16% of sales in 2010, 5% of sales in®8A0d 13% of sales in 2008.

Technical Materials

(Millions) 2010 2009 2008
Net sales $67.8  $34.7 $65.¢
Operating profit (loss 5.2 (2.5 5.¢

Technical Materialsmanufactures clad inlay and overlay metals, precand base metal electroplated syst:
electron beam welded systems, contour profilecesystand soldectoated metal systems. These specialty strip 1
products provide a variety of thermal, electricahechanical properties from a surface area oiquéat section of
the material. Our cladding and plating capabiliaéew for a precious metal or brazing alloy todpplied to a base
metal only where it is needed, reducing the mdteast to the customer as well as providing defligiibility.

Major applications for these products include canaies, contacts and semiconductors while the lameskets are
automotive electronics and consumer electronice.dédfense and science, energy and medical mareessraller
but offer further growth opportunities. Technicahidrials’ products are manufactured at the LincBlmpde Island
facility.

Sales from Technical Materials of $67.5 millior2®10 were nearly double the sales of $34.7 millioR009
while sales in 2009 were 47% lower than sales &f%illion in 2008. Sales of all major productdinwere higher
in 2010 than in 2009 and total volumes shippedeased approximately 74% in 2010 over 2009.
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The sales growth in 2010 over 2009 was due to irgatalemand from each of the key markets serveceis w
as the continued product development efforts. Ti@fecant decline in sales in 2009 was due toithpact of the
global economic crisis on demand beginning in theth quarter 2008 and continuing into 2009. Saléer
reaching their near-term low point in the first gea2009, improved sequentially in each quarte2Gif9. Sales in
the first half of 2010 were higher than sales i skecond half of 2010 partially due to the replemient of
downstream inventories in the first half of the iy&atal order entry exceeded sales by approximdi@ds in 2010.

Automotive electronic sales in 2010 were more tivdne the sales level from 2009 as both domestit an
foreign shipments improved. Sales to this marketided significantly in 2009, particularly in the &

Sales to the consumer electronics market grew appately 80% in 2010 over 2009. A portion of thegth
in 2010 was attributable to a 64% improvement Iessaf disk drive arm materials. After growing irtsizable
portion of this segment’s sales in 2008, salessK drive arm materials declined sharply in thetfguarter 2009
and, while shipment levels recovered somewhat theebalance of the year, sales in 2009 were &b dower in
2009 than in 2008.

Sales to the medical and energy markets, whiléivelg minor, also contributed to the sales growt2010
over 2009.

Technical Materials generated a gross margin ofpadllion in 2010, $3.5 million in 2009 and $13r5llion
in 2008. Gross margin improved to 22% of salesOh®after falling to 10% of sales in 2009 from 2d#sales in
2008.

The $11.0 million increase in gross margin in 20¥6r 2009 was largely due to the $32.8 million ¢fitow
sales while the associated higher production voluh@#ped generate improved manufacturing efficeneas well.
Factory labor and other direct manufacturing cestee added back in 2010 only as needed to megtduiction
schedule. Manufacturing overhead costs were $dI®mhigher in 2010 than in 2009.

The lower margin dollars and rate in 2009 were tdute severe decline in sales during the year.chlaage in
product mix was also unfavorable in 2009. In resgatio the lower sales, labor and other direct neartufing costs
were reduced approximately 26% in 2009 from the82@0el. Production schedules were revised to aftow
manufacturing to be campaigned on various equiptirezg in order to offset a portion of the inefénties created
by the low production volumes. Manufacturing overtheosts, including manpower, maintenance andiesjiwere
also reduced by $1.6 million in 2009 from the 208&:I.

While employment levels increased during 2010 tet@ employment within Technical Materials was 10%
lower at year-end 2010 than it was as of the thurarter 2008.

SG&A, R&D and other-net expenses were $9.2 millim2010 compared to $6.0 million in 2009 and
$7.6 million in 2008. Higher selling and marketiomsts, including manpower, commissions and traxpépses,
were the main cause of the increase in 2010 ov@®.2@centive compensation costs and corporateggeBaxere
$1.0 million higher in 2010 than in 2009. Other-egpenses, including the metal consignment feeomer
miscellaneous items, contributed to the higher egpéevel in 2010 as well. The lower expense lev2D09 as
compared to 2008 was due to the spending reduciimptemented in reaction to the decline in sades lower
incentive compensation and corporate charges.

Technical Materials generated an operating préft5o3 million (8% of sales) in 2010 versus an apieg loss
of $2.5 million in 2009. In 2008, this segment emran operating profit of $5.9 million.
International Sales and Operations

We operate in worldwide markets and our internati@ustomer base continues to expand geographitady
to the development of various foreign nations’ erares and the relocation of U.S. businesses overSaa
international operations are designed to providest-effective method of capturing the growing eeas demand
for our products.

In Asia, we have strategically located our fa@htin Japan, Singapore, China, Korea, Taiwan and th
Philippines. Our European facilities are in Germahg United Kingdom, Ireland and the Czech Repuflhese
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operations provide a combination of light manufacoty, finishing operations, local sales support distribution
services. We also augment our sales and distribefiforts with an established network of independkstributors
and agents throughout the world. Approximately 16f%ur workforce is based overseas.

The following chart summarizes total internatiogales by region for the last three years:

(Dollars in millions) 2010 2009 2008

Asia $216.2  $163.¢ $197.F
Europe 127.5 73.5 115.:
Rest of world 25.Z 11.€ 20.€
Total $369.1 $249.. $333.¢
Percent of total sale 28% 35% 37%

International sales include sales from internatiop&rations and direct exports from our U.S. opiens. The
international sales in the above chart are includede individual segment sales previously disedss

Total international sales grew $119.9 million irl@Gver 2009 as demand improved from the majofityuo
key markets and from all regions. Sales to Asiagiased 32% while European sales improved 73%.

The lower international sales in 2009 were prinyatile to the global economic crisis and the rasyltall-off
in demand, particularly from the consumer elecesmharket. Sales to Asia declined 17% in 2009 filoen2008
levels while sales to Europe fell 36%.

Consumer electronics, automotive electronics, appk (primarily in Europe) and telecommunications
infrastructure are the larger international marketsour products. Our market share is smallehadverseas
markets than it is domestically and, given the mamronomic growth potential for the internationadbeomies,
including the continued transfer of U.S. businessuerseas locations, the international markets feia in
particular, may present greater long-term growthavfunities.

Sales from the European and certain Asian opeation denominated in the local currency. Expodasfthe
U.S. and the balance of the sales from the Asiamatipns are typically denominated in U.S. dollaxscal
competition generally limits our ability to adjuslling prices upwards to compensate for short-temfavorable
exchange rate movements.

We have a hedge program with the objective of mizimg the impact of fluctuating currency valuesaur
consolidated operating profit. See “Critical Accting Policies” below.

Legal Proceedings

One of our subsidiaries, Materion Brush Inc. (forim&rush Wellman Inc.), is a defendant in procegdiin
various state and federal courts brought by pl&ngilleging that they have contracted chronic biemy disease or
other lung conditions as a result of exposure tgltaem. Plaintiffs in beryllium cases seek recoyemder
negligence and various other legal theories ankl sempensatory and punitive damages, in many cisas
unspecified sum. Spouses, if any, claim loss osodium.

The following table summarizes the associated #gtivith beryllium cases.

December 31
2010 2009 2008

Total cases pendir 2 4 9
Total plaintiffs (including spouse 6 8 36
Number of claims (plaintiffs) filed during perioti@éed 1(2) 02 1(6)
Number of claims (plaintiffs) settled during perieddec 2(2) 3(1¢€) 0(0)
Aggregate cost of settlements during period endedafs in thousands $ 20 $8C $ —
Number of claims (plaintiffs) otherwise dismiss 1(1) 2(19 1(2)

Settlement payment and dismissal for a single o&genot occur in the same period.
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Additional beryllium claims may arise. Managemeelidves that we have substantial defenses in tteeses
and intends to contest the suits vigorously. Emgédogases, in which plaintiffs have a high burdeprobf, have
historically involved relatively small losses ta O$ird-party plaintiffs (typically employees of stomers or
contractors) face a lower burden of proof than mipleyees or former employees, but these casesaeraly
covered by varying levels of insurance.

Although it is not possible to predict the outcoofi¢he litigation pending against our subsidiaaes us, we
provide for costs related to these matters whessik probable and the amount is reasonably dstmatigation
is subject to many uncertainties, and it is possibat some of these actions could be decided ardhly in
amounts exceeding our reserves. An unfavorableomeor settlement of a pending beryllium case ditexhal
adverse media coverage could encourage the commentef additional similar litigation. We are unaibb
estimate our potential exposure to unasserted slaim

Based upon currently known facts and assuming ctdiéity of insurance, we do not believe that resion of
the current and future beryllium proceedings wél/ a material adverse effect on our financial @¢ador cash
flow. However, our results of operations could batenially affected by unfavorable results in onemare of these
cases.

The balances recorded on the Consolidated BalameetSassociated with beryllium litigation werda®ows:

December 31,

(Millions) 2010 2009

Asset (liability)

Reserve for litigatiol $(0.4) $(0.€)
Insurance recoverab 0.1 0.3

The settlement payments of $20,000 made in 2018 netrreimbursed by insurance since our total aable
costs were less than the annual deductible. THEDion payment to settle three cases in 2009 futhys insured.

Regulatory Matters. Standards for exposure to beryllium are undeiereby the United States Occupational
Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) and by othevernmental and private standard-setting orgaioias.
One result of these reviews will likely be morargjent worker safety standards. Some organizatind) as the
California Occupational Health and Safety Admirdtitn and the American Conference of Governmentuistrial
Hygienists, have adopted standards that are manget than the current standards of OSHA. Thelbgment,
proposal or adoption of more stringent standardg aff@ct the buying decisions by the users of bienyl-
containing products. If the standards are made sibirgent and/oour customers or other downstream users dt
to reduce their use of beryllium-containing produciur results of operations, liquidity and finai@ondition could
be materially adversely affected. The impact of ffotential adverse effect would depend on thereand extent
the changes to the standards, the cost and abilityeet the new standards, the extent of any reguict customer
use and other factors. The magnitude of this pateadverse effect cannot be estimated.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Net cash provided from operationgas $31.0 million in 2010 as net income and thea$f of depreciation,
deferred taxes and other items more than offse¢@ses in working capital, primarily accounts reable and
inventory. The majority of the working capital baiih 2010 occurred in the first half of the yeaisates levels
ramped up from the low levels in 2009 and resultethsh being used in operations of $20.7 millibime growth in
working capital levels began to level off in thesed half of 2010, which, coupled with a furthecrigase in
profitability, resulted in net cash provided fromenations of $51.7 million in the second half of trear.

In 2009, we generated cash flow from operatior®4df.6 million as reductions in accounts receivaile
inventory, the effects of depreciation and othemis more than offset the net loss for the yearh @asvided from
operations was a strong $76.9 million in 2008 duthé net income, effects of depreciation and again in
working capital.
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As previously noted, changes in the cost of precamd base metals are essentially passed on tonoerst
Therefore, while sudden movements in the price efiats can cause a temporary imbalance in our ezsipts and
payments in either direction, once prices stabitizecash flow tends to stabilize as well.

Working Capital

Cashtotaled $16.1 million as of year-end 2010 compaoehil2.3 million at year-end 2009 as the cash flow
from operations, the increase in debt and proctredsthe exercise of stock options exceeded thetoascquire
Academy and the capital expenditure funding requénets in 2010. The cash balance declined $6.2omitluring
2009 as a portion of the cash on hand, increadetdathel the cash flow from operations were usedol the
acquisition of Barr and capital expenditures du209.

Accounts receivabl¢otaled $139.4 million as of December 31, 2010narease of $55.4 million, or 66%, o\
the accounts receivable balance of $84.0 millioDetember 31, 2009. The main driver for the inadagceivable
balance was the higher level of sales. Sales ifotlneh quarter 2010 were $140.8 million, or 65%gHer than sales
in the fourth quarter 2009. The days sales outstgnd measure of how quickly receivables are ctélg, slowed b
less than one day and had a minor impact on threase in receivables in 2010.

The expense for accounts written off to bad debtscnanges in the allowance for doubtful accoumktéle
slightly higher in 2010 than 2009, remained mino$@&3 million for the year. We have procedureplacte to
closely monitor our accounts receivable aging aniwitow-up on past due accounts. We evaluate tbdicposition
of new customers in advance of the initial sale wadevaluate our existing customers’ credit posgion an
ongoing basis. We will revise credit terms offete@ur customers as conditions warrant in ordenitimize our
exposures. Credit terms may vary by country baged lbcal customary practice and competition. By for
precious metals tend to have tighter payment téhians billings for other products. Advance billirg® used from
time to time to help reduce credit exposures aegdpp the collection of cash.

The accounts receivable balance as of Decemb&088, was $3.9 million, or 4%, lower than the reabie
balance of $87.9 million at December 31, 2008. fueivable balance declined despite sales in tineHfquarter
2009 being higher than sales in the fourth qua®®8 due to an improvement in the collection period

Other receivablesvere a balance of $4.0 million as of December 8102compared to $11.1 million as of
December 31, 2009. The majority of the amountsalumth year ends were for reimbursement for eqeigm
purchased under a government contract. Thesedslhne typically paid by the government on a curbasis. The
other receivable balance at year-end 2009 alsaded a $0.9 million advance of a legal settlementvhich we
were reimbursed in full by our insurance providethe first quarter 2010.

Inventoriestotaled $154.5 million as of year-end 2010 compa&oehtl 30.1 million as of year-end 2009. While
inventories increased $24.4 million, or 19%, dur2®j 0, largely due to the significantly higher leg&business,
inventory turns, a measure of how efficiently inigw is utilized, improved as of year-end 2010 aspared to
yearend 2009.

Inventories within Performance Alloys accountedtfa majority of the increase in total inventories.entory
pounds on hand were 33% higher at year-end 20X0ahgear-end 2009 while pounds shipped increa%éd 6
yearover-year with feedstocks and work in process grgwnore than finished goods.

Despite the high level of sales growth in Advanbtaterial Technologies in 2010 over 2009, inventwoely
increased approximately 8% as a large portionigfdsagment’s metal requirements are maintainedeamaigned
basis. The acquisition of Academy added only $0lBom to the year-end 2010 inventory balance.

Technical Materials’ inventory increased approxieiaB2% in order to support the increased busiteagds in
2010. Inventories within Beryllium and Compositésoancreased to support the higher sales volunitstiae
majority of this increase occurring in the secoatf bf 2010 due to the timing of purchases of inmaterials.

Inventories declined $26.6 million, or 17%, in 200®entory turns improved as of year-end 2009caspared
to year-end 2008. This improvement occurred prilpamithe second half of the year as inventory poss were
held fairly constant while sales increased. Theonitgj of the inventory reduction in 2009 was withire
Performance Alloys segment as inventory was adjlust¢he lower business levels. Their total poundaventory
were down 24% from 2008 year end, with the finisgedds inventories being reduced further than ratenals
and work-in-process due in part to mild changedistribution channels. Inventories within Technical
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Materials declined over the course of 2009, butestizto climb in the fourth quarter in responséh®improved
order entry at that time and their 2009 year endritory was down approximately 10% from year-end80

Inventories as of year-end 2009 within Advancedéviat Technologies were essentially unchanged tfem
prior year end as various reductions from the edacilities were offset by the inventory acquaineith Barr.
Beryllium and Composites’ inventory was also refelty unchanged in 2009.

Raw material prices increased dramatically in 201@ impact of changing prices on our inventoryueak
minimized by the use of the last-in, first-out @egtmethod, which results in the current cost beingrged to the
income statement and the older costs being usealtie the inventory on hand. See “Critical AccongtPolicies”
below. In addition, a portion of our metal requiksmts are maintained under off-balance sheet comsigh
arrangements. The metal is not purchased out afigoment until it is being shipped to the customer.

Intangible asset®f $36.8 million as of year-en2D10 were $2.2 million lower than the $39.0 millioalance &
of year-end 2009. Intangible assets increasedlion during 2009. We acquired intangible asgetaling
$4.7 million during 2010, including $3.2 million gaired with Academy, and $12.5 million in 2009 gely due to
the purchase of Barr. Amortization expense was 86liéon in 2010 and $4.5 million in 2009. See N&éo the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Accrued salaries and wagegere $34.0 million at the end of 2010 compared16.$ million at the end of
2009. The 2009 balance was $6.3 million lower ttignbalance as of yeand 2008. The differences in the balar
between years were due to changes in the incetpivgpensation accruals, manpower levels, includiegrpact o
the two acquisitions, and other related factors.

Other Long-term Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities were $17.9 million akyear-end 2010 versus $9.6 million as of year-20@9. The
predominate cause for this increase was the rewpiithe long-term portion of a 160-month, $10ifliom capital
lease for the building associated with the new llieng facility being constructed at the ElImore paite. This
increase was partially offset by a $0.8 millionuetion in the estimated fair value of the earni@lility for the
potential payments to be made to the sellers of. Bar

Other longterm liabilities increased $1.7 million in 2009¢daly due to liabilities totaling $2.8 million assed
with the purchase of Barr, including the earn-amij other minor changes net of a $1.3 million aecin the legal
reserve that resulted from a settlement and ottemges to the outstanding cases.

Retirement and Post-employment Benefits

The long-term retirement and post-employment bépéfigation of $82.5 million at December 31, 2048s
relatively unchanged from the balance of $82.4iamlat December 31, 2009.

Included within these balances is the recordedlitialior the domestic defined benefit pension pt#n
$44.1 million as of year-end 2010 and $44.2 mill&snof yearend 2009. This plan, which covers the majority wf
domestic employees, had a projected benefit ofdigatf $171.2 million at year-end 2010 and $149ilion as of
yea-end 2009. The main causes for the increase inlihigation were the current year expense and detuasses
offset in other comprehensive income (OCI), a congmb of shareholders’ equity. These actuarial lpssere
primarily due to a reduction in the discount rageaDecember 31, 2010. The market value of the atsets was
$127.1 million at year-end 2010, an increase of42iillion for the year as a result of investmesutréngs of
$14.9 million and contributions of $13.5 milliorskebenefit payments and expenses of $7.0 million.

A portion of our domestic retirees and current esppés are eligible to participate in a retiree maldbenefit
plan. The liability for this unfunded plan was $8illion as of December 31, 2010 and $30.9 milksnof
December 31, 2009. The plan expense was $2.0 mii@010 and $2.2 million in 2009.

Our subsidiary in Germany has an unfunded retirémplam for its employees while our subsidiary ingkamd
has a funded retirement plan.

See Note | to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentadditional details on our retirement obligato
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Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation, amortization and depletion was $38&ildon in 2010, $31.9 million in 2009 and $33.8lloin in
2008. The majority of the increase in 2010 over2@@s due to the acquisitions of Barr and Acadenuythe
additional depreciation and amortization on theesacquired. The decline in 2009 from 2008 wastdweduced
mine amortization at our Utah operations.

Capital Expenditures
A summary of capital expenditures over the 200800 timeframe is as follows:

(Millions) 2010 2009 2008
Capital expenditure $42.4 $44.z $35:F
Mine developmen 11.2 0.8 0.4
Subtotal 53.7 45.C 35.¢
Reimbursement for spending under government car 21.€ 28.2 8.C
Net spending $31.& $16.6 $27.C

We have a contract with the U.S. Department of Befg(DoD) for the design and development of a new
facility for the production of primary beryllium.hE total cost of the project is estimated to ba@agamately
$93.6 million; we will contribute land, buildingeesearch and development, technology and ongoietatipns
valued at approximately $23.2 million to the proj&the DoD will reimburse us for the balance of gneject cost.
Reimbursements from the DoD are recorded as ungé@mneme on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Tive ne
facility is being constructed on our Elmore plait¢.sConstruction of the building was complete@@10 while the
equipment was nearing completion by year end. Wieipate that the equipment will be placed in sesvin the firs
half of 2011. The $42.4 million of capital expendés in 2010 included $28.0 million of spendingtlois project.
Since 2000, all of our metallic beryllium requiremt®have been supplied from materials purchased fhe
National Defense Stockpile and international vead8uccessful completion of this project will alléov the
creation of the only domestic facility capable obgucing primary beryllium.

Advanced Material Technologies’ capital spendirtglerl $5.2 million in 2010, a slight increase ospending
of $4.5 million in 2009. Spending by this unit tet $7.9 million in 2008. Spending in 2010 includediean room
and other equipment upgrades in Buffalo, new eqaiftrat both Barr and Academy and other small ptejec
throughout the organization.

Capital spending by Performance Alloys was $17 lianiin 2010 versus $3.8 million in 2009 and $&énillion
in 2008. These totals include mine developmentsook$11.3 million in 2010, $0.8 million in 2009&&0.4 million
in 2008. The new pit was completed in 2010 and agab extracting ore from this pit in the fourth qea2010. Th
majority of the segment’s remaining capital spegdin2010 was on discrete pieces of equipment ustte
manufacture of strip and bulk products as wellthgmwoinfra-structure projects at EImore. Spendng009 was
reduced from the 2008 level due to the large opeyddss in 2009.

In addition to the new beryllium plant, capital sdang within the Beryllium and Composites segmeantided
spending for a new milling center and inspectioit in2010.

Capital projects within Technical Materials in 20h8luded a new clad brushing machine, a cleanimggdnd
upgrades to various furnaces and other equipmeethding within this segment was limited to higtierity items ir
2009 due to the decline in profitability.

We also continued work on software upgrades andeimgntations at various facilities throughout 2010.

Capacity expansion projects, primarily the new biemy facility, accounted for approximately 55% thie
capital spending in 2010. Approximately 22% of #40 spending was for maintenance capital projgbhtee mine
development costs were 21% of the total spendiegv dchnology projects accounted for the balandbeotapital
spending in 2010.
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Acquisitions

In addition to the above capital expenditures, eguaed the following businesses in the 2008 to(2irhe
frame:

Acquired
(Millions) Year Cost Goodwill
Academy Corporatio 201C $21C $ 54
Barr Associates, Inc 200¢ 55.2 31.7
Techn-Met, Inc. 200¢ 86.5 13.¢€

The Academy acquisition cost is shown net of $1illilan we received back from the sellers in 2010
subsequent to the purchase as a result of theutesobf valuation adjustments in accordance with purchase
agreement. The Techni-Met acquisition cost is shoatrof $1.4 million we received back from escromihie first
quarter 2009 as the final purchase price adjustuneaér the terms of that agreement. Each of these t
acquisitions was financed with a combination ofcas hand and borrowings under the revolving craglieement.
The value of the assigned goodwill from each tratisa was determined with the assistance of indégen
valuation experts. See Note B to the Consolidatedrfeial Statements.

Debt

Total outstanding debt of $86.1 million at DecemB&r 2010 was an increase of $21.6 million over the
$64.5 million outstanding as of December 31, 2008 majority of this increase occurred in the fgsarter 2010
a result of funding a portion of the acquisitionfAmfademy and an increase in working capital. Stert debt,
which included U.S. dollar, metal and foreign caog denominated borrowings, totaled $47.8 millidmileslong-
term debt totaled $38.3 million as of year-end 2010

Total debt increased $22.7 million during 2009.eAfleclining $2.8 million over the first three gigas of 200¢
as a result of the cash flow from operations, detreased $25.5 million in the fourth quarter 2@98rder to
partially fund the acquisition of Barr.

We have a $240.0 million revolving credit agreentbat matures in the fourth quarter 2012. It imamitted
facility and is comprised of sub-facilities for i@ving loans, swing line loans, letters of creditdoreign currency
denominated borrowings. The agreement is subjexinbaximum availability calculation. We were in qadiance
with all of our debt covenants as of December 81,02

Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ equity of $384.4 million as of yead@010 was $44.5 million higher than the balarfce o
$339.9 million as of year-end 2009. Equity decli$&d2 million in 2009. Comprehensive income, whiatiudes
net income (loss), changes in derivative fair valaed the adjustment to the pension and othergropteyment
benefit liability that are charged directly to eiguand the change in the cumulative translationstdjent, was
$41.5 million in 2010. In 2009, we recorded a coe@nsive loss of $11.2 million.

We received $2.6 million from the exercise of apgmately 154,000 options in 2010 and $0.5 millioonh the
exercise of approximately 32,000 options in 2009.

We repurchased approximately 150,000 shares ata€8$3.5 million in 2010 under a share buybaadgpam
initially authorized by our Board of Directors if@8. We did not repurchase any shares under thisipl2009.

Equity was also affected by stock-based compensatipense, the tax benefits on stock compensation
realization and other factors in both 2010 and 2009

Off-balance Sheet Obligations

We maintain the majority of the precious metalsuse in production on a consignment basis in oeeduce
our exposure to metal price movements and to reducevorking capital investment. In 2010, we begansigning
a portion of our copper requirements as well. Sgedhtitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MafRisk”. The
notional value of the off-balance sheet inventoasw211.8 million as of year-end 2010 compare®&&million
as of year-end 2009. This increase was causedctbynbination of significantly higher metal pricedarigher
guantities of metal on hand. The increased quawtity due to improved business conditions, the
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acquisition of Academy and inclusion of their reganents under the consignment lines and the addificopper
under the lines in 2010.

We were in compliance with all of the covenantstaored in the consignment agreements as of DeceBiher
2010.

Contractual Obligations

A summary of payments to be made under long-terot @greements, operating leases and significaritatap
leases, pension plan contributions and materiallage commitments by year is as follows:

(Millions) 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter Total

Long-term debi $ — $30C $ — $ — & — $ 82 ¢ 38:
Non-cancelable lease paymel 8.€ 5.7 5.1 3.€ 3.4 18.2 44.¢
Capital lease paymer 1.3 1.2 11 1.1 11 7.6 13.7
Pension plan contributic 8.8 — — — — — 8.8
Purchase commitmen 2.5 — — — — — 25
Total $21z $36< $ 62 $ 47 $ 45 $ 34<4 $107¢

The longterm debt repayment in 2012 represents the ambontswed under the revolving credit agreemet
of year-end 2010. This agreement matures in 20akificipate that we will renegotiate a new agredgmeor to
the maturation date as we have done with previgteseanents; however, we cannot guarantee that wéevdble tc
enter into a replacement facility with similar texias the existing facility. Outstanding borrowingeler the
revolving credit agreement classified as short-tdeit totaled $11.1 million as of December 31, 2Ed: Note F
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for aoidfiti debt information.

The non-cancelable lease payments represent paymeaér operating leases with initial lease temexicess
of one year as of December 31, 2010. The cap@sklgpayments include the building for the new tiergl facility
at the Elmore site and other material capital leaSee Note G to the Consolidated Financial Statesver further
leasing details.

The pension plan contribution of $8.8 million iretabove table represents our best estimate oéthéred
2011 contribution to the domestic defined bendfihpas of early in 2011. Contributions to the pda@ designed to
comply with ERISA guidelines, which change from ¢itto time, and are based upon the plan’s fundéal mahich
is affected by actuarial assumptions, investmerfopmance, benefit payouts, plan expenses, amentdraed other
factors. Therefore, it is not practical to estimatatributions to the plan beyond one year.

The purchase commitments of $2.5 million are fgitzdh equipment to be acquired in 2011 based oersrd
placed as of December 31, 2010.
Liquidity

We believe that cash flow from operations pluséatailable borrowing capacity and the current casdhrire

are adequate to support operating requirementgatagpenditures, projected pension plan contiiing,
environmental remediation projects and strategigigitions.

The cumulative cash flow provided from operatiastaled $149.5 million in 2008 through 2010, whispital
expenditures, net of amounts reimbursed by thergovent, totaled $76.5 million.

A summary of key data relative to our liquidityciading the outstanding debt, cash balances anithbiea
borrowing capacity, as of the end of each of tisetlaree years is as follows:

December 31,

(Millions) 2010 2009 2008

Total outstanding del $ 86.1 $64.5 $41¢
Cash 16.1 12.2 18.5
Debt net of cas 70.C 52.2 23.c
Available borrowing capacit 173.C 46.2 218.2
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Debt net of cash is a non-GAAP measure. We areigirgythis information because we believe it is enor
indicative of our overall financial position. It @so a measure our management uses to assessrftand other
decisions.

As the chart indicates, debt net of cash incre&déd7 million from the end of 2008 to the end o1@0During
these two years, we acquired Barr for $55.2 milkon Academy for $21.0 million. We also made ctmitibns to
the domestic defined benefit pension plan totafiif).8 million in these two years. The increaseahtdvas less
than these net outlays as a result of the cashfflmw operations being in excess of capital spendin

The available borrowing capacity in the chart repres the amounts that could be borrowed undeetiwving
credit agreement and other secured lines exisirng ®ecember 31 of each year depicted. The ajyiciebt
covenants have been taken into account when detegrthe available borrowing capacity. One of theseenants
restricts the borrowing capacity to a multiple lod twelve-month trailing earnings before interestpme taxes,
depreciation and amortization and other adjustmditits improvement in our earnings in 2010 over 2089
allowed for the available borrowing capacity torease, despite the additional debt outstandingv€rsely, the
operating loss in 2009 reduced the available barmgwapacity as of year-end 2009 from the yearz0@8B level.

As of early in the first quarter 2011, we do nobknof any future or pending changes that will caus¢o be in
non-compliance with any of our debt covenants enrtbar term.

The debt-to-total-debt-plus-equity ratio, a measifrealance sheet leverage, was 18% as of Deceddher
2010, 16% as of December 31, 2009 and 11% as ddrbiger 31, 2008. The increases in 2010 and 2009 leweyely
due to the additional borrowings to finance poriofithe Academy and Barr acquisitions. Managerbeli¢ves
that this level of leverage is within the long-teanerage for the Company.

There are no mandatory long-term debt repaymergsrd2011.

The unused and available capacity under the comgghlines totaled approximately $24.8 million dyear-
end 2010.

The working capital ratio, which compares curressteds excluding cash to current liabilities exahgdilebt,
was 3.4 to 1.0 as of year-end 2010 versus 3.2tad of year-end 2009.

Cash on hand does not affect the covenants oratieveing capacity under our debt agreements. Rotad the
cash balances may be invested in high quality,Ifiiguid investments with maturities of three mbsitor less.

In July 2010, our Board of Directors re-authorizled Company to purchase up to 700,000 shares of our
common stock, which represents approximately 3%uofoutstanding shares. The primary purpose ofpitigram
is to offset the dilution created through shareseésl under stock-based compensation plans. An stparchases
will be made from time to time for cash in the opearket or otherwise, including without limitatian, privately
negotiated transactions and round lot or blocksaations on the New York Stock Exchange, and maydige
pursuant to accelerated share repurchases or BofeIlplans. The repurchase program may be suspende
discontinued at any time.

ENVIRONMENTAL

We have an active environmental compliance progk&mestimate the probable cost of identified
environmental remediation projects and establiskmas accordingly. The environmental remediatesenve
balance was $5.2 million at December 31, 2010 &@ fillion at December 31, 2009. Payments agdmsteserv
totaled $0.7 million in 2010 and $1.0 million in@M Spending in both years included clean-up dostthe
Company'’s former headquarters building that presfipwas also used to house light manufacturingatpers and
R&D laboratories as well as other small remediapiogjects. See Note J to the Consolidated Finastatements.

ORE RESERVES

We have proven and probable reserves of berylliearibg bertrandite ore in Juab County, Utah. Proven
reserves are the measured quantities of ore conathgmecoverable through the opgit-method. Probable resen
are the estimated quantities of ore known to éxisthave been computed from inspection sites tteateather apart
than those used to measure proven reserves. Althibiegnspection sites are fewer, assurance levelsufficient tc
assume ore continuity. Ore dilution of approximatsven percent occurs during the mining
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process. The ore is processed at our extractidlitfan Utah. Approximately 87% of the berylliunmiore is
recovered in the extraction process. We own appratély 95% of the proven reserves, with the remgimeserves
leased. We augment our proven reserves of berteaad through the purchase of imported beryl ©hés ore,
which is approximately 4% beryllium, is also proged at the Utah facility.

We use computer models to estimate ore reservashwte subject to economic and physical evaluafitwe
requirement that reserves pass an economic tes¢saypen-pit mineable ore to be found in both prared
probable geologic settings. Proven reserves hamedsed slightly in each of the last four yeardevhiobable
reserves have remained unchanged over the samedinoel. Based upon average production levelsdameyears,
proven reserves would last over one hundred y&aesreserves classified as possible are excluded tihe
following table.

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Proven bertrandite ore reserves at year end (thdgsaf dry tons 6,40¢ 6,42t 6,45¢ 6,531 6,55(C

Grade % berylliun 0.266% 0.26€% 0.26€% 0.26€% 0.267%
Probable bertrandite ore reserves at year endg#muis of dry tons  3,51¢ 3,51¢ 3,51¢ 3,51¢ 3,51¢
Grade % berylliun 0.23% 0.23% 0.232% 0.232% 0.232%
Bertrandite ore processed (thousands of dry tahged) 56 39 64 52 48
Grade % beryllium, dilute 0.336% 0.33(% 0.321% 0.321% 0.352%

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements requiredrtherent use of estimates and management’s jutdigme
establishing those estimates. The following arentibst significant accounting policies we use tlefyt upon
management’s judgment.

Accrued Liabilities. We have various accruals on our balance sheeatadased in part upon management’s
judgment, including accruals for litigation, enviroental remediation and work’ compensation costs. We
establish accrual balances at the best estimatendieed by a review of the available facts anddseloy
management and independent advisors and specdisigpropriate. Absent a best estimate, the ddsrua
established at the low end of the estimated reddemange in accordance with accounting guidelibégation anc
environmental accruals are established only fantifled and/or asserted claims; future claims, ¢fiere, could give
rise to increases to the accruals. The accrualadjpsted as facts and circumstances change. Thaad& may also
be adjusted for changes in our strategies or regylaequirements. Since these accruals are egimtite ultimate
resolution may be greater or less than the estadiaccrual balance for a variety of reasons, dictucourt
decisions, additional discovery, inflation levaisst control efforts and resolution of similar casehanges to the
accruals would then result in an additional changeredit to income in the period when the change made. See
Note J to the Consolidated Financial Stateme

Legal claims may be subject to partial or compieseirance recovery. The accrued liability is reeordt the
gross amount of the estimated cost and the insenauoverable, if any, is recorded as an asseisamut netted
against the liability. The accrued legal liabilincludes the estimated indemnity cost only, if aoyesolve the
claim through a settlement or court verdict. Thgaledefense costs are not included in the accndhbse expensed
in the period incurred, with the level of expenseaigiven year affected by the number and typetairhs we are
actively defending.

Non-employee claims for beryllium disease maderpgd@®022 where any of the alleged exposure pésiod
prior to year-end 2007 are covered by insurance.ifiburance covers defense costs and indemnity gragm
(resulting from settlements or court verdicts),jeabto a $1.0 million annual deductible. In 20d6fense and
indemnity costs were less than the deductible.

Pensions. We have a defined benefit pension plan that coadarge portion of our current and former
domestic employees. Carrying values of the assatia¢nsion assets and liabilities are determineahaactuarial
basis using numerous actuarial and financial assang Differences between the assumptions an@ctperiod
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actual results are typically deferred into thepestision asset or liability value and amortized agjafuture income
under established guidelines. The deferral progessrally reduces the volatility of the recognined pension asset
or liability and current period income or expendarealized gains or losses are recorded in OCI.pldue liability

for accounting purposes was $44.1 million as ofddelger 31, 2010.

Management annually reviews key pension plan assangp including the expected return on plan asse¢s
discount rate and the average wage rate incregamsa actual results, trends, Company stratetfies;urrent and
projected investment environment and industry stesfigland makes adjustments accordingly. The aetiadjust
certain assumptions to reflect changes in demograimd other factors, including mortality rated @mployee
turnover, annually as warranted. These adjustmmaatsthen lead to a higher or lower expense in &pariods.

We establish the discount rate used to determm@tbsent value of the projected and accumulateefibe
obligation at the end of each year based uponuhiable market rates for high quality, fixed inceimvestments.
An increase to the discount rate would reduce thegnt value of the projected benefit obligatiod ariure pensiol
expense and, conversely, a lower discount ratedu@ie the benefit obligation and future pensiqrease. We
elected to use a discount rate of 5.50% as of DbeefSil, 2010 and 5.875% as of December 31, 2009.

Our pension plan investment strategies are govempedpolicy adopted by the Board of Directors.
Management uses a group of outside investment stsaayd brokerage firms to implement these stragedihe
future return on pension assets is dependent Uygoplan’s asset allocation, which changes from tionéme, and
the performance of the underlying investments. Assalt of our review of various factors, we rediitee expected
rate of return on plan assets assumption to 8.0086 Becember 31, 2010 from an assumption of 8.25%f
December 31, 2009. The plan investments generatetdia in excess of the 8.25% in both 2010 and®20ter
incurring a significant loss in 2008. However, theected rate of return assumption relates toathg ferm and
given changes in risk assumptions, projectionsitufré returns by type of investment and other factee believe
that an 8.00% return over the long term is a realsierassumption. Should the assets earn an avetage less tha
8.00% over time, in all likelihood the future pesrsiexpense would increase. Investment earningsciess of 8.00¢
would tend to reduce the future expense.

The impact on the pension expense of a changeaoulit rate or expected rate of return assumptarvary
from year to year depending upon the undiscournddidlity level, the current discount rate, the adsdance, other
changes to the plan and other factors. If the Déegr@l, 2010 discount rate were reduced by 25 pasigs
(0.25%) and all other pension assumptions rematoedtant, then the 2011 projected pension expeos&w
increase by approximately $0.6 million. If the estgel rate of return assumption was reduced by 25 p@ints and
all other pension assumptions remained constan@A 1 projected pension expense would increase by
approximately $0.3 million.

Based upon current assumptions, guidelines anth&®ts, we project the required cash contributidpetonade
to the plan will be $8.8 million in 2011. Additioheontributions may be made during 2011 based @poamber of
factors, including the performance of the plan stugents, the discount rate environment, the Coripaperating
performance, the availability of excess cash arrdblaang rates under available credit lines.

The pension liability is recalculated at the meament date (December 31 of each year) and anytadjuss tc
this account and OCI will be recorded at that tameordingly. See Note | to the Consolidated Firarfsiatements
for additional details on our pension and othdregtent plans.

LIFO Inventory. The prices of certain major raw materials thatuse, including copper, nickel, gold, silver
and other precious metals, fluctuate during a gixear. Overall prices on average were higher irD26&n in 2009.

Where possible, such changes in material costgarerally reflected in selling price adjustmentstipularly
with precious metals and copper. The prices ofdana other factors of production, including supgland utilities,
generally increase with inflation. Portions of the®st increases may be offset by manufacturingawgments and
other efficiencies. From time to time, we will regiour billing practices to include an energy sargh in attempts
to recover a portion of our higher energy costefiaur customers. However, market factors, alteveatiaterials
and competitive pricing may limit our ability tofsét all cost increases with higher prices.

We use the LIFO method for costing the majoritypof domestic inventories. Under the LIFO method,
inflationary cost increases are charged againstuhent cost of goods sold in order to more clpsehtch the cost
with the associated revenue. The carrying valud®inventory is based upon older costs and, asutr the LIFO
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cost of the inventory on the balance sheet is llyicbut not always, lower than it would be undewst alternative
costing methods. The LIFO cost may also be lowan tine current replacement cost of the inventomg TIFO
inventory value tends to be less volatile duringrgeof fluctuating costs than the inventory valumild be using
other costing methods.

The LIFO impact on the income statement in a gigegr is dependent upon the inflation rate effectaam
material purchases and manufacturing conversiots ctiee level of purchases in a given year and gésin the
inventory mix and gquantities. Assuming no changtéquantity or mix of inventory from the DecemBér, 2010
level, a 100 basis point change in the annualtiofiarate would cause a $0.6 million change inltH€D inventory
value.

Deferred Tax Assets.We record deferred tax assets and liabilitieetagpon the temporary difference
between the financial reporting and tax bases sftasand liabilities. We review the expiration datéthe deferrals
against projected income levels to determine ifdbferral will or can be realized. If it is detenmad that it is more
likely than not that a deferral will not be realize valuation allowance would be establishedHat item. Certain
deferrals do not have an expiration date. We sl &valuate deferred tax assets for impairmentaleemulative
operating losses and record a valuation allowasagagranted. A valuation allowance may increaseeigpense and
reduce net income in the period it is recorded. aluation allowance is no longer required, if watluce tax
expense and increase net income in the periodttisateversed.

We had valuation allowances of $2.5 million asswtiavith state and foreign deferred tax assets$ gsar-end
2010 primarily for net operating loss carryforwards

See Note Q to the Consolidated Financial Statenfenedditional deferred tax detalils.

Unearned revenue. Billings to customers in advance of the shipnmadrthe goods are initially recorded as
unearned revenue, which is a liability on the bedasheet. This liability is subsequently reverséamthe revenue
is recognized. Revenue and the related cost of salé gross margin are only recognized for thesesactions whe
the goods are shipped, title passes to the custantkeall other revenue recognition criteria arésat. The related
inventory also remains on our balance sheet urdgée revenue recognition criteria are met. Advamdédgs are
typically made in association with products withdomanufacturing times and/or products paid withd&ifrom a
customer’s contract with the government. Billingsadvance of the shipments allow us to collect eashier than
billing at the time of the shipment and, therefdhe, collected cash can be used to help financartterlying
inventory. The unearned revenue balance was $2lidmas of year-end 2010.

Long-term unearned income.Expenditures for capital equipment to be reimedrmsnder government
contracts are recorded in construction in prodeegnbursements for those expenditures are recandetkarned
income, a liability on the balance sheet. The totait of the assets to be constructed includes ceshbursed by tt
government as well as costs borne by us. Whensthetsaare placed in service and capitalized, obés ¢ost will be
depreciated over the useful life of the assets.urtearned income liability will be reduced and @etito income
ratably with the annual depreciation expense. bhigefit in effect will reduce the net expense chdrp the incom
statement to an amount equal to the depreciaticheportion of the cost of the assets borne by us.

Capital expenditures subject to reimbursement fileengovernment under the life of the current Dobjgut
and the related unearned income balance totale@ $ilion as of December 31, 2010. The project wlase to
completion as of year-end 2010 and we anticipatettte equipment will be placed in service in tingt half of
2011.

Derivatives. We may use derivative financial instruments tddesour foreign currency, commodity and
precious metal price and interest rate exposuresapply hedge accounting when an effective hedgéarship
can be documented and maintained. If a cash flalgdés deemed effective, changes in its fair vaheerecorded i
OCI until the underlying hedged item matures. ifegge does not qualify as effective, changes ifaits/alue are
recorded against income in the current period.déavative is deemed to be a hedge of the faineraf a balance
sheet item, the change in the derivatvealue will be recorded in income and will offfe¢ change in the fair val
of the hedged item to the extent that the hedgéféstive.

We secure derivatives with the intention of hedgngsting or forecasted transactions only and deengage i
speculative trading or holding derivatives for istraent purposes. Our annual budget, quarterly &ste@nd other
analyses serve as the basis for determining faesgtasnsactions. The use of derivatives is gowkhye
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policies established by the Board of Directors. Sehpolicies provide guidance on the allowable tygfdsedge
contracts, the allowable duration of the contracis other related matters. Hedge contracts areestand approve
by senior financial managers at our corporate effithe level of derivatives outstanding may betkehiby the
availability of credit from financial institutions.

Our practice has been to secure hedge contractsnileaited in the same manner as the underlying exppfol
example, a yen exposure will only be hedged wigeracontract and not with a surrogate currency.a¥e secure
contracts through financial institutions that aready part of our bank group.

See Note H to the Consolidated Financial Statenamds'Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Abou
Market Risk”.

OUTLOOK

After a record sales year in 2010, we entered 2@ftia very healthy backlog and a positive outlémka
number of our markets. The performance charadiesisf our materials make us the supplier of chéocea wide
range of applications within the consumer electemharket. Our materials are used in an increasingpber of LEL
applications and we anticipate solid growth forsthenaterials in 2011. Within the medical market,antcipate the
sales will increase to our existing customer basz0il1 while we continue to develop products amatimmships
with other potential customers for long-term grovit¥ie are positioned for growth in the industrialngmnents and
commercial aerospace market. We believe that wdesanage the investments in Barr and Academy préwve oul
sales to the key markets they serve. The solaggmearket also remains a long-term growth oppotyufior a
number of our materials.

On the downside, portions of our traditional deéehasiness may be softer in 2011 as compared @ @04 to
changes in government spending patterns. A podia@ur sales growth in 2010 was due to a downstri@aentory
replenishment, particularly in the consumer elaut® market, that may not repeat in 2011. The nigukee for our
key raw materials, including gold, silver and coppeas quite high entering 2011 and this highet oy force
some customers to turn to alternative lower casd {awer performing) materials from other supplierslefer their
purchases from us for a period of time. We alscaiarmautious about the economy in general andntipaét that th
current high unemployment rate and government iieficay have on consumer spending levels and tiiydbr
companies to expand.

As of early in the first quarter 2011, taking imtocount the above and assuming no change in nretaspwe
are expecting that our sales will be higher in 20fh in 2010.

The profitability from the projected sales growtiowever, will be offset to a certain extent by t@ghosts in
2011. These costs include:

« Our employee fringe benefit costs will be légkue to medical cost inflation and an increasguatese for
the domestic defined benefit pension plan as dtreka lower discount rate and other factc

e The start-up of the new beryllium facility Wirobably result in various one-time inefficiencias the
equipment is tested and brought on stream. Onbedperational, the facility will provide a stabdeurce of
high-quality metallic beryllium as the current soes are not sufficient to satisfy our needs inlding term.
However, the ongoing unit cost of the material picet by the facility will be higher than our pursbarice
of beryllium in 2010; ani

« We are undertaking various initiatives, inéhglthe corporate rebranding program, designethfmave our
efficiencies and profitability in the long term,tiihe related ugront costs may have a negative impact or
earnings in 2011. We will have additional legalmamistrative and marketing costs associated witinging
the name of the Company and all of our subsidianekto effectively communicate the impact of the
rebranding effort to our customers, vendors andettrdders in 2011

We will continue our cost control efforts and implent strategies to improve operating efficiencids high
raw material costs will keep us focused on imprguimventory turns and utilization in order to miri®a the
inventory on hand, whether owned or consigned. t@hjpivestments will continue to be closely managed we do
not anticipate a significant change in the spentirgl in 2011 from the 2010 level excluding spewgddn the new
beryllium plant.
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

While economic conditions have improved in 201@r=fhe global economic crisis in late 2008 and 2089
remain exposed to changes in economic conditiodgl@potential impact those changes may have nousa
facets of our business. We have a program in ptacksely monitor the credit worthiness and firiahcondition o
our key providers of financial services, includimgr bank group and insurance carriers, as wehastedit
worthiness of customers and vendors and have \&domntingency plans in place.

Our credit lines are with banks that remained saltleroughout the crisis. Our total borrowing capaander
secured lines that cannot be terminated prior ttwritg as long as we continue to meet our debt naués was in
excess of current needs as of year-end 2010. WWéhalee metal consignment lines with several instits. The
capacity under these lines has been expandedhméadt two years due to our increased needs andhact of
higher metal prices. Our credit lines for foreignrency hedging purposes have remained in excemsrafeeds as
well.

The financial statement impact from the risk of onenore of the banks in our bank group becomisglirent
cannot be estimated at the present time.

We are exposed to precious metal and commodite pinterest rate, foreign exchange rate and utiltigt
differences. While the degree of exposure variesfyear to year, our methods and policies desigmetanage
these exposures have remained fairly consisteme@#y, we attempt to minimize the effects of ¢negposures
through the use of natural hedges, which includgng strategies, borrowings denominated in theesterms as the
exposed asset, off-balance sheet arrangementgtaardnoethods. Where we cannot use a natural hedgmay use
derivative financial instruments to minimize théeets of these exposures when practical and cfisieetft. The use
of derivatives is subject to policies approved ty Board of Directors with oversight provided bgraup of senior
financial managers at our corporate office.

We use gold and other precious metals in manufiactwarious products. To reduce the exposure tketar
price changes, the majority of our precious metqlirements are maintained on a consigned invehasis. We
purchase the metal out of consignment from our engpwvhen it is ready to ship to a customer asiatfed produc
Our purchase price forms the basis for the prigegdd to the customer for the precious metal coied,
therefore, the current cost is matched to thergppirice and the price exposure is minimized. Téeaf precious
metal consignment arrangements is governed byieypmpproved by the Board of Directors.

We are charged a consignment fee by the finantsitutions that own the precious metals. Thisigggartially
a function of the market price of the metal. Beeapmarket forces and competition, the fee cag balcharged to
customers on a case-by-case basis. To furtherpingié and financing rate exposures, under sonecertistances we
will require customers to furnish their own metl processing. Customers may also elect to pravieie own
material for us to process as opposed to purchasingnaterial. Should the market price of precimggals that we
have on consignment increase by 20% from the paond3ecember 31, 2010, the additional pre-tax et as a
result of an increase in the consignment fee wbeldpproximately $1.3 million on an annual basiss Talculatiol
assumes no changes in the quantity of inventotii@underlying fee and that none of the additidee$ are charge
to customers.

The available capacity of our existing credit linesonsign precious metals is a function of thergity and
price of the metals on hand. As prices increasthesdid in 2010, a given quantity of metal wileua larger
proportion of the credit line. A significant prolged increase in metal prices could result in oaditdines being
fully utilized, and, absent securing additionalditdéine capacity from a financial institution, dduequire us to
purchase precious metals rather than consign thegfuire customers to supply their own metal anfifare us to
turn down additional business opportunities. Ifwere in a significant precious metal ownership fimsj we might
elect to use derivative financial instruments tddethe potential price exposure. The cost to firahe purchased
inventory may also be higher than the consignmemat The financial statement impact of the risk fmising metal
prices impacting our credit availability cannotdstimated at the present time.

We also use copper in our production processesn\hbssible, fluctuations in the purchase priceopiper are
passed on to customers in the form of price adafersductions. While over time our price exposaredpper is
generally in balance, there can be a lag betweznhhnge in our cost and the pass-through to @iomers,
resulting in higher or lower margins in a givenipdr
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Beginning in 2010, we consigned a portion of oy inventory requirements. As with precious nwettie
available capacity under the existing lines isrecfion of the quantity and price of metal on haBldould the market
price of copper increase by 20% from the pricefd3ezember 31, 2010, the additional pre-tax coststas a result
of an increase in the consignment fee would beamately $0.2 million on an annual basis. Thica#tion
assumes no changes in the quantity of inventotii@underlying fee and that none of the additidee$ are charge
to customers.

In our manufacturing processes, we use rutheniuwho#trer base and precious metals that are not yvickeld
by others or actively traded and, therefore, tier® established efficient market for derivatirehcial instrumen
that could be used to effectively hedge the relptézk exposures. For certain applications, owripgi practice with
respect to these metals is to establish the sqiliing based upon our cost to purchase the matiméing our price
exposure. However, the inventory carrying value m@exposed to market fluctuations. The inventaiye is
maintained at the lower of cost or market andéfarket value were to drop below the carrying &athe
inventory would have to be reduced accordingly amtiarge taken against cost of sales. This riskaisly
associated with long manufacturing lead time itemd with sludges and scrap materials, which gelydraive
longer processing times to be refined into a uskdrha for further manufacturing and are typicallgt wovered by
specific sales orders from customers. As a resuttavket price fluctuations, we recorded lower o$tcor market
charges totaling $0.4 million in 2010, $0.7 million2009 and $15.2 million in 2008 on portions af inventory.
The charges were lower in 2010 and 2009 than i 2@ to the market prices and a reduction ingkellof
ruthenium-containing inventories.

We are exposed to changes in interest rates ompsitf our debt and cash balances. This inteatstaxposul
is managed by maintaining a combination of shartitand long-term debt and variable and fixed nag¢ruments.
We may also use interest rate swaps to fix thedsteate on variable rate obligations, as we dagpnopriate.
There were no interest rate derivatives outstandigf December 31, 2010. Excess cash is typitalgsted in
high quality instruments that mature in ninety day$ess. Investments are made in compliance vdatitips
approved by the Board of Directors. Assuming nangfeain the amount or make-up of the outstanding aelof
December 31, 2010, a 200 basis point movement wsaarthe interest rates would increase our aninterest
expense by $1.1 million.

Portions of our international operations sell pretdipriced in foreign currencies, mainly the eund gen, whils
the majority of these products’ costs are incuired.S. dollars. We are exposed to currency movésnarthat if
the U.S. dollar strengthens, the translated valdlkeoforeign currency sale and the resulting nraagi that sale will
be reduced. We typically cannot increase the mfaair products for short-term exchange rate moveseecause
of local competition. To minimize this exposure, may purchase foreign currency forward contragitipas and
collars in compliance with Board approved policiéshe dollar strengthened, the decline in thestated value of
our margins would be at least partially offset hyain on the hedge contract. A decrease in thes\afithe dollar
would result in larger margins but potentially adan the contract, depending upon the methodtodeeddge the
exposure.

The notional value of the outstanding currency @mis was $45.9 million as of December 31, 201théf
dollar weakened 10% against the currencies we haglged from the December 31, 2010 exchange rates, t
reduced gain and/or increased loss on the outstgrdintracts as of December 31, 2010 would reduedgx
profits by approximately $4.5 million in 2011. Thialculation does not take into account the in@éasnargins as
a result of translating foreign currency saleiatrhore favorable exchange rates, any changesrgimdrom
potential volume fluctuations caused by currencyemeents or the translation effects on any othegidor currency
denominated income statement or balance sheet item.

The fair value of the outstanding foreign currenontracts was a net liability of $1.5 million at&senber 31,
2010, indicating that the average hedge rates wefavorable compared to the actual year end mantatange
rates.

The cost of natural gas and electricity can vaoynflyear to year and from season to season. Weattem
minimize these fluctuations and the exposure thédrigosts by utilizing fixed price agreements dfcaegrations,
when deemed appropriate, obtaining competitiveibgldetween regional energy suppliers and othehouist
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

The management of Materion Corporation and subrédiare responsible for establishing and maingini
adequate internal controls over financial reportagsuch term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) aratt1%(f) under thi
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. MetéZbrporation and subsidiaries’ internal conty@tem was
designed to provide reasonable assurance to the@&ugis management and Board of Directors regarttiag
preparation and fair presentation of publishedrfaial statements. All internal control systemsnmatter how well
designed, have inherent limitations. Thereforenahese systems determined to be effective carigeanly
reasonable assurance with respect to financiamgit preparation and presentation.

Materion Corporation and subsidiaries’ managemsséssed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December3110. In making this assessment, it used the frareset forth
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (the COSO criteria) in Intérna
Control — Integrated Framework. Based on our assesswe believe that, as of December 31, 2010, the
Company’s internal control over financial reportisgffective.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioial reporting as of December 31, 2010 has beditealiby
Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered pusticounting firm, as stated in their report.

/s/ RcHARD J. HPPLE

Richard J. Hipple
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

/sl bHN D. GRAMPA

John D. Grampa
Senior Vice President Finance and
Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Mate@Gornporation

We have audited Materion Corporation (formerly kmoag Brush Engineered Materials Inc.) and subsédiar
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2010, based on criteria establishedt@rrial Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpiing Organizations of the Treadway Commissiba (t
COSO criteria). Materion Corporation (formerly knoas Brush Engineered Materials Inc.) and subsediar
management is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting, and ftr assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over fingh reporting included in the Management’s Reporinternal
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsipilé to express an opinion on the company’s infezaatrol over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBoa
(United States). Those standards require that ame ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financiaporting was maintained in all material respects. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugincial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and ¢ipgraffectiveness of internal control based onabsessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we comsldercessary in the circumstances. We believethaudit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements for exaepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipleee A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (Ipjpeto the maintenance of records that, in reasiendetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disghositions of the assets of the company; (2) ideweasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as nactsgarmit preparation of financial statementsdgordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréwdipts and expenditures of the company are beadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management anedtdirs of the company; and (3) provide reasonasdeirance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauithex acquisition, use or disposition of the compsaiassets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjecheorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesdlitions, or that the degree of compliance wWithpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Materion Corporation (formerly knowas Brush Engineered Materials Inc.) and subséaiar
maintained, in all material respects, effectiveintl control over financial reporting as of Decem®1, 2010, bas
on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), the consolidated balance sheats@scember 31, 2010 and 2009, and the relatesotioiated
statements of income and loss, shareholders’ gcanty cash flows for each of the three years irpdreod ended
December 31, 2010 of Materion Corporation (formérpwn as Brush Engineered Materials Inc.) andididoges
and our report dated March 9, 2011 expressed amalifigd opinion thereon.

/s ERNST& YOouNnG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 9, 2011
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Mate@Gornporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Materion Corporation (formerly knowsn a
Brush Engineered Materials Inc.) and subsidiarsesfddecember 31, 2010 and 2009, and the relatesbtidated
statements of income and loss, shareholders’ gcanty cash flows for each of the three years irpdreod ended
December 31, 2010. Our audits also included thenfifal statement schedule listed in the Indexea 115(a). Thes
financial statements and schedule are the resplitysiti the Company’s management. Our respongibifi to
express an opinion on these financial statememtseimedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting Oversighagio
(United States). Those standards require that ame ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements are free of materisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢esa basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosuréigifinancial statements. An audit also includegssing the
accounting principles used and significant estismatade by management, as well as evaluating thralbfieancial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@albove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated
financial position of Materion Corporation (formgKnown as Brush Engineered Materials Inc.) andislidries at
December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidasedtseof their operations and their cash flowseach of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20 @nformity with U.S. generally accepted accoogti
principles. Also, in our opinion, the related ficgad statement schedule, when considered in relatiache basic
financial statements taken as a whole, presenty faiall material respects the information setlictherein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), Materion Corporation (formerly imoas Brush Engineered Materials Inc.) and subs@dia
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2010, based on criteria establishedt@rial Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpiong Organizations of the Treadway Commissiah Gur
report dated March 9, 2011 expressed an unquabifpaion thereon.

/s ERNST& YOuNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 9, 2011
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Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries
Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Income and Loss

(Thousands except per share amounts) 2010 2009 2008
Net sales $1,302,31. $715,18t $909,71:
Cost of sale: 1,079,66! 623,76¢ 757,83t
Gross margir 222,64¢ 91,42: 151,87!
Selling, general and administrative expe 126,47 89,76: 104,52:
Research and development expe 7,11z 6,771 6,522
Litigation settlement gai — — (1,059
Derivative ineffectivenes 59¢ 4,89 171
Other— net 14,827 9,48 13,647
Operating profit (loss 73,63 (29,485 28,071
Interest expens— net 2,66¢ 1,29¢ 1,99¢
Income (loss) before income taxe 70,96¢ (20,789 26,07¢
Income tax expense (benel 24,54! (8,429 7,71¢
Net income (loss $ 46,427 $(12,35) $ 18,35]
Basic earnings per share:
Net income (loss) per share of common si $ 22¢ $ (061 $ 0.9C
Diluted earnings per share:
Net income (loss) per share of common st $ 22t $ (061) $ 0.8
Weighte—averagenumber of shares of common stock outstan
Basic 20,28 20,19: 20,33t
Diluted 20,59( 20,19: 20,54:

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries
Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Thousands) 2010 2009 2008
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income (loss $46,42° $(12,355) $ 18,357
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rmeshcprovided from operatir
activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 35,39 31,93¢ 33,82¢
Amortization of deferred financing costs in intérespens¢ 53¢ 43C 37¢
Stoclk-based compensation expel 4,10( 3,48¢ 2,552
Derivative financial instruments ineffectivent 59¢ 4,892 171
Deferred tax expense (bene 13,62: (10,06% 6,15¢
Changes in assets and liabilities net of acquisséta and liabilities
Decrease (increase) in accounts receiv (50,38¢) 10,04 16,51
Decrease (increase) in other receiva 7,08¢ (7,679 7,88t
Decrease (increase) in inventc (23,117  34,16: 12,89
Decrease (increase) in prepaid and other curreets (3,56€) (4,60¢) 4,71
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and acexpetse 7,00z (754 (11,829
Increase (decrease) in unearned reve 1,93¢ 31¢ (2,45€)
Increase (decrease) in interest and taxes pa 2,04¢ 5,45¢ (14,079
Increase (decrease) in Ic-term liabilities (8,736) (16,427 1,96(
Other— net (1,917 2,79¢ (17€)
Net cash provided from operating activities 31,04: 41,64 76,87
Cash flows from investing activitie
Payments for purchase of property, plant and eqgeiip (42,319 (44,179 (35,519
Payments for mine developme (11,349 (80¢) (427)
Reimbursement for capital spending under governmmentraci 21,94 28,20( 8,017
Payments for purchase of business less cash rek (20,60%) (54,107 (86,057
Proceeds from transfer of acquired inventory tosggmment line 5,66 — 22,91t
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipt 77 3
Other investment— net 60 75 66
Net cash used in investing activities (46,519 (70,810 (90,990
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance (repayment) of -term deb (8,406)  25,77¢ 4,87(
Proceeds from issuance of l--term debi 80,00( 25,70( 46,20(
Repayment of lor-term debt (50,000 (28,600 (45,600
Principal payments under capital lease obligat (779 (18%) (65)
Deferred financing cos (220 (12€) (352)
Repurchase of common sta (3,527 — (4,999
Issuance of common stock under stock option 2,631 497 243
Tax benefit from stock compensation realizar 121 53 45E
Net cash provided from financing activities 19,82( 23,117 752
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and gaslakents (497) (243 177
Net change in cash and cash equivalen 3,851 (6,299 (13,189
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 12,25: 18,54¢ 31,73(
Cash and cash equivalents at end of ye: $16,10¢ $12,25: $ 18,54¢

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries
December 31, 2010 and 2009

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Thousands) 2010 2009
Assets
Current assetl
Cash and cash equivale $ 16,10¢ $ 12,25!
Accounts receivable (net of allowance of $1,4522®t0 and $1,397 for 200 139,37: 83,99°
Other receivable 3,97 11,05¢
Inventories 154,46 130,09¢
Prepaid expenst¢ 31,74 28,02(
Deferred income taxe 10,06¢ 14,75:
Total current asse 355,72! 280,17t
Relater-party notes receivab 90 90
Long-term deferred income tax 2,04z 4,87:
Property, plant and equipme 719,95: 665,36.
Less allowances for depreciation, amortization depletion (454,08) (437,599
Property, plant and equipme- net 265,86 227,76t
Intangible asset 36,84¢ 39,00
Other asset 1,90( 3,001
Goodwill 72,93¢ 67,03¢
Total Assets $ 73541 $621,95:

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity
Current liabilities

Shor-term debt $ 47,83t $ 56,14¢
Accounts payabl 33,37t 36,57
Salaries and wagt 34,03t 16,29:
Taxes other than income tax 90t 765
Other liabilities and accrued iter 24,91: 27,027
Unearned revent 2,37¢ 432
Income taxe: 3,921 2,45¢
Total current liabilities 147,36( 139,69
Other lon¢-term liabilities 17,91¢ 9,57¢
Retirement and pc-employment benefit 82,50: 82,35¢
Unearned incom 57,15« 39,69’
Long-term income taxe 2,90¢ 2,32¢
Deferred income taxe 4,912 13¢€
Long-term debr 38,30¢ 8,30¢

Shareholder equity
Serial preferred stock, no par value; 5,000 autieorshares; none issu — —
Common stock, no par value; 60,000 authorized shi&@sued shares of 26,968 il

2010 and 26,800 in 20( 180,16: 173,77t
Retained earning 368,40: 321,97:
Common stock in treasury; 6,648 shares in 20106a586 shares in 20( (115,090 (111,370
Other comprehensive income (lo (51,616 (46,684
Other equity transactior 2,50( 2,16:

Total shareholde’ equity 384,35t 339,85¢

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 735,41( $621,95:

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries
Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Common Other Other
Common  Retained Stock In Comprehensive Equity

(Thousands) Stock Earnings Treasury  Income (Loss) Transactions Total
Balances at January 1, 200 $167,34° $315,97. $(105,57)$ (24,57¢ $ 54¢ $353,71-
Net income — 18,357 — — — 18,357
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — 2,30t — 2,30¢
Derivative and hedging activity, net of taxes of.: — — — 97 — 97
Pension and pc-employment benefit adjustmel

net of tax benefit of $13,1Z2 — — — (25,62)) — _(25,62)
Comprehensive los (4,86%¢)
Proceeds from exercise of 12 shares under optams 24¢ — — — — 24¢
Income tax benefit from stock compensation redbne 45k — — — — 45k
Repurchase of 300 shai — — (4,999 — — (4,999
Stocl-based compensation expel 2,552 — — — — 2,552
Director¢ deferred compensatic — — (28¢) — 28€ —
Balances at December 31, 20( 170,597 334,32¢ (110,86 (47,80)) 837 347,09
Net loss —  (12,35% — — — (12,35
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — (22 — (22
Derivative and hedging activity, net of taxes ol — — — 82¢ — 82t
Pension and pc-employment benefit adjustmel

net of tax benefit of $9 — — — 314 — 314
Comprehensive los (11,239
Proceeds from exercise of 32 shares under optams 497 — — — — 497
Income tax benefit from stock compensation redbne 53 — — — — 53
Stock-based compensation expel 3,48¢ — — — — 3,48¢
Shares withheld for employee taxes on equity aw (482 — — — — (482)
Director¢ deferred compensatic 13 (505) — 1,32¢ 80¢
Other equity transactior (360) — — — — (360)
Balances at December 31, 20( 173,77¢ 321,97 (111,37() (46,68 2,16¢ 339,85¢
Net income — 46,42 — — — 46,42}
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — 1,66t — 1,66t
Derivative and hedging activity, net of tax benefit$581 — — — (2,079 — (1,079
Pension and pc-employment benefit adjustmel

net of tax benefit of $3,12 — — — (5,519 — _ (5519
Comprehensive incorr 41,49¢
Proceeds from exercise of 154 shares under opliors 2,631 — — — — 2,631
Income tax benefit from stock compensation redtize 12C — — — — 12C
Repurchase of 150 shai — — (3,527) — —  (3,52)
Stock-based compensation expel 4,10(¢ — — — — 4,10
Shares withheld for employee taxes on equity aw (481) — — — — (481)
Director¢ deferred compensatic — — (192) — 337 14E
Other equity transactior 15 — (1) — — 14
Balances at December 31, 201 $180,16. $368,40: $(115,090$ (51,610 $ 2,50C $384,35¢

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note A—Significant Accounting Policies

Organization: The Company amended its articles of incorporatiochange its name from Brush Engineered
Materials Inc. to Materion Corporation effective iha 8, 2011. Concurrent with the name change, tragany’s
New York Stock Exchange ticker symbol was changeochfBW to MTRN.

The Company is a holding company with subsidiathes have operations in the United States, Europe a
Asia. These operations manufacture advanced engthesaterials used in a variety of markets, inegigdionsumer
electronics, defense and science, industrial compisrand commercial aerospace, energy, automdégganics,
telecommunications infrastructure, medical and iappe. The Company has four reportable segmemsames of
which were changed effective in the fourth qua2@tO0:

Advanced Material Technologies manufactures precious and non-precious vapor diposirgets, frame lid
assemblies, advanced chemicals, performance ceatiptics, microelectronic packages, other precamesnon-
precious metal products and specialty inorganicens;

Performance Alloys manufactures high precision strip and bulk prodiérats copper and nickel-based alloys;

Beryllium and Composites produces beryllium metal, beryllium composites hadyllia ceramics in a variety of
forms; and

Technical Materials manufactures clad inlay and overlay metals, precand base metal electroplated systems
and other related products.

See Note M to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentadditional segment details. The Company isically
integrated and distributes its products througbrakination of company-owned facilities and indepertd
distributors and agents.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in camfor with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires managememiite estimates and assumptions that affect toe s
reported in the financial statements and accompagnydtes. Actual results may differ from thosereates.

Consolidation: The Consolidated Financial Statements includetoeunts of Materion Corporation and its
subsidiaries. All of the Company’s subsidiaries\ah®lly owned as of December 31, 2010. Intercompeagounts
and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Cash Equivalents: All highly liquid investments with a maturity ¢firee months or less when purchased are
considered to be cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable:An allowance for doubtful accounts is maintaifi@dthe estimated losses resulting fr
the inability of customers to pay the amounts diee allowance is based upon identified delinquenbants,
customer payment patterns and other analysestofioi data and trends. The Company extends cedit
customers based upon their financial condition genkrally collateral is not required.

Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost oketa The cost of the majority of domestic
inventories is determined using the last-in, fost-(LIFO) method. The remaining inventories aetexd principally
at average cost.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Property, plant and equipment is stated on tiséstud cost. Depreciation is
computed principally by the straight-line methoxlcept certain assets for which depreciation is asegb by the
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units-of-production or the sum-of-the-years-digitthod. The depreciable lives that are used in céimgpthe
annual provision for depreciation by class of assetas follows:

Years
Land improvement 5to0 25
Buildings 10 to 40
Leasehold improvemen Life of lease
Machinery and equipme 3to 15
Furniture and fixture 4to 15
Automobiles and truck 2to 8
Research equipme 6to 12
Computer hardwar 3to 10
Computer softwar 3to 10

An asset acquired under a capital lease will berdsdl at the lesser of the present value of thegted lease
payments or the fair value of the asset and willi&ereciated in accordance with the above schedeésehold
improvements will be depreciated over the lifelef tmprovement if it is shorter than the life oé lease. Repair a
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Mineral Resources and Mine DevelopmentProperty acquisition costs are capitalized asmairesources on
the balance sheet and are depleted using the afAiisduction method based upon recoverable proeserves.
Overburden, or waste rock, is removed prior toekéeaction of the ore from a particular open ptieTremoval cost
is capitalized and amortized as the ore is extdagsing the units-of-production method based uperproven
reserves in that particular pit. Exploration angdelepment expenses, including development drillarg, charged to
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets:Goodwill is not amortized, but instead reviewedaally as of
December 31 of each year, or more frequently uoddain circumstances, for impairment. Goodwithésigned to
the reporting unit, which is the operating segniew¢l or one level below the operating segmenarigible assets
with finite lives are amortized using the straidjhe method or effective interest method, as applie, over the
periods estimated to be benefited, which is gelyetabnty years or less. Finite-lived intangiblesets are also
reviewed for impairment if facts and circumstana@srant.

Asset Impairment: In the event that facts and circumstances indittat the carrying value of long-lived and
finite-lived intangible assets may be impairedeaaluation of recoverability is performed by conipgrthe
carrying value of the assets to the associatethatdd future undiscounted cash flow. If the cagymalue exceeds
that cash flow, then the assets are written dowhe fair values.

Derivatives: The Company recognizes all derivatives on thariz sheet at their fair values. If the derivative
is designated and effective as a hedge, depenging thhe nature of the hedge, changes in the fhiewat the
derivative are either offset against the chandaiimvalue of the hedged asset, liability or firgnemitment through
earnings or recognized in other comprehensive ircfass), a component of shareholders’ equity| timdi hedged
item is recognized in earnings. The ineffectivetiporof a derivative’s change in fair value, if afgrecognized in
earnings immediately. If a derivative is not a hegdthanges in its fair value are adjusted throngbme.

Asset Retirement Obligation: The Company records a liability to recognizeldgal obligation to remove an
asset at the time the asset is acquired or whelegla¢liability arises. The liability is recordéar the present value
of the ultimate obligation by discounting the esttad future cash flows using a credit-adjustedrisk interest
rate. The liability is accreted over time, with #hecretion charged to expense. An asset equagtfathvalue of the
liability is recorded concurrent with the liabilignd depreciated over the life of the underlyingeas

Unearned Income: Expenditures for capital equipment to be reimédrsnder government contracts are
recorded in construction in process while the reirmbments for those expenditures are recordedaarned
income, a liability on the balance sheet. Wheratsgets are placed in service, their total costheiltlepreciated ov
their useful lives and the unearned income ligbilitll be reduced and credited to income ratablthwhe annual
depreciation expense.
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Revenue Recognition: The Company generally recognizes revenue whegdbds are shipped and title pas
to the customer. The Company requires persuasidem®se that a revenue arrangement exists, delofdiye
product has occurred, the selling price is fixed®erminable and collectibility is reasonably asdwbefore revent
is realized and earned. Billings in advance ofdghigment of the goods are recorded as unearnedueyehich is a
liability on the balance sheet. Revenue is recaghipr these transactions when the goods are shgpe all other
revenue recognition criteria are met.

Shipping and Handling Costs: The Company records shipping and handling castprbducts sold to
customers in cost of sales on the Consolidate@i®&its of Income and Loss.

Advertising Costs: The Company expenses all advertising costs asrext. Advertising costs were
$0.8 million in 2010, $0.4 million in 2009 and $1rGllion in 2008.

Stock-based CompensationAll stock-based compensation instruments, incigdiptions, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock and performance restristedk, are viewed collectively when determining #tcounting
treatment of the tax considerations upon the ratidin of the benefit by the recipient.

Income Taxes: The Company uses the liability method in meagutire provision for income taxes and
recognizing deferred tax assets and liabilitieshenbalance sheet. The Company will record a vialnatlowance
to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amouristh@ore likely than not to be realized, as watedrby the facts
and circumstances. The Company applies a moredikeln-not recognition threshold for all tax unegértties and
will record a liability for those tax benefits tHadve a less than 50% likelihood of being sustaupsah examination
by the taxing authorities.

Net Income Per Share: Basic earnings per share (EPS) is computed bglidiyincome available to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of comshares outstanding for the period. Diluted E&@cts the
assumed conversion of all dilutive common stockivejents as appropriate under the treasury stodkade

Reclassification: Certain amounts in prior years have been re¢iedso conform to the 2010 consolidated
financial statement presentation. These reclassifios include depicting intangible assets as arsé line item
from other assets and unearned income as a sepaedtem from other long-term liabilities on ti@®mnsolidated
Balance Sheets.

New Pronouncements: The FASB issued Statement No. 160, “Non-contrgllinterests in Consolidated
Financial Statements, an amendment of ARB No. iilDecember 2007, codified within ASC 810 —
Consolidation. The statement establishes accouatidgeporting standards for a non-controllingriesein a
subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsydilt clarifies that a non-controlling interesibsild be classified
as a separate component of equity. Among othesitéralso changes how income attributable to tremqt and the
non-controlling interest are presented on the constdiiatatement of income. The statement was effefbivfiscal
years beginning on or after December 15, 2008.ddmpany adopted this statement as required in 2069ts
adoption did not impact the Consolidated FinanStatements.

The FASB issued Statement No. 141 (Revised 20@Usihess Combinations” in December 2007, codified
within ASC 805 — Business Combinations. The statgmequires that purchase accounting be usedIfbuainess
combinations and that an acquirer be identifiedefaery combination. It requires the acquirer tmmgdze acquired
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interedtthair fair values. It also requires that costsumed to affect the
transaction as well as any expected, but not digldhaestructuring costs be expensed and not atedbfor as a
component of goodwill or part of the business carabion. The statement revises the accounting fiardel taxes,
research and development costs and other itemsiatsbwith business combinations. The statemesteffactive
for fiscal years beginning on or after December2l®8. The Company adopted this statement as eztjinir2009
and used the provisions of this statement to addourthe assets and liabilities of the acquisii@empleted in 20(
and 2010 and the transaction-related costs.

The FASB issued Statement No. 161, “Disclosuresiaberivative Instruments and Hedging Activitiesan-
amendment of FASB Statement No. 133", in March 2@08ified within ASC 815 — Derivatives and Hedging
The statement expands the disclosures of Statewert33 in order to enhance the users’ understgrafifnow
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and why an entity uses derivatives, how derivaitistruments and the related hedged items are atabfor and
how derivative instruments and related hedged iteffest the entity’s financial position, financiarformance and
cash flows. The statement requires qualitativelaésces about hedging objectives and strategies)tiative
disclosures of the fair value of and the gainslasdes from derivatives and disclosures about tristi related
features in derivatives. The statement was effedtiv fiscal years beginning after November 15,820the
Company adopted this statement as required in Z0@®adoption did not impact the Consolidated Faiedn
Statements other than the required additional ascks.

The FASB issued ASU No. 2009-13, “Multiple-Delivbla Revenue Arrangements aconsensus of the FA!
Emerging Issues Task Force”, in October 2009 thatides amendments to the criteria for separatingsicleration
in multiple-deliverable arrangements. This updaileallow companies to allocate consideration reedifor
qualified separate deliverables using estimatdahgeadrice for both delivered and undelivered itewtsen vendor-
specific objective evidence or third-party evideicanavailable. Additional disclosures discusgimgnature of
multiple element arrangements, the types of dedivies under the arrangements, the general timittgeafdelivery
and significant factors and estimates used to aterestimated selling prices are required. The @om adopted
this update effective January 1, 2011 for new reeearrangements entered into or materially modifiedr after
January 1, 2011. The adoption of the provisionhisfupdate is not expected to have a material atnpa the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The FASB issued ASU No. 2010-6, “Improving DiscleessiAbout Fair Value Measurements”, in January 2010
that amends existing disclosure requirements uA8& 820 by adding required disclosures about itearssferring
into and out of levels 1 and 2 in the fair valuerhichy; adding separate disclosures about purshsales,
issuances, and settlements relative to level 3 uneants; and clarifying, among other things, thisteg fair
value disclosures about the level of disaggregafitie statement was effective for the first quaofe2010, except
for the requirement to provide level 3 activitymfrchases, sales, issuances, and settlementsrossabgsis, which
is effective beginning the first quarter of 201inc® this standard impacts disclosure requirememits its adoption
did not have a material impact on the Consolid&iedncial Statements.

The FASB issued ASU No. 2010-29, “Business Comiinat(Topic 805) — Disclosure of Supplementary Pro
Forma Information for Business Combinations”, incBeaber 2010 which requires public entities thaspné
comparative financial statements to disclose regemd earnings of the combined entity as thougibtiseness
combinations that occurred during the current yeat occurred at the beginning of the comparabte prinual
reporting period only. The amendments also expaadtpplemental pro forma disclosures to includeszription
of the nature and amount of material, nonrecurpr@gforma adjustments directly attributable to lusiness
combination included in the reported pro forma rexeand earnings. These amendments are effectibrisiness
combinations for which the acquisition date is omfber January 1, 2011. The adoption of this stat& is not
expected to have a significant impact on the Cadatdd Financial Statements.

Note B—Acquisitions

In January 2010, the Company acquired the outsigratock of Academy Corporation of Albuquerque, New
Mexico for $21.0 million in cash. Academy providagcious and non-precious metals and refining sesvior a
variety of applications, including architecturahgs, solar energy, medical and electronics. Majodyct forms
include sputtering targets, sheet, fine wire, rod powder. Academy employs approximately 150 peapits four
leased facilities.
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A condensed balance sheet depicting the amouritgiadsto the acquired assets and liabilities dhef
acquisition date is as follows:

Asset
(Thousands) (Liability)
Cash $ 38C
Other current asse 4,56¢
Precious metal inventol 5,661
Finite-lived intangible asse’ 3,25:
Property, plant and equipme 8,53:
Other asset 10
Goodwill 5,431
Current liabilities (4,575
Deferred income taxe (2,279
Total purchas $20,98¢

The Company financed the acquisition with a comtimmeof cash on hand and borrowings under the
$240.0 million revolving credit agreement. The $2tillion purchase price is net of $1.7 million tBempany
received back from the sellers in the second qua@&0 as a result of the resolution of workingitwaluation
adjustments in accordance with the purchase agreeeditional funds remain in escrow pending firation of
various other matters as detailed in the purchgsmeaent. Immediately after the purchase, the Cognpransferre
Academy'’s precious metal inventory to a finanamtitution for its fair value of $5.7 million andesigned it back
under the existing consignment lines.

Academy had sales of $195.3 million and generatedme before income taxes of $3.5 million in 2010.
Assuming the Academy acquisition occurred on JanLia2009, the pro forma effect on selected livend from the
Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income and ossd be as follows:

Pro Forma Results

(Unaudited)
(Thousands except per share amountt 2010 2009
Sales $1,302,31.  $884,50:
Income (loss) before income tax 70,96¢ (20,38%)
Net income (loss 46,42: (12,096
Diluted earnings per sha 2.2t (0.60)

In October 2009, the Company acquired all of thatahstock of Barr Associates, Inc. for $55.2 ioifl in cask
Barr, based in Westford, Massachusetts, manufacthie film optical filters used in a variety off@jzations,
including defense, aerospace, medical, telecommatiaits, lighting and astronomy.
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A condensed balance sheet depicting the amouritgiadsto the acquired assets and liabilities dhef
acquisition date is as follows:

Asset
(Thousands) (Liability)
Cash $ 1,05¢
Other current asse 13,20¢
Finite-lived intangible asse 12,20(
Property, plant and equipme 7,26¢
Other asset 54
Goodwill 31,721
Current liabilities (3,360)
Other lon¢-term liabilities (2,979
Deferred income taxe (4,015
Total purchas $55,16¢

The purchase price was financed with a combinaifarash on hand and borrowings under the revoleregit
agreement. The purchase price included amounts bl in escrow pending the resolution of varimadters as
detailed in the purchase agreement. In additidgheanitial cash considerations, the purchase agee¢allows for a
potential earn-out to be paid to the sellers bageoh the future performance of the operation. Tdre-®ut was
initially recorded in other long-term liabilities &s fair value of $1.9 million as of December 2009. Based upon
actual and revised projected performance and teeia discounted cash flow analysis, the fair gatithe earn ol
liability was reduced to $1.1 million as of DecemBé, 2010.

In February 2008, the Company acquired the opgyatisets of Techni-Met, Inc. of Windsor, Connedtiou
$86.5 million in cash, including acquisition fe@gchni-Met produces precision precious metal cofieaible
polymeric films used in a variety of high end apptions, including diabetes diagnostic test stigxhni-Met
sources the majority of its precious metal requéeta from other operations within the Company’s &ubed
Material Technologies segment. The $86.5 milliorchase price was net of $1.4 million received bacik escrow
in February 2009 based upon the final agreed-uptambes under the terms of the purchase agreement.

A condensed balance sheet depicting the final ams@ssigned to the acquired assets and liabiisesf the
acquisition date is as follows:

Asset
(Thousands) (Liability)
Precious metal inventol $22,91¢
Other current asse 8,73¢
Finite-lived intangible asse’ 26,20(
Property, plant and equipme 15,00(
Goodwill 13,87¢
Current liabilities (222)
Total purchas $86,51:

The Company financed the acquisition with a comtmmeof cash on hand and borrowings under the xéwvgl
credit agreement. Immediately subsequent to thehaise, the Company transferred Techni-Met's precietal
inventory to the existing consignment lines andkiead its market value of approximately $22.9 moillback from
the financial institution.

The results of the above acquired businesses welieded in the Company’s financial statements sthee
respective acquisition dates. The acquisitionsrarleded in the Advanced Material Technologies segmSee
Note E to the Consolidated Financial Statementadidlitional information on the intangible assetoasted witt
these acquisitions.
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Note C—Inventories
Inventories on the Consolidated Balance Sheetswuargnarized as follows:

December 31,

(Thousands) 2010 2009
Principally average cos
Raw materials and suppli $ 43,298 $ 38,74(
Work in proces: 159,08: 119,69¢
Finished good 32,99 38,95(
Gross inventorie 235,36° 197,38t
Excess of average cost over LIFO inventory vi 80,90( 67,29(
Net inventories $154,46° $130,09¢

Average cost approximates current cost. Gross tovies accounted for using the LIFO method totaled
$153.6 million at December 31, 2010 and $123.4ionilat December 31, 2009. The liquidation of LIF®entory
layers reduced cost of sales by $4.4 million in®ahd $1.9 million in 2009.

Lower of cost or market charges reduced net invergdoy $0.4 million in 2010 and $0.7 million in(®

Note D —Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment on the Consolidatdrize Sheets is summarized as follows:

December 31,

(Thousands) 2010 2009
Land $ 8991 §$ 8,69(
Buildings 110,34 114,11
Machinery and equipme 469,30 458,94t
Software 28,26! 25,88¢
Construction in progres 75,28 50,91¢
Allowances for depreciatio (450,85Y) (434,967
Subtotal 241,33. 223,59
Capital lease 10,73: 1,122
Allowances for amortizatio (260) (459)
Subtotal 10,47: 66¢
Mineral resource 5,02¢ 5,02¢
Mine developmen 12,007 65¢
Allowances for amortization and depleti (2,972) (2,179
Subtotal 14,06 3,50¢
Property, plant and equipme— net $ 265,86¢ $ 227,76t

Depreciation expense, including amortization faeds recorded under capital lease, was $29.0 mili@010,
$27.9 million in 2009, and $30.3 million in 2008.
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Note E—Intangible Assets
Assets Acquired
The Company acquired the following intangible asge?010:

Weighted-average

(Dollars in thousands) Amount Amortization Period
Customer relationshif $2,88( 6.8 Year
Trade namt 372 2.0 Year
License 1,30( 4.0 Year
Deferred financing cos 22C 3.0 Year

Total assets subject to amortizat $4,77: 5.5 Year
Goodwill $5,90:2 Not Applicable

The customer relationships and trade name intamgibdets and $5.4 million of the goodwill were &eglias
part of the first quarter 2010 purchase of thetehptock of Academy Corporation. The remaindethefgoodwill
resulted from adjustments to the preliminary godidnom revisions to the assigned values to variassets and
liabilities from the purchase of the capital st@fiBarr Associates, Inc.

The license was acquired by Advanced Material Teldgies to make products using technology undesrat
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Assets Subject to Amortization

The cost, accumulated amortization and net boakevaf intangible assets subject to amortizationfas
December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the amortizatioaresepfor each year then ended is as follows:

(Thousands) 2010 2009
Deferred financing cos

Cost $ 3,78¢ $ 3,56¢

Accumulated amortizatio (2,84() (2,3072)

Net book value 94¢ 1,267
Customer relationshiy

Cost 37,43( 34,55(

Accumulated amortizatio (10,699 (6,72])

Net book value 26,73¢ 27,82¢
Technology

Cost 11,12 11,12(

Accumulated amortizatio (3,459 (2,025)

Net book value 7,66¢ 9,09t
License

Cost 1,72( 42C

Accumulated amortizatio (467) (167)

Net book value 1,25: 258
Non-compete contraci

Cost 50C 50C

Accumulated amortizatio (500) (479

Net book value — 21
Trade namq

Cost 972 60C

Accumulated amortizatio (731) (58)

Net book value 24z 54z
Total

Cost $55,53: $50,75¢

Accumulated amortizatio (18,687 (11,757

Net book value $ 36,84¢ $ 39,007
Aggregate amortization exper $ 6,931 $ 4,46¢

The aggregate amortization expense is estimatbd &5.5 million in 2011, $5.9 million in 2012, $5xdllion in
2013, $4.7 million in 2014 and $4.6 million in 2015
Assets Not Subject to Amortization

The Company'’s only intangible asset not subjeenbortization is goodwill. A reconciliation of thegdwill
activity for 2010 and 2009 is as follows:

(Thousands) 2010 2009

Balance at the beginning of the yi $67,03¢  $35,77¢
Current year addition 5,70¢ 31,25¢
Adjustment to deferred taxes on prior year acqois 197 —
Balance at the end of the ye $72,93¢  $67,03¢
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All of the goodwill has been assigned to the AdwahMaterial Technologies segment.

The goodwill acquired in 2010 and 2009 was not déble for tax purposes.

Note F—Debt

Long-term debt on the Consolidated Balance Sheessmmarized as follows:

December 31

(Thousands) 2010 2009

Revolving credit agreeme $30,000 $ —
Variable rate industrial development revenue bgrajsable in 201f 8,30¢ 8,30¢
Total outstanding 38,30¢ 8,30%
Current portion of lon-term debt — —
Total $38,30¢  $8,30¢

Maturities on long-term debt instruments as of Delser 31, 2010 are as follows:

2011 $ —
2012 30,00(
2013 —
2014 —
2015 —
Thereaftel 8,30~

Total $38,30¢

The Company has a $240.0 million revolving creddility with six financial institutions that is cqmised of
sub-facilities for short and long-term loans, legtef credit and foreign borrowings. The agreemehich expires in
November 2012, is subject to a calculation of maxmavailability. The credit agreement also proviftesan
uncommitted incremental facility whereby under agricircumstances, the Company may be able to Wworro
additional term loans in an amount not to exceddl@hillion. At December 31, 2010, the maximum &zle and
unused credit under this facility was $162.0 millidhe credit agreement is secured by substantdilyf the assets
of the Company and its direct subsidiaries, wighékception of non-mining real property and certdhrer assets.
The credit agreement allows the Company to borrmmew at a premium over LIBOR or prime rate andaaying
maturities. The premium resets quarterly accortlintpe terms and conditions available under theemgent. At
December 31, 2010, there was $36.9 million outstendgainst the letters of credit sub-facility. TGempany pays
a variable commitment fee that may reset quar{@ti25% as of December 31, 2010) on the availatude a
unborrowed amounts under the revolving credit line.

The credit agreement is subject to restrictive aams including incurring additional indebtednessjuisition
limits, dividend declarations and stock repurchabeaddition, the agreement requires the Companmyaintain a
maximum leverage ratio and a minimum fixed chamecage ratio. The Company was in compliance witbfats
debt covenants as of December 31, 2010.

The following table summarizes the Company'’s skemn lines of credit. Amounts shown as outstandirey
included in short-term debt on the ConsolidatechBe¢ Sheets.

December 31, 201! December 31, 200!
(Thousands) Total Outstanding Available Total Outstanding  Available
Domestic $173,06¢ $ 11,08C $161,98¢ $ 51,10 $ 11,41¢ $39,68:
Foreign 14,327 3,31 11,01« 11,30 43t 10,86¢
Precious mete 33,44: 33,44 — 50,86: 44,29t 6,561
Total $220,83° $ 47,83t $173,00. $113,26¢ $ 56,14¢ $57,11¢
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The domestic line is committed and includes all-fadilities in the $240.0 million maximum borrowingpder
the revolving credit agreement. The Company haguwaiforeign lines of credit, one of which for 3rbllion euros
is committed and secured. The remaining foreigaesliare uncommitted, unsecured and renewed anniraf09,
the precious metal facility, which is secured amderved annually, was amended to include copperaVémge
interest rate on short-term debt was 3.06% and’2.d8 of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

In November 1996, the Company entered into an aggaewith the Lorain Port Authority, Ohio to issue
$8.3 million in variable rate industrial revenuenids, maturing in 2016. The variable rate rangenhf@033% to
0.50% in 2010 and from 0.36% to 1.05% in 2009.

Note G—Leasing Arrangements

The Company leases warehouse and manufacturing,spaadt manufacturing, computer and other office
equipment under operating leases with terms ranginip 25 years. Operating lease expense amounmted t
$9.9 million, $8.4 million, and $7.6 million, dugr2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively. The Compéstylaases
manufacturing space and computer equipment ungéattease agreements of varying terms.

The future estimated minimum payments under calgitees and non-cancelable operating leases vitith in
lease terms in excess of one year at Decembel030, 2re as follows:

Capital Operating
(Thousands) Leases Leases
2011 $ 1317 $ 8,568
2012 1,22¢ 5,67(
2013 1,09¢ 5,06¢
2014 1,06¢ 3,64:%
2015 1,064 3,43(
2016 and thereaftt 7,89¢ 18,22
Total minimum lease paymer 13,665  $44,59:
Amounts representing intere 3,614
Present value of net minimum lease paym $10,05:

Certain lease agreements may be subject to régtrmbvenants, including leverage, fixed chargesamual
capital expenditures.
Note H —Fair Value Information and Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company measures and records financial institsa their fair value. A hierarchy is used fargh
instruments measured at fair value that distingsdietween assumptions based upon market datavabise
inputs) and the Company’s assumptions (unobsenmples). The hierarchy consists of three levels:

Level 1 — Quoted market prices in active marketsdentical assets and liabilities;
Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 inputs thateither directly or indirectly observable; and

Level 3 — Other significant unobservable inputsaleped using estimates and assumptions developdtby
Company, which reflect those that a market parictpvould use.
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The following table summarizes the financial instents measured at fair value in the Consolidatddrige
Sheet as of December 31, 2010:

Fair Value Measurements
Quoted Prices

in Active Other
Markets for Significant Significant
Identical Observable  Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Thousands) Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Financial Assets
Directors’ deferred compensation investme $ 66C $ 66C $ — 8 —
Total $ 66C $ 66C $ — 3 =
Financial Liabilities
Directors’ deferredcompensation liabilit $ 66C $ 66C $ — 8 —
Foreign currency forward contrac 1,54 — 1,54 —
Total $2,20: $ 66C $ 154 $ =

The Company uses a market approach to value te¢sasd liabilities for outstanding derivative qawts in
the table above. Foreign currency forward contramtsvalued through models that utilize market oledgle inputs
including both spot and forward prices for the saméderlying currencies. The carrying values ofdtreer working
capital items and debt on the Consolidated Bal&@eet approximate their fair values as of Decerihe2010.

The Company uses derivative contracts to hedgéopsrof its foreign currency exposures and may atso
derivatives to hedge a portion of its precious inetposures. The objectives and strategies forguganivatives in
these areas are as follows:

Foreign Currency. The Company sells products to overseas customémegir local currencies,
primarily the euro and yen. The Company securesdarcurrency derivatives, mainly forward contreaatsl
options, to hedge these anticipated sales tramsactihe purpose of the hedge program is to pragminhst
the reduction in the dollar value of foreign cunrgisales from adverse exchange rate movements|dtie
dollar strengthen significantly, the decrease attanslated value of the foreign currency salesiishbe
partially offset by gains on the hedge contracep&nhding upon the methods used, the hedge coniegct
limit the benefits from a weakening U.S. dollar.

The use of forward contracts locks in a firm ratd aliminates any downside from an adverse rate
movement as well as any benefit from a favoraltie movement. The Company may, from time to time,
choose to hedge with options or a tandem of optioiesvn as a collar. These hedging techniques oaih dir
eliminate the downside risk but can allow for samnall of the benefit from a favorable rate moveterbe
realized. Unlike a forward contract, a premiumasdgfor an option; collars, which are a combinatida pu
and call option, may have a net premium but theylbmstructured to be cash neutral. The Company wil
primarily hedge with forward contracts due to telationship between the cash outlay and the |evésio.

A team consisting of senior financial managersawgi the estimated exposure levels, as defined by
budgets, forecasts and other internal data, aredrdates the timing, amounts and instruments taase
hedge that exposure. Management analyzes theieffdwidged rates and the actual and projected gaths
losses on the hedging transactions against thearogbjectives, targeted rates and levels of rskianed.
Hedge contracts are typically layered in at differimes for a specified exposure period in order t
minimize the impact of market rate movements.

Precious Metals. The Company maintains the majority of its presiowetal inventory on consignment
in order to reduce its working capital investmemd ¢he exposure to metal price movements. When a
precious metal product is fabricated and readgfigoment to the customer, the metal is purchasedfou
consignment at the current market price. The praid by the Company forms the basis for the prigec
to the customer. This methodology allows for changeeither
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direction in the market prices of the precious nsataed by the Company to be passed through to the
customer and reduces the impact changes in prizéd have on the Company’s margins and operating
profit. The consigned metal is owned by finanamstitutions who charge the Company a financingofesec
upon the current value of the metal on hand.

In certain instances, a customer may want to astatiie price for the precious metal at the tinee th
sales order is placed rather than at the time ipfent. Setting the sales price at a different tlzae when
the material would be purchased potentially createsxposure to movements in the market priceeof th
metal. Therefore, in these limited situations, @mmpany may elect to enter into a forward contiact
purchase precious metal. The forward contract althe Company to purchase metal at a fixed prica on
specific future date. The price in the forward caat serves as the basis for the price to be cagythe
customer. By so doing, the selling price and puseharice are matched and the Compaiyice exposure
reduced.

The use of derivatives is governed by policies aetbpy the Board of Directors. The Company willyoehter
into a derivative contract if there is an undertyidentified exposure. Contracts are typically heldnaturity. The
Company does not engage in derivative trading iesvand does not use derivatives for speculativposes. The
Company only uses hedge contracts that are dentediirathe same currency or metal as the underlgkmpsure.

All derivatives are recorded on the balance shithtedr fair values. If the derivative is desigrshtend effective
as a hedge, depending upon the nature of the heldgeges in the fair value of the derivative atkezioffset
against the change in the fair value of the hedgseét, liability or firm commitment through earrsngy recognized
in other comprehensive income (OCI), a componeshafeholders’ equity, until the hedged item iDgrized in
earnings. The ineffective portion of a derivativelenge in fair value, if any, is recognized innéags immediately.
If a derivative is not a hedge, changes in theValue are adjusted through income immediately.

The following table summarizes the notional amamd the fair value of the Company’s outstanding
derivatives as of December 31, 2010 and 2009:

December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009

Notional Fair Notional Fair

(Thousands) Amount Value Amount Value

Asset (liability)
Foreign currency forward contrac

Yen $19,31¢ $ (880) $6,56: $ 22C
Euro 26,57¢ (667) 6,20¢ (93)
Sterling — — 37& (12
Total $45,897  $(1,549 $13,14¢ $ 11¢
Embedded copper derivati $ — $ — $18437 $(4,89)

The fair values of the outstanding derivativesramrded as assets (if the derivatives are inragasition) or
liabilities (if the derivatives are in a loss pasit). The fair values will also be classified asigtierm or long-term
depending upon their maturity dates. The balaneetstiassification of the outstanding derivativeBacember 31,
2010 and 2009 was as follows:

December 31,

(Thousands) 2010 2009

Asset (liability)

Prepaid expenst $ — $ 22

Other liabilities and accrued iter (1,536 (4,997

Other lon¢-term liabilities (7 —
Total $(1,549  $(4,777)

All of the foreign currency derivatives secure®Bil0 and 2009 were designated as cash flow he@gesges
in the fair values of these derivatives are recdideOCI and charged or credited to income wherctirgracts
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mature and the underlying hedged transactions ogtwre were no precious metal hedge contractsamaing as
of December 31, 2010 or 2009.

A summary of the hedging relationships of the @utding derivative financial instruments designasdash
flow hedges as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 andrtitax amounts transferred into income for wedte
months then ended follows.

Effective Portion of Hedge Ineffective Portion of Hedge
Recognized Reclassified From OCI Recognized in Income ot
In OClI at Into Income During Period Derivative During Period
(Thousands) End of Period Location Amount Location Amount
Gain (loss]
2010
Foreign currency contrac
Forward contract $ (1,549 Othernet $ 50z Othernet $ —
Total $ (1,549 $ 50z $ —
2009
Foreign currency contrac
Forward contract $ 115 Othernet $ (81() Othernet $ —
Options (collars — Othernet 212z Othernet —
Total 11t (59¢) —
Precious metal forward contrac — Cost of sale: 47 Cost of sale: —
Total $ 11 $ (120 $ —

The Company secured a debt obligation with an exheédopper derivative in 2009. This derivative jed
an economic hedge for the Company’s copper invgragainst movements in the market price of copfiewever,
the derivative did not qualify as a hedge for actimg purposes and changes in its fair value wkaeged against
income in the current period. In 2010, the Compsawured copper forward contracts that were desigmetfset
changes in the fair value of the embedded derigativd therefore limit the potential charges agaircsime. The
Company recorded losses of $0.6 million in 2010 $4@® million in 2009 due to changes in the failuea of these
derivative financial instruments as derivative feefiveness on the Consolidated Statements of |ecamad Loss.
The debt obligation and the embedded derivativeedkas the copper forward contracts matured ir0201

The Company had an interest rate swap that waalipitiesignated as a cash flow hedge. Howeve2QiB, thi
underlying hedged item was terminated early anditvep no longer qualified as a hedge. Ineffectigercd
$0.2 million was recorded in 2008 due to changdakénswap’s fair value as a result of movementaterest rates.
The swap was terminated in the fourth quarter 2008.

Total derivative ineffectiveness expense was $0aliomin 2010, $4.9 million in 2009 and $0.2 mdh in
2008.

During the third quarter 2010, the Company secarémward contract to sell a specified quantitygofd. The
contract served as an economic hedge of gold psechand held in inventory for use in manufactupnaducts for
sale in the normal course of business. No hedggrsfon was assigned to the contract. The coninattired in th
third quarter 2010 and resulted in an immaterialized gain of less than $0.1 million that was réeed in cost of
sales on the Consolidated Statement of Income and.L

The Company expects to relieve $1.5 million froml@@d charge other-net on the Consolidated Stateafen
Income and Loss in 2011.
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Note | —Pensions and Other Po«-retirement Benefits

The obligation and funded status of the Compangissfpn and other post-retirement benefit planshosvn
below. The Pension Benefits column aggregates efirenefit pension plans in the U.S., Germany arglaad ani
the U.S. supplemental retirement plan. The OthereBes column includes the U.S. retiree medical lified
insurance plan.

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(Thousands) 2010 2009 2010 2009
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $160,02¢ $145,52: $30,88¢ $32,78¢
Service cos 5,13¢ 4,462 27% 28¢
Interest cos 9,15¢ 8,99¢ 1,73¢ 1,92¢
Plan amendmen 73¢ — — —
Actuarial (gain) los: 13,31% 8,171 1,774 (1,76%)
Benefit payments from fun (6,47¢) (6,399 — —
Benefit payments directly by Compa (96) (104) (2,667) (2,710
Expenses paid from ass:i (497) (392 — —
Curtailment gair — (547) — —
Medicare Part D subsic — — 364 357
Foreign currency exchange rate char (637) 313 — —
Benefit obligation at end of ye 180,67 160,02¢ 32,37 30,88¢
Change in plan asset
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of \ 109,72¢ 81,81( — —
Actual return on plan asse 15,36 15,94« — —
Employer contribution 13,77 18,49 — —
Benefit payments from fun (6,47¢) (6,399 — —
Expenses paid from ass: (497) (399 — —
Foreign currency exchange rate char (134) 26€ — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of y 131,76: 109,72¢ — —
Funded status at end of ye $(48,917)) $(50,300) $(32,379 $(30,88¢)
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Shseconsist of:
Other liabilities and accrued iter $ — % —  $(2,869) $ (2,609
Retirement and pc-employment benefit (48,91) (50,3000 (29,517 (28,277

$(48,91) $(50,300 $(32,37) $(30,88¢)

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income éfore tax) consist

of:
Net actuarial (gain) los $ 73,006 $ 6744 $ (441) $ (2,219
Net prior service (credit) co (3,299 (4,560 16€ 12¢

$ 69,716 $ 62,88 $ (275 $ (2,085

Amortizations expected to be recognized during nextscal year (before

tax):
Amortization of net los $ 391¢ $ 283 $ —  $ —
Amortization of prior service crec (472) (530 (36) (36)

$ 3447 $ 230¢ $ (36 $ (36

Additional information

Accumulated benefit obligation for all defined béhpension plan: $175,92°  $156,94. N/A N/A
For defined benefit pension plans with benefit gdions in excess of ple
assets
Aggregate benefit obligatic 176,65: 160,02¢ N/A N/A
Aggregate fair value of plan ass 127,13¢ 109,72¢ N/A N/A

For defined benefit pension plans with accumuldeokfit obligations in
excess of plan asse
Aggregate accumulated benefit obligat 171,90¢ 156,94 N/A N/A
Aggregate fair value of plan ass 127,13¢ 109,72¢ N/A N/A
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Components of net periodic benefit cost and othermounts recognized in other comprehensive income

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(Thousands) 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
Net periodic benefit cost
Service cos $ 513t $4,46: $5297 $ 27 $ 28¢ $ 308
Interest cos 9,15¢ 8,99« 8,49C 1,73t 1,92¢ 2,12
Expected return on plan ass (10,447 (9,746¢) (9,06]) — — —
Amortization of prior service (benefi (530 (549) (644) (36) (36) (36)
Recognized net actuarial lo 2,83¢ 1,557 1,18¢ — — —
Curtailment gair — (1,069 — — — —
Net periodic bengfit cos $ 6,154 $3,65( $5,26¢ $1,97F $2,18. $2,39/
Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(Thousands) 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
Change in other comprehensive incom
OCI at beginning of yee $62,88¢ $61,37¢ $21,337 $(2,08:) $ (35€) $ 93¢
Increase (decrease) in O(
Recognized during year — prior service cost

(credit) 53C 54¢ 644 36 36 36
Recognized during year -ret actuarial (losse

gains (2,839 (1,557 (1,225 — — —
Occurring during yea— prior service cos 73¢ — 39 — — —
Occurring during year — net actuarial losse:

(gains) 8,39( 1,97¢ 40,677 1,77¢ (1,765  (1,32%)
Other adjustment — 522 — — — —
Foreign currency exchange rate char 5 19 (93 — — —

OCIl at end of yes $69,71¢ $62,88¢ $61,37¢ $ (275 $(2,08Y) $ (35€)
Summary of key valuation assumptions
Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine bene
obligations at fiscal year end

Discount rate 5.4%% 5.8¢% N/A  5.1%% 5.88% N/A
Rate of compensation incree 3.97% 3.0(% N/A 4.00% 3.00% N/A
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net cost fibre

fiscal year
Discount rate 5.86% 6.65% 6.41% 5.8&% 6.15% 6.5(%
Expected lon-term return on plan asse 8.1&% 8.22% 8.21% N/A  N/A N/A
Rate of compensation incree 2.99% 2.0% 4.34% 3.0(% 2.0(% 4.5(%

The Company uses a December 31 measurement date falbove plans.

Effective January 1, 2011, the Company reviseceipected long-term rate of return assumption used i
calculating the annual expense for its domestisiparplan. This assumed expected long-term ratetofn was
decreased to 8.0% from 8.25%, with the impact batapunted for as a change in estimate.
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Effective January 1, 2008, the Company reviseceitpected long-term rate of return assumption used i
calculating the annual expense for its domestisioerplan. This assumed expected long-term ratetofn was
decreased to 8.25% from 8.5%, with the impact barwpunted for as a change in estimate.

Management establishes the domestic expected &ngrate of return assumption by reviewing itsdrisal
trends and analyzing the current and projected etadnditions in relation to the plan’s asset altan and risk
management objectives. Consideration is given tb teErent plan asset performance as well as pkeat as
performance over various long-term periods of timigh an emphasis on the assumption being a prtispetong-
term rate of return. Management consults with amsitlers the opinions of its outside investmenisads and
actuaries when establishing the rate and reviesxassgsumptions with the Board of Directors. Managsrbelieves
that the 8.0% domestic expected long-term ratetofin assumption is achievable and reasonable giveant
market conditions and forecasts, asset allocatiamestment policies and investment risk objectives

The domestic rate of compensation increase assomgts changed from a flat 4.5% to a graded assoma
of January 1, 2009. The graded assumption for ¢ineedtic rate of compensation increase is 2.0%h®2009 fisce
year, 3.0% for the 2010 fiscal year, 4.0% for tB& Rfiscal year and 4.5% for the 2012 fiscal yaat later.

Assumptions for the defined benefit pension plan&érmany and England are determined separatatytfie
U.S. plan assumptions, based on historical trendscarrent and projected market conditions in Geyrand
England. The plan in Germany is unfunded and the gl England has assets that are approximatelgf4tie
Company'’s aggregated total fair value of plan asastof year-end 2010.

Assumed health care trend rates at fiscal year end 2010 2009
Health care trend rate assumed for next: 8.0(% 8.0(%
Rate that the trend rate gradually declines tangalte trend rate 5.0(% 5.0(%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend 201¢ 201¢

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifeffect on the amounts reported for the health plans.
A one-percentage-point change in assumed heakhcost trend rates would have the following effects

1-Percentage- 1-PercentagePoint

Point Increase Decrease
(Thousands) 2010 2009 _ 2010 2009
Effect on total of service and interest cost congs $35 $46 $ (32 $(4)
Effect on pos-retirement benefit obligatio 68z 62¢ (61F) (579
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Plan Assets

The following tables present the fair values of @@mpany’s defined benefit pension plan asset$ as o
December 31, 2010 and 2009 by asset category. 8eeH\to the Consolidated Financial Statementslédinitions
of fair value hierarchy.

December 31, 201!

(Thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Cash $ 561i $ 561 $ — $ —
Equity securities
U.S. (@) 44,74¢ 35,917 8,82¢ —
International (b’ 20,56¢ 8,94: 11,62 —
Emerging markets (c 12,30( 12,08¢ 21€ —
Fixed income securitie:
Intermediat-term bonds (d 16,381 16,38 — —
Shor-term bonds (e 10,64: 10,64: — —
Global bonds (f 10,60: 9,97¢ 62€ —
Other types of investment
Real estate fund (¢ 6,50¢ 6,50¢ — —
Multi-strategy hedge funds ( 3,851 — — % 3,851
Private equity fund 54€ — 54€
Total $ 131,76 $ 106,07 $ 21,29 $ 4,397

December 31, 2009

(Thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Cash $ 16,33 $ 16,33 $ — 3 =
Equity securities
U.S. (a) 26,59( 19,17¢ 7,411 —
International (b’ 11,77: 4,741 7,032 —
Emerging markets (c 9,15¢ 8,951 20t —
Fixed income securitie:
Intermediat-term bonds (d 17,96: 17,96: — —
Global bonds (f 18,10: 17,58: 51¢ —
Other types of investment
Real estate fund (¢ 5,52 5,52z — —
Multi -strategy hedge funds ( 3,507 o — 3 3,507
Private equity fund 78€ — — 78€
Total $ 109,72¢ $§ 90,27( $ 15,16¢ $ 4,292

(&) Mutual funds that invest in various sectors ofth8. market

(b) Mutual funds that invest in non-U.S. compamgemarily in developed countries that are generedlpsidered
to be value stock:

(c) Mutual funds that invest inor-U.S.companies in emerging market countr
(d) Includes a mutual fund that employs a v-oriented approach to fixed income investment mameasge.

(e) Includes a mutual fund that seeks a marketafateturn for a fixed-income portfolio with lowlegive volatility
of returns, investing generally in U.S. and foredgibt securities maturing in five years or l¢

(H Mutual funds that invest in domestic and foregpvereign securities, fixed income securitiesitgame-backed
and ass+backed bonds, convertible bonds, high yield bomdseanerging market bonc
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(9) Includes a mutual fund that typically invest$east 80% of its assets in equity and debt seesiof companies
in the real estate industry or related industrieis @ompanies which own significant real estatessat the
time of investment

(h) Includes hedge funds that employ multiple strattpemultiple asset classes with low correlatic

The following table summarizes changes in thevfaiue of the Company’s defined benefit pension plan
Level 3 assets measured using significant unobbkrwaputs during 2010 and 2009.

Multi - Private
strategy Equity
(Thousands) Hedge Fund: Funds Total
Balance as of January 1, 2C $ 5968 $ 781 $6,74¢
Actual return:
On assets still held at reporting d 787 (24) 763
On assets sold during the per (16) — (16)
Purchases, sales and settlem: (3,229 29 (3,200
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 3507 $ 78 $4,29:
Actual return:
On assets still held at reporting d 68€ 66 752
On assets sold during the per 11 — 11
Purchases, sales and settlem: (359 (306 (659)
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 3851 $ 546 $4,39i

Plan withdrawals from the multi-strategy hedge fpadtnerships may be made up to 25% of the valdleeof
capital account as of June 30 and December 31cbf @gendar year upon written notice of at leastytidays. Any
withdrawals in excess of 25% must have at leasethmonths written notice. The plan may withdravtaip00% of
the capital account of all other partnerships upbleast thirty day written notice.

The Company’s domestic defined benefit pension plaestment strategy, as approved by the Governande
Organization Committee of the Board of Directossta employ an allocation of investments that gdlherate
returns equal to or better than the projected lkemgr growth of pension liabilities so that the plaill be self-
funding. The return objective is to maximize inwvaent return to achieve and maintain a 100% funtids over
time, taking into consideration required cash dbations. The allocation of investments is desigttethaximize
the advantages of diversification while mitigatihg risk and overall portfolio volatility to achiethe return
objective. Risk is defined as the annual variapilitvalue and is measured in terms of the standaviation of
investment return. Under the Company’s investmeilities, allowable investments include domesticiges)
international equities, fixed income securitiestcaquivalents and alternative securities (whickutte real estate,
private venture capital investments and hedge fufitlinges, in terms of a percentage of the totdtasare
established for each allowable class of securigrivatives may be used to hedge an existing sgawrias a risk
reduction strategy. Current asset allocation giridslare to invest 30% to 70% in equity securi2®86 to 50% in
fixed income securities and cash and up to 20%ténreative securities. Management reviews the adkmtation on
a quarterly or more frequent basis and makes mnasas deemed necessary.

None of the plan assets noted above are investiba iGompany’s common stock.

Cash Flows
Employer Contributions

The Company expects to contribute $8.8 milliontsadomestic defined benefit pension plan and $2llfbmto
its other benefit plans in 2011.
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments
The following benefit payments, which reflect exigecfuture service, as appropriate, are expectée fmaid:

Other Benefits

Net of
Medicare

Gross Benefi Part D
(Thousands) Pension Benefit Payment Subsidy
2011 $ 6,76¢ $ 2,86 $ 2,471
2012 7,33¢ 2,97( 2,55
2013 7,86¢ 3,05¢ 2,61¢
2014 8,31- 3,04 2,58(
2015 8,90( 3,03¢ 2,54(
2016 through 202 56,62¢ 15,21t 12,28¢

Other Benefit Plans

In addition to the plans shown above, the Compdsty laas certain foreign subsidiaries with accruefinded
pension and other post-employment arrangementslidlsikity for these arrangements was $3.2 millan
December 31, 2010 and $2.9 million at Decembe8@9 and was included in retirement and post-enmpémt
benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company also sponsors defined contributiongoterailable to substantially all U.S. employeean@any
contributions to the plans are based on matchipgreentage of employee savings up to a specifiddgalevel.
The Company’s annual contributions were $1.3 nrillio 2010, $0.6 million in 2009 and $3.0 million2008. The
Company reduced its matching percentage in hadtéffe at the beginning of 2009, reduced its magipiercentac
to zero for the majority of its U.S. employeeshie second quarter of 2009 and restored its matgencentage to
half of its historical level in the second quaé2010.

Note J—Contingencies and Commitments
CBD Claims

The Company is a defendant in proceedings in varstate and federal courts by plaintiffs alleginat they
have contracted chronic beryllium disease (CBDjetated ailments as a result of exposure to berylliPlaintiffs ir
CBD cases seek recovery under theories of negligand various other legal theories and seek corapmysand
punitive damages, in many cases of an unspecified Spouses, if any, claim loss of consortium. Addal CBD
claims may arise.

Management believes the Company has substantehsies in these cases and intends to contest the sui
vigorously. Employee cases, in which plaintiffs @avhigh burden of proof, have historically invalvelatively
small losses to the Company. Third-party plaintiffgoically employees of customers) face a loweden of proof
than do the Company’s employees, but these casesgeaerally been covered by varying levels of iasae.

Claims filed by third-party plaintiffs alleging abmic beryllium disease filed prior to the end oR2Gare
covered by insurance if any portion of the allegggosure period occurred prior to year end 200Th Blefense an
indemnity costs are covered subject to an annufili$illion deductible and other terms and provision

Although it is not possible to predict the outcoofi¢he litigation pending against the Company aad i
subsidiaries, the Company provides for costs réliehese matters when a loss is probable andrtioaint is
reasonably estimable. Litigation is subject to mangertainties, and it is possible that some ofitte®ns could be
decided unfavorably in amounts exceeding the Coripaaserves. An unfavorable outcome or settlernéat
pending CBD case or additional adverse media cgeetauld encourage the commencement of additiamibs
litigation. The Company is unable to estimate dteptial exposure to unasserted claims.

The Company recorded a reserve for CBD litigatib8®4 million as of December 31, 2010 and $0.6ianilat
December 31, 2009. The reserve is included in dtmgy-term liabilities on the Consolidated Balargteeets.
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The Company also recorded an asset of $0.1 méifoof December 31, 2010 and $0.3 million as of D 31,
2009 for recoveries from insurance carriers orotlitstanding insured claims. The asset is includaxther assets «
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company nedfiensent payments for beryllium litigation of leban

$0.1 million in 2010. In 2009, beryllium litigatiosettlement payments totaled $0.9 million and viellg insured.

While the Company is unable to predict the outcarfrthe current or future CBD proceedings, basechupo
currently known facts and assuming collectibilifyimsurance, the Company does not believe thatutso of the
current or future beryllium proceedings will havenaterial adverse effect on the financial conditorcash flow of
the Company. However, the Company’s results of atpmrs could be materially affected by unfavorakegults in
one or more of these cases.

Environmental Proceedings

The Company has an active program for environmeatapliance that includes the identification of
environmental projects and estimating their immacthe Company’s financial performance and avalabsources.
Environmental expenditures that relate to currg@m@rations, such as wastewater treatment and carfteatborne
emissions, are either expensed or capitalized m®ppate. The Company records reserves for theghle costs fc
environmental remediation projects. The Compangisrenmental engineers perform routine ongoing gses of
the remediation sites and will use outside conatstto assist in their analyses from time to tikecruals are based
upon their analyses and are established at etibdrdst estimate or, absent a best estimate, kvihend of the
estimated range of costs. The accruals are refasdbe results of ongoing studies and for diffeefnbetween
actual and projected costs. The accruals may asdfected by rulings and negotiations with reguiaggencies.
The timing of payments often lags the accrual,maérenmental projects typically require a numbegeérs to
complete.

The undiscounted reserve balance at the beginritigegyear, the amounts expensed and paid andathade
at the end of the year for 2010 and 2009 are ésAfel

(Thousands) 2010 2009
Reserve balance at beginning of y $(5,597) $(6,272)
Expensec (262) (359
Paid 658 1,03t
Reserve balance at end of y $(5,201)  $(5,597)
Ending balance recorded |

Other liabilities and accrued iter $ (707) $ (959
Other lon¢-term liabilities (4,499 (4,639

The majority of the spending in both 2010 and 2688 for clean-up costs associated with the Comgany’
former headquarters building; this facility hadvpoeisly been used for light manufacturing and reseand
development work. Upon completion of the projelag tacility was donated to a ngmefit organization in the four
quarter 2010. Funds were also spent on remediafforts and related analysis work on smaller pitsj@c 2010 and
20009.

The environmental reserves cover existing or ctiréareseen projects. It is possible that addiion
environmental losses may occur beyond the curesmrve balances, the extent of which cannot bmatsd.

Long-term Obligation

The Company has a lortgrm supply agreement with Ulba/Kazatomprom ofRepublic of Kazakhstan and
marketing representative, Nukem, Inc. of Connettimr the purchase of approximately 1.6 milliorupds of
beryllium copper master alloy that expires on Delgen81, 2011. The pricing for the beryllium contefthe
material is fixed while the price for the coppentent fluctuates based upon the monthly average bMEket price
Purchase commitments in 2011 total approximatel@ $8llion. Purchases under this contract total2d $nillion in
2010. The material purchased from Nukem is usédeémrmanufacture of beryllium-containing alloy protiiby the
Performance Alloys segment.
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The Company had a long-term supply arrangementMiitkem that terminated on December 31, 2008.
Purchases of beryllium-containing materials fronk&im under this arrangement were $8.9 million in&00
Beginning in 2009, purchases from Nukem were maata time to time through the Company’s normal pasihg
practices.

Other

The Company is subject to various other legal beoproceedings that relate to the ordinary coofses
business. The Company believes that the resolofitimese proceedings, individually or in the agategwill not
have a material adverse impact upon the Compawnyisatidated financial statements.

The Company has outstanding letters of credititage$26.0 million related to workers’ compensation,
consigned precious metal guarantees, environmegrtadiation issues and other matters that expi2®1.
Note K—Common Stock and Stoc-based Compensatior

The Company has five million shares of Serial Rrefit Stock authorized (no par value), none of wiiahe
been issued. Certain terms of the Serial Prefedtedk, including dividends, redemption and conwrswill be
determined by the Board of Directors prior to isste&a

A reconciliation of the changes in the number @rss of common stock issued is as follows (in thads):

Issued as of January 1, 2C 26,68
Exercise of stock optior 12
Vesting of restricted shar 8
Issued as of December 31, 2( 26,70°
Exercise of stock optior 32
Vesting of performancrestricted share 61
Issued as of December 31, 2( 26,80(
Exercise of stock options and SA 162
Vesting of performancrestricted share 6
Issued as of December 31, 2( 26,96¢

Stock incentive plans (the 2006 Stock IncentivenRliad the 2006 Non-employee Director Equity Plaajev
approved at the May 2, 2006 annual meeting of siedders. These plans authorize the granting obapights,
stock appreciation rights, performance restrictetes, performance shares, performance units atritted shares
and replaced the 1995 Stock Incentive Plan and38& Stock Incentive Plan for Non-employee Diregtaithough
there are still options outstanding under thesela

Stock Options

Stock options may be granted to employees or ngniarae directors of the Company. Option rightsténthe
optionee to purchase common shares at a price egoagreater than the market value on the dagganit. Option
rights granted to employees generally become esal (i.e., vest) over a four-year period and rexjgn years
from the date of the grant. Options granted to eygxs may also be issued with shorter vesting geridptions
granted to non-employee directors vest in six meatid expire ten years from the date of the giidrg.number of
options available to be issued is establishedangphpproved by shareholders. The exercise ofrapisogenerally
satisfied by the issuance of new shares.

Compensation cost for options is determined atitite of the award through the use of a pricing rhade
charged against income over the vesting perio@dch award. There was no compensation cost in 2009, or
2008, as all options were fully vested prior to 200
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The following table summarizes the Company’s stotion activity during 2010:

Weighted-
average Weighted-
Exercise Aggregate average
Number of Price Per Intrinsic Remaining
(Shares in thousands Options Share Value Term
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 32C $ 15.8¢
Exercisec (159 17.0¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 16€ 14.6¢  $3,969,00 2.90 year
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 16€ 14.6¢ 3,969,001 2.90 year
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 16€ 14.6¢ 3,969,00! 2.90 year
Summarized information on options outstanding aBexfember 31, 2010 is as follows:
Number Weighted- Weighted-
Outstanding average average
and Exercisable Remaining Exercise
(Thousands) Life (Years) Price
Range of Option Prices
$5.55-$8.10 30 227  $ 6.2
$12.1:-$14.80 27 2.1C 12.9i
$15.9-$17.68 10z 3.4¢€ 17.22
$20.6+-$22.43 6 0.1¢ 21.8¢
16€ 29C $ 1l4.6¢

Cash received from the exercise of stock optioteded $2.6 million in 2010, $0.5 million in 2009dan
$0.2 million in 2008. The tax benefit realized fréax deductions from exercises was $0.8 millio201.0,
$0.1 million in 2009 and $0.5 million in 2008. Tteeal intrinsic value of options exercised durihe years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $2.3 mil§or2 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

Restricted Stock

The Company may grant restricted stock to emplogeedsnon-employee directors of the Company. These
shares must be held and not disposed of for amltsig period of time as defined at the date ofjthat and are
forfeited should the holder's employment termindtieing the restriction period. The fair market \eabf the
restricted shares is determined on the date afriduet and is amortized over the restriction perigkiich is typically
three years.

The fair value of the restricted stock is basedhenstock price on the date of grant. The weiglateelage grar
date fair value for 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $2265,67 and $28.67, respectively.

Compensation cost was $2.3 million in 2010, $2.Hioniin 2009 and $1.7 million in 2008. The unanimet
compensation cost on the outstanding restrictezkst@s $2.2 million as of December 31, 2010 arekjzected to
be amortized over a weighted-average period of a8ths.
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The following table summarizes the restricted stactvity during 2010:

Weighted-

average

Number of Grant Date

(Shares in thousands) Shares Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 282 $ 23.11
Granted 88 22.65
Vested (62) 21.4:
Forfeited (17 19.45
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 29z $ 19.5C

Long-term Incentive Plans

Under long-term incentive plans, executive officansl selected other employees receive cash or ateakds
based upon the Company’s performance over theatkfieriod, typically three years. Awards may vaagdd upon
the degree to which actual performance exceedgrthdetermined threshold, target and maximum perdoce
levels at the end of the performance periods. Paymay be subjected to attainment of thresholdoperdnce
objectives.

Compensation expense is based upon the perfornpaoeetions for the three-year plan period, thecpetage
of requisite service rendered and the fair markdies of the Company’s common stock on the dateefjitant. The
offset to the compensation expense for the podfdhe award to be settled in shares is recordéuirwi
shareholders’ equity and was less than $0.1 miftiwr2010, ($0.3) million for 2009 and $0.1 millidor 2008. The
related balance in shareholders’ equity was lems $#0.1 million as of December 31, 2010.

In the first quarter 2010, approximately 8,000 skasf common stock were issued to participantshieir
achievement under the 2007-2009 long-term incepian.

In the first quarter 2011, approximately 1,300 skasf common stock will be issued to participantstieir
achievement under the just completed 2008-2010-{errg incentive plan. With the completion of thiam there
are no other outstanding long-term incentive plans.

Directors Deferred Compensation

Non-employee directors may defer all or part ofrtfees into shares of the Company’s common stdbk. fair
value of the deferred shares is determined atltheesacquisition date and is recorded within shadens’ equity.
Subsequent changes in the fair value of the Compaaynmon stock do not impact the recorded valdesen
shares.

Prior to December 31, 2004, the non-employee dirediad the election to defer their fees into shafehe
Company’s common stock or other specific investmenie directors could also transfer their defeeredunts
among election choices. The fair value of the defkshares is determined at the acquisition dateesorded
within shareholders’ equity with the offset recatdes a liability. Subsequent changes in the faiketavalue of the
Company’s common stock were reflected as a changeeiliability and an increase or decrease to ex@e
Effective April 1, 2009, an amendment was adoptedHis plan that no longer allows the participaotexchange
into or out of the Company’s common stock, resglimthe elimination of the market value adjustmemd the
reclassification of the liability to equity.
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The following table summarizes the stock actividy the directors’ deferred compensation plan dug@go:

Weighted-

average
Number of Grant Date

(Shares in thousands) Shares Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 107 $ 27.2¢
Granted 13 25.1:
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 12C $ 27.0%

The Company recorded an expense for the direatiefetred compensation plan of $0.1 million in 2@0@
income of $1.2 million in 2008. There was no incoon@xpense associated with this plan recorde®@1®2s a
result of the 2009 amendment. During the yearsamEember 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the weightechge
grant date fair value of shares granted was $23148.74 and $24.18, respectively.

Stock Appreciation Rights

The Company may grant stock appreciation rightsR§&o certain employees and non-employee directors
Upon exercise of vested SARs, the participant reiteive a number of shares of common stock equhktspread
(the difference between the market price of the @amy’s common stock at the time of the exercisethadtrike
price established in the SARs agreement) dividethbycommon stock price. The strike price of thdRSAs equal
to or greater than the market value of the Compmaagmmon stock on the day of the grant. The nurob8ARs
available to be issued is established by plansoaeprby the shareholders. The vesting period amdifthof the
SARs are established in the SARs agreement aintieedf the grant. The exercise of the SARs is Batidy the
issuance of treasury shares. The SARs typicallythese years from the date of grant and expitennyears.

The following table summarizes the Company’s SA&s/ily during 2010:

Weighted-
average Weighted-
Exercise Aggregate average
Number of Price per Intrinsic Remaining
(Shares in thousands) SARs Share Value Term
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 53C $ 19.8C
Granted 212 21.2¢
Exercisec (45 24.0:
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 697 19.9¢ $13,244,00 8.01 year
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 697 19.9¢ 13,244,00 8.01 year
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 10t 31.6¢ 967,00( 5.63 year

The fair value of the SARs granted in 2010 was $1.1The fair value will be amortized to compensatost
on a straight-line basis over the three-year vggigriod. Compensation cost was $1.8 million, $iikion and
$0.8 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively avas included in selling, general and administeagéxpense.
The unamortized compensation cost balance wasn$ili8n as of December 31, 2010.
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Summarized information on SARs outstanding as afeb#er 31, 2010 follows:

Weighted- Weighted-

Number average average

Outstanding Remaining Exercise

SARs Price: (Thousands Life (Years) Price
$15.01 35C 8.1z $ 15.01
$21.24 21z 9.1t 21.2¢
$24.03 66 5.34 24.0%
$27.78 30 7.13 27.7¢
$44.72 39 6.1% 44.72
697 8.01 $ 19.9¢

The SARs granted at $24.03 and $44.72 are exeleisab

The fair value of the SARs was estimated on thatgtate using the Black-Scholes pricing model i
following assumptions:

2010 2009 2008

Risk-free interest rat 0.11% 0.31% 2.14&%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Volatility 58.(% 55.(% 49.2%
Expected lives (in year: 6.5 6.5 6.5

The risk-free rate of return was based upon theetimonth Treasury bill rate at the time the SARs wgBnted
The Company has not paid a dividend since 2001 shhee price volatility was calculated based upenactual
closing prices of the ComparsyShares at month end over a period of approxisngtalyears prior to the granting
the SARs. This approach to measuring volatilitgassistent with the approach used to calculateofeility
assumption in the valuation of stock options. Paioalyses indicated that the Company’s employesk siptions
have an average life of approximately six yeargrRo 2006, the Company had not granted SARssigificant
number of years. Management believes that the SraRes similar features and should function in a neasimilar
to employee stock options.

Note L —Other Comprehensive Income

The following table summarizes the cumulative rehdloss) by component, net of tax, within other
comprehensive income as of December 31, 2010, 2002008:

December 31

(Thousands) 2010 2009 2008
Foreign currency translation adjustm $ 398 $ 232« $ 2,34¢€
Derivative financial instruments (net of taxes $1,043) in 2010, ($1,362) in

2009 and ($1,808) in 200 39¢ 1,475 652
Pension and other retirement plan adjustment (nixes of ($13,436) in

2010, ($10,316) in 2009 and ($10,224) in 2C (56,009  (50,48YH (50,799
Total $(51,616 $(46,68) $(47,80)
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Note M —Segment Reporting and Geographic Informatior

In the fourth quarter 2010, the names of the Comgdour reportable segments were changed. Advanced
Material Technologies and Services has become AmbdhMaterial Technologies, Specialty Engineeredyslwas
revised to Performance Alloys, Beryllium and Bawyth Composites was shortened to Beryllium and Csites
and Engineered Material Systems was changed toni@dtMaterials. These changes only affected tigensat
names as the segmentsake up, reporting structures and how they areuatedl remained unchanged from prev
periods.

Beginning in 2009, the operating results for Zentiechnologies Inc., a small, wholly owned subsigiare
included in the Advanced Material Technologies segtmPreviously, this operation was included inAieOther
column. This change was made because the managefmemtanced Material Technologies assumed respditgi
for the operation and this structure is consistétit the internal reporting used by the ChairmathefBoard in
evaluating operations. Prior year results have lbeeast to reflect this change.

Advanced Beryllium
Material Performance and Technical All

(Thousands) Technologie: Alloys Composite: Materials Subtotal Other Total
2010

Sales to external custome $ 878,99: $ 293,75 $ 61,89« $67,45( $1,302,09! $ 21¢ $1,302,31.
Intersegment sale 1,71¢ 6,08¢ 397 2,59 10,79¢ — 10,79¢
Operating profit (loss 39,45¢ 27,15( 10,04¢ 5,331 81,98. (8,34%) 73,63
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 16,44: 14,18¢ 1,07C 2,44¢ 34,14¢  1,24¢ 35,39
Expenditures for lor-lived asset: 5,17(C 17,06 29,12: 95( 52,30:  1,35¢ 53,66:
Assets 339,49( 219,09: 119,11° 22,75 700,45: 34,95¢ 735,41(
2009

Sales to external custome $ 460,83 $ 172,500 $ 47,03( $34,74¢ $ 715,12:. $ 63 $ 715,18¢
Intersegment sale 63¢ 2,55k 17€¢  1,49: 4,86: — 4,86
Operating profit (loss 22,62 (32,279 2,121 (2,52¢) (10,05¢) (9,429  (19,48Y
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 11,64 15,931 85C 2,361 30,79C 1,14¢ 31,93¢
Expenditures for lor-lived asset: 4,49¢ 3,80z 34,54: 43(C 43,27C 1,711 44 98!
Assets 274,94¢ 191,80¢ 81,07¢ 21,25: 569,08( 52,87: 621,95:
2008

Sales to external custome $ 480,32° $ 299,86° $ 63,60: $65,91¢ $ 909,71 $§ — $ 909,71:
Intersegment sale 2,332 77€ 45z  1,40¢ 4,96k — 4,96¢
Operating profit (loss 10,84 5,84¢ 8,37: 5,931 30,99¢ (2,92% 28,07:
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 10,15: 18,24¢ 74C  2,27: 31,41 2,41t 33,82¢
Expenditures for lor-lived asset: 7,901 9,14¢ 13,16 1,14¢ 31,35¢  4,58( 35,93¢
Assets 215,700 239,81( 54,22: 23,08 532,82. 49,07¢ 581,89

Intersegment sales are eliminated in consolidafibie. sales to external customers are presentesf net
intersegment sales. Segments are evaluated apéhatimg profit level.

The All Other column includes the parent comparnyesses, the operating results for Materion Senlines
(formerly BEM Services, Inc.), a wholly owned subary, and other corporate charges. Materion Sesvinc.
provides administrative and financial servicesh® dther businesses in the Company on a cost-phis.b

The assets shown in the All Other column includeaksets used by Materion Services Inc. and tlenpar
company as well as cash and long-term deferredriadaxes.
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Sales from U.S. operations to external domesticfaragn customers were $1,079.7 million in 2010,
$540.4 million in 2009 and $692.6 million in 20@&les attributed to countries based upon the mtati customer
and long-lived assets, which include property, ptard equipment, intangible assets and goodwifllaed by
country are as follows:

(Thousands) 2010 2009 2008
Sales
United State: $ 933,26: $466,03. $576,14:
All other 369,05( 249,15! 333,57(
Total $1,302,31.  $715,18t $909,71:
Long-lived asset:
United State: $ 363,73t $321,14. $260,35!
All other 11,91« 12,55 13,62¢
Total $ 375,65. $333,69: $273,97¢

No individual country, other than the United Stat@scustomer accounted for 10% or more of the Cowijs
sales for the years presented. Sales outside tiiedBtates are primarily to Asia and Europe.
Note N—Litigation Settlement Gain

In the fourth quarter 2008, the Company reacheagaeement to settle a lawsuit in which the Compaought
to recover its rights under a previously signecemdity agreement with a customer. The settlemest.df million,
net of legal fees, was recorded as a litigatiotleseent gain on the Consolidated Statement of Irecand Loss in
2008. The cash was received in 2008.

There were no material litigation settlement gamsither 2010 or 2009.

Note O—Other-net
Other-net expense is summarized for 2010, 20028608 as follows:

Income (Expense’

(Thousands) 2010 2009 2008

Foreign currency exchange/translation gain (I $ (759 $ (657 $ (3,73))
Amortization of intangible asse (6,399 (4,036 (3,527
Metal consignment fee (6,539 (3,329 (4,530
Changes to earn out valuati 84¢ — —
Other items (1,989 (1,465 (1,869
Total $(14,827) $(9,482) $(13,64))

Other items include bad debt expense, cash dissogains and losses from the sale of fixed asset®#er
non-operating items.
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Note P—Interest

Interest expense associated with active constmetim mine development projects is capitalizedandrtized
over the future useful lives of the related assete. following chart summarizes the interest inedrrcapitalized ar
paid, as well as the amortization of capitalizaeériest for 2010, 2009 and 2008.

(Thousands) 2010 2009 2008

Interest incurrer $2,69¢ $1,411 $2,36¢
Less capitalized intere 31 112 37C
Total net expens $2,665  $1,29¢  $1,99¢
Interest paic $2,228  $ 89E $2,19¢
Amortization of capitalized interest included irstof sale: $ 49¢ $ 517 $ 59t

The difference in expense among 2010, 2009 and 2@88rimarily due to changes in the level of artding
debt, capital leases and the average borrowingAatertization of deferred financing costs withirtérest expense
was $0.5 million in 2010 and $0.4 million in ead2609 and 2008.

Note Q—Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income taxes and income téhazefit) are comprised of the following:

(Thousands) 2010 2009 2008
Income (loss) before income tax
Domestic $65,48¢  $(21,28¢) $24,64¢
Foreign 5,47¢ 504 1,43(C
Total income (loss) before income ta: $70,96¢  $(20,784) $26,07¢

Income taxes (benefit
Current income taxe:

Domestic $10,13( $ 1,01¢ $ 65¢
Foreign 78€ 61€ 904
Total current 10,91¢ 1,63¢€ 1,562
Deferred income taxe

Domestic $14,07F  $(10,24) $ 6,267
Foreign 71¢ (107) (26¢)
Valuation allowanct (1,179) 283 157

Total deferrec 13,62 (10,06%) 6,15¢€

Total income taxes (benef $24,54. $ (8,42¢) $ 7,71¢

The reconciliation of the federal statutory anctefive income tax rates follows:

2010 2009 2008

Federal statutory ra: 35.(% (35.0% 35.(%
State and local income taxes, net of federal téect 0.¢ (1.9 2.1
Effect of excess of percentage depletion over deptetion 25 293 (B9
Medicare Part [ 2.2 — —
Manufacturing production deductic a9 @3 @59
Officers’ compensatiol 1t 0.1 g
Adjustment to unrecognized tax bene 0.8 (3.4 (5.0
Taxes on foreign source incor (1.0 0.¢ 0.€
Other items (0.4 2.3 3.1
Effective tax rate (benefi 34.6% (40.60% 29.€%
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Included in domestic income taxes, as shown irCiesolidated Statements of Income and Loss, are
$1.0 million, $(0.6) million, and $0.8 million ofate and local income taxes in 2010, 2009 and 2@3@ectively.

The Company had domestic and foreign income tareays (refunds) of $8.8 million, $(4.1) million and
$8.6 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determbeeskd on temporary differences between the finbaregiarting
bases and the tax bases of assets and liabilitefsrred taxes recorded in the Consolidated Bal&me®ts consist
of the following:

December 31

(Thousands) 2010 2009
Asset (liability)
Pos-retirement benefits other than pensi $ 10,99 $12,14!
Alternative minimum tax cred — 4,211
Other reserve 9,84¢ 8,08¢
Environmental reserve 1,88¢ 1,97
Inventory 3,24: 7,771
Pension: 15,74 15,527
Derivative instruments and hedging activit 78¢ 1,92C
Net operating loss and credit carryforwa 3,04 5,09¢
Miscellaneous 381 38C
Subtotal 45,92¢ 57,10¢
Valuation allowanct (2,525 (3,696
Total deferred tax asse 43,40: 53,41:
Depreciatior (23,970 (24,679
Amortization (8,607) (8,24¢)
Capitalized interest expen (277) (34¢)
Mine developmen (3,35%) (659
Total deferred tax liabilitie (36,20¢6) (33,927
Net deferred tax ass $ 7,198  $19,48¢

The Company had deferred income tax assets offietawaluation allowance for state and foreign net
operating losses and state investment tax crediffoawards. The Company intends to maintain a &tdun
allowance on these deferred tax assets until &atiain event occurs to support reversal of akh gortion of the
allowance.

At December 31, 2010, for income tax purposesCii@pany had foreign net operating loss carryforaanfd
$1.8 million that do not expire and $7.8 millioratfexpire in calendar years 2011 through 2019.0d¢mpany had
state net operating loss carryforwards of $0.5iomlthat expire in calendar years 2011 through 202@ Company
had state tax credits of $2.1 million that expirealendar years 2011 through 2025.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal jurisdiction and in various state, local &oietign
jurisdictions. With limited exceptions, the Compagayo longer subject to U.S. federal examinationgyears
before 2002, state and local examinations for ykafsre 2007 and foreign examinations for tax yéafsre 2004.
The Company is presently under examination foritheme tax filings in a state jurisdiction.
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A reconciliation of the Company’s unrecognized b@xefits for the years ending December 31, 201808

is as follows:

(Thousands) 2010 2009
Balance as of January $2,44¢  $3,476
Additions to tax positions related to prior ye 651 —
Reduction to tax positions related to prior ye (151) (1,029
Lapses on statutes of limitatio — (3
Balance as of December $2,94¢  $2,444

At December 31, 2010, the Company had $3.3 millibunrecognized tax benefits, of which $2.9 million
would affect the Company’s effective tax rate dagnized.

The Company classifies all interest and penalesicome tax expense. The amount of interest andl{pes,
net of related federal tax benefit, recognizedamangs was immaterial during 2010 and 2009. ABedember 31,
2010, accrued interest and penalties, net of kfeeral tax benefit, was $0.2 million, unchanrech
December 31, 2009.

A provision has not been made with respect to $&6l4bn of unremitted earnings at December 31,201
because such earnings may be considered to besgduvindefinitely. It is not practical to estiméte amount of
unrecognized deferred tax liability for undistribdtforeign earnings.

Note R —Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation aéic and diluted net earnings per share (EPS):

(Thousands except per share amounts) 2010 2009 2008
Numerator for basic and diluted EF
Net income (loss $46,427 $(12,35%) $18,35]

Denominator
Denominator for basic EP:

Weightec-average shares outstand 20,28: 20,19: 20,33t
Effect of dilutive securities
Stock options and stock appreciation ric 15€ — 85
Restricted stoc 151 — 29
Performance restricted sha 1 — 94
Diluted potential common shar 30¢ — 20¢
Denominator for diluted EP!
Adjusted weighte-average shares outstand 20,59( 20,19: 20,54
Basic EPS $ 22¢ $ (0.6)) $ 0.9C
Diluted EPS $ 228 $ (067) $ 0.8¢

In accordance with accounting guidelines, no péaénbmmon shares shall be included in the comuurtatf
any diluted per share amount when a loss from goimg operations exists. Accordingly, dilutive seties totaling
163,000 have been excluded from the diluted EP&utzdion for 2009.
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The following are the stock options to purchase rmam stock with exercise prices in excess of theage
annual share price and the stock appreciationgigith grants in excess of the average annual ghare that were
excluded from the diluted EPS calculations as thiact would have been anti-dilutive:

(Thousands) 2010 200¢ 2008
Stock options — 50 —
Stock appreciation righ 69 18C 69
Total 69 23C _69

Note S—Related Party Transactions

The Company had outstanding loans of $0.1 milligth four employees, including one executive offjcar
December 31, 2010 and at December 31, 2009. Tins lware made in the first quarter 2002 pursuatiteto
insurance agreements between the Company and fhleyeras. The portion of the premiums paid by thenGany
is treated as a loan from the Company to the enggi®and the loans are secured by the insuran@@asolivhich ar
owned by the employees. The agreements requireezaployee to maintain the insurance policy’s cashesider
value in an amount at least equal to the outstgridan balance. The loans are payable from theanse proceeds
upon the employee’s death or at an earlier datdaltlee occurrence of specified events. The loaas bn interest
rate equal to the applicable federal rate. Thewve Ih@en no modifications to the loan terms sinedrheption of th
agreements.

Note T —Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

The following tables summarize selected quartengricial data for the years ended December 31, 2840

2009:
2010
First Second Third Fourth

(Dollars in thousands except per share amounts) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Net sales $295,08. $325,94¢ $325,30¢ $355,97° $1,302,31
Gross margir 49,31 55,85: 58,21« 59,26 222,64¢

Percent of sale 16.7% 17.1% 17.% 16.€% 17.1%
Net income $ 6,727 $13,71¢ $ 13,35¢ $ 12,62¢ $ 46,42°
Net income per share of common stc

Basic 0.3¢ 0.6¢ 0.6¢€ 0.62 2.2¢

Diluted 0.3¢ 0.67 0.6t 0.61 2.2
Stock price range

High 22.9¢ 30.3: 29.2¢ 40.11

Low 15.8( 18.7¢ 18.2¢ 27.62
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2009
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

Net sales $135,35¢ $174,13: $190,53¢ $215,15! $715,18¢
Gross margir 14,60: 22,13¢ 25,191 29,49t 91,42:

Percent of sale 10.£% 12.7% 13.2% 13.7% 12.&%
Net income (loss $ 8149 $ (785 $ 12¢ $ (3,557 $(12,35Y
Net income (loss) per share of common st

Basic (0.40) (0.09) 0.01 (0.1¢) (0.6))

Diluted (0.40) (0.09) 0.01 (0.1¢) (0.6))
Stock price range

High 17.2i 19.1¢ 25.3¢ 27.0¢

Low 10.5C 12.41 14.11 17.11

The results for the fourth quarter 2009 includedgive ineffectiveness expense of $4.9 million.
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We carried out an evaluation under the superviaimhwith participation of our management, includiing
chief executive officer and chief financial officef the effectiveness of the design and operaifasur disclosure
controls and procedures as of December 31, 20upnt to Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under thariies
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Bated upon that evaluation, our management,dirgithe
chief executive officer and chief financial officeoncluded that our disclosure controls and procesiwere
effective as of the evaluation date.

There have been no changes in our internal cortka@s financial reporting that occurred during tharter
ended December 31, 2010 that have materially &fflecr are reasonably likely to materially affexty internal
control over financial reporting.

The Report of Management on Internal Control oveafcial Reporting and the Report of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm thereon are aghfin Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report onrfp10-K and
are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Amendment to Senior Secured Credit Facility

Effective March 4, 2011, the Company and certaittsofubsidiaries entered into an amendment (Amemdm
of the Credit Agreement, dated as of November @728mong the Company, the Company’s subsidiarifiavis
Advanced Materials (Netherlands) B.V., JPMorgangghdank, National Association, as administrativerador
itself and the other lenders party thereto (Ageanty the several banks and other financial ingtitgtor entities
from time to time party thereto (Credit Agreemeiif)e Amendment allows the Company and its subsédido
enter into agreements for the procurement of ggbder, platinum, palladium, ruthenium and othezgous metals
and copper (whether styled as borrowed, leasedigoed or otherwise) and incur outstanding oblaatiunder
those agreements of up to $370 million in the agate This is an increase from $270 million.

The foregoing description of the Amendment is diediin its entirety by reference to the full teftthe
Amendment, a copy of which has been filed as ExHibito this Form 10-K and is incorporated hergjrrdference.

Mine Safety and Health Administration Data

Materion Natural Resources Inc. (formerly knowrBagsh Resources Inc.), a wholly owned subsidiary,
operates a beryllium mining complex in the Stat&Jtath which is regulated by both the U.S. Mine Saénd Healt
Administration (MSHA) and state regulatory agenci&® endeavor to conduct our mining and other djgerain
compliance with all applicable federal, state avwhl laws and regulations. We present informatielow regarding
certain mining safety and health citations whichHiAShas levied with respect to our mining operations

Materion Natural Resources Inc. did not receivewariften notice of a pattern of violations underctean 104
(e) of the Mine Act, nor the potential to have sagbattern, and they experienced no mining-reltgtadities during
the current quarter or year ended December 31,.2010

For reporting purposes of The Dodd-Frank Wall StReform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, we
include the following table that sets forth theatatumber of specific citations and orders anddta dollar value
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of the proposed civil penalty assessments that igeteed by MSHA during the current quarter endedeeer 31,
2010, as well as the year ended December 31, pot€yant to the Mine Act, for Materion Natural Res®s Inc.:

Quarter ended December 31, 2010:

Mine Act Dollar Value
Section 104(a; Mine Act (In thousands,
Significant & Mine Act Section 104(d. Mine Act Mine Act Proposed
Substantial Section 104(b Citations & Section 110(b)(2 Section 107(a MSHA
Mine ID# Citations Orders Orders Violations Orders Assessment
420070€ — — — — — 3 0.1C
Year ended December 31, 2010:
Mine Act Dollar Value
Section 104(a Mine Act (In thousands]
Significant & Mine Act Section 104(d; Mine Act Mine Act Proposed
Substantial Section 104(b] Citations & Section 110(b)(2 Section 107(a; MSHA
Mine ID# Citations Orders Orders Violations Orders Assessment
420070€ — — — — — $ 08¢

Additional information follows about MSHA referersased in the table.

e Section 104(a) Citations. The total number of violations received from MSidAder section 104(a) that are
significant and substantial citations which aredltieged violations of a mining safety standardegulation
where there exits a reasonable likelihood thahdmard could result in an injury or iliness of agenably
serious nature

e Section 104(b) Orders:  The total number of orders issued by MSHA uneéetien 104(b) of the Mine Act,
which represents a failure to abate a citation usdetion 104(a) within the period of time presedtby
MSHA. This results in an order of immediate withaed from the area of the mine affected by the ctowli
until MSHA determines that the violation has bebatad.

» Section 104(d) Citationsand Orders.  The total number of citations and orders issueMBHA under
section 104(d) of the Mine Act for unwarrantabliuie to comply with mandatory health or safetynstards

e Section 110(b)(2) Violations: The total number of flagrant violations issuedMW$HA under section 110(b)
(2) of the Mine Act

e Section 107(a) Orders. The total number of orders issued by MSHA undetien 107(a) of the Mine Act
for situations in which MSHA determined an immineanger existec

Pending Legal Actions. The Federal Mine Safety and Health Review Cominisis an independent
adjudicative agency that provides administratiied aind appellate review of legal disputes arisinger the Mine
Act. These cases may involve, among other questabradlenges by operators to citations, orderspamdlties they
have received from MSHA, or complaints of discriation by miners under Section 105 of the Mine Act the
quarter and year ended December 31, 2010, nodetiahs are pending.
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PART Il

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information under “Election of Directors” ingfproxy statement for our 2011 annual meeting of
shareholders, to be filed with the Securities archange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14Adsriporated
herein by reference. The information required leynltlO relating to our executive officers is inclddmder the
caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant” iarPl of this Form 10-K and is incorporated by refece into this
section. The information required by Iltem 10 wigéispect to directors, the Audit Committee of the riflazt
Directors and Audit Committee financial expertiisorporated herein by reference from the sectitiiled
“Corporate Governance; Committees of the Boardiofdors — Audit Committee” and “— Audit Committee
Expert, Financial Literacy and Independence” inghexy statement for our 2011 annual meeting ofetihalders to
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commisgiarsuant to Regulation 14A. The information regdiby
Item 10 regarding compliance with Section 16(ahef Exchange Act is incorporated by reference frioensection
entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Rep@tCompliance” in the proxy statement for our 2@hhual
meeting of shareholders to be filed with the Seémsiand Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulddén

We have adopted a Policy Statement on Significamp@ate Governance Issues and a Code of Condilicy Po
that applies to our chief executive officer andisefinancial officers, including the principal fimcial and
accounting officer, controller and other personggreing similar functions, in compliance with afgable New
York Stock Exchange and Securities and Exchangeniission requirements. These materials, along aigh t
charters of the Audit, Governance and Organizadimh Compensation Committees of our Board of Dimsctwhich
also comply with applicable requirements, are adéd on our web site at www.materion.coand copies are also
available upon request by any shareholder to Segreévlaterion Corporation, 6070 Parkland Blvd., Nelg
Heights, Ohio 44124. We make our reports on ForiaK,110-Q and 8-K available on our web site, fréeltarge,
as soon as reasonably practicable after thesetseqerfiled with the Securities and Exchange Cogsion, and any
amendments and/or waivers to our Code of Conduaty? &tatement on Significant Corporate Governadssaes
and Committee Charters will also be made availableur web site. The information on our web sitads
incorporated by reference into this Annual ReparfForm 10-K.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required under Item 11 is incorpedaby reference from the sections entitled “Exieeut
Compensation” and “2010 Director Compensation’hi@ proxy statement for our 2011 annual meeting of
shareholders to be filed with the Securities andnaxge Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A.
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Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required under Item 12 regardingusity ownership is incorporated by reference fritie
section entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Bficial Owners and Management” in the proxy stateter our
2011 annual meeting of shareholders to be filetl thie Securities and Exchange Commission pursoant t
Regulation 14A. The information required by ltemr&Barding securities authorized for issuance uadaity
compensation plans is incorporated by referenaa the section entitled “Equity Compensation Pldiedmation”
in the proxy statement for our 2011 annual meatinghareholders to be filed with the Securities Brdhange
Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required under Item 13 is incorpedaby reference from the sections entitled “Rel&arty
Transactions” and “Corporate Governance; Commitbééise Board of Directors — Director Independencéthe
proxy statement for our 2011 annual meeting ofednalders to be filed with the Securities and Exggan
Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required under Item 14 is incorpedaby reference from the section entitled “Radifion of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Fiohthe proxy statement for our 2011 annual meatinghareholdel
to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Comsimispursuant to Regulation 14A.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(@) 1. Financial Statements and Supplemental Informatio

The financial statements listed in the accompanyidgx to financial statements are included in Raftem 8
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(&) 2. Financial Statement Schedule

The following consolidated financial informatiorrfine years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 andi2008

submitted

herewith:

Schedule Il — Valuation and qualifying accounts.

All other schedules for which provision is madehe applicable accounting regulations of the Séiesrand

Exchange
omitted.

Commission are not required under théegklastructions or are inapplicable, and therefaree been

(@) 3. Exhibits

All documents referenced below were filed pursuarihe Exchange Act by Materion Corporation, filember
001-15885, unless otherwise noted.

(3a)
(3b)
(3c)
(4a)

(4b)

(4c)

(4d)

(4]

(49)

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation nfdB Engineered Materials Inc. (filed as Annex B to
the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed byGbenpany on February 1, 2000 (Registration

No. 333-95917),incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of jpa@tion of Brush Engineered Materials Inc. (fi
as Exhibit 3a to the Current Report on Form 8-KHe(INo. 1-15885) filed by the Company on March 8,
2011), incorporated herein by referer

Amended and Restated Code of Regulations of BrugfinEered Materials Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-1588@d by the Company on February 4, 2011),
incorporated herein by referen:

Indenture Modification between Toledo-Lucas Countyt Authority, dated as of May 30, 2003 (filed as
Exhibit 4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on FA®Q (File No. 1-15885) for the period ending
June 27, 2003), incorporated herein by refere

Pursuant to Regulation S-K, Item 601(b)(4), the @any agrees to furnish to the Securities and
Exchange Commission, upon its request, a copyepirtstruments defining the rights of holders ofgon
term debt of the Company that are not being filéth ¢his report

Credit Agreement dated November 7, 2007 among BEusgfineered Materials Inc. and other borrowers
and JPMorgan Chase, N.A., acting for itself andgent for certain other banking institutions asltas
(filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report onR@-K (File No. 1-15885) filed by the Company on
November 7, 2007), incorporated herein by refere

First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated Decer@BeP007 among Brush Engineered Materials Inc.
and other borrowers and JPMorgan Chase, N.A.,gfdinitself and as agent for certain other banking
institutions as lenders (filed as Exhibit 99.1he Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-15888di

by the Company on December 26, 2007), incorporag¢eein by referenct

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated Jun2QDB among Brush Engineered Materials Inc.
and other borrowers and JPMorgan Chase, N.A.,gbtinitself and as agent for certain other banking
institutions as lenders (filed as Exhibit 99.1he Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-15888di

by the Company on June 16, 2008), incorporatedrbsereference

Third Amendment to the Credit Agreement dated Ma®010, among Brush Engineered Materials Inc.
and other borrowers and JPMorgan Chase Bank NcAngafor itself and as agent for certain other
banking institutions as lenders (filed as Exhil§itl9to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 1-1588%di
on May 12, 2010), incorporated herein by refere
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(49)

(4h)

(40)

(4))

(4K)

(41)

(4m)

(4n)

(40)

(4p)

(10a

(10b

(10c)*

(10d)*

(10e)*

Fourth Amendment to the Credit Agreement datede®epéer 28, 2010, among Brush Engineered
Materials Inc. and other borrowers and JPMorgars€ligank N.A., acting for itself and as agent for
certain other banking institutions as lenders dfée Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File

No. 1-15885)on October 4, 2010), incorporated herein by refeze

Fifth Amendment to the Credit Agreement dated MatcB011, among Brush Engineered Materials
and other borrowers and JPMorgan Chase Bank NcAngafor itself and as agent for certain other
banking institutions as lende|

Second Amended and Restated Precious Metals Agreefated December 28, 2007 between Brush
Engineered Materials Inc. and The Bank of Nova 8d@ited as Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report on
Form 8-K (File No. 1-15885) filed by the CompanyD@acember 28, 2007), incorporated herein by
reference

First Amendment to the Second Amended and ResRrtzious Metals Agreement dated March 3, Z
between Brush Engineered Materials Inc. and thekBamova Scotia (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-15885) filegithe Company on March 3, 2008), incorporated
herein by referenci

Second Amendment to the Second Amended and Re$tegebus Metals Agreement dated June 25,
2008 between Brush Engineered Materials Inc. aadtnk of Nova Scotia (filed as Exhibit 4k to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 18&5) for the year ended December 31, 2009),
incorporated herein by referen:

Third Amendment to the Second Amended and ResRretlous Metals Agreement dated October 2,
2009 between Brush Engineered Materials Inc. arelBdnk of Nova Scotia (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Compan’s Form &K (File No. 1-15885)on October 8, 2009), incorporated herein by refese

Fourth Amendment to the Second Amended and Redtaitsgious Metals Agreement dated Februar
2010 between Brush Engineered Materials Inc. arelBdnk of Nova Scotia (filed as Exhibit 4m to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 18&5) for the year ended December 31, 2009),
incorporated herein by referen:

Fifth Amendment to the Second Amended and Resttecious Metals Agreement dated April 30,
2010, among Brush Engineered Materials Inc. andrdibrrowers and The Bank of Nova Scotia (filed
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly ReporfForm 10-Q (File No. 1-15885) for the period
ending July 2, 2010), incorporated herein by refeee

Sixth Amendment to the Second Amended and Reskateious Metals Agreement dated June 9, 2010,
among Brush Engineered Materials Inc. and othemlars and The Bank of Nova Scotia (filed as
Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No1%885) filed on June 9, 2010), incorporated herein
by reference

Third Amended and Restated Precious Meals Agreedsatl October 1, 2010, between Brush
Engineered Materials Inc. and other borrowers amg Bank of Nova Scotia (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the
Compan’s Form &K (File No. 1-15885)on October 4, 2010), incorporated herein by refese

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by Company and its executive officers (filed as
Exhibit 10a to the Company’s Annual Report on FAORK (File No. 1-15885) for the year ended
December 31, 2008), incorporated herein by refexe

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by Company and its directors (filed as Exhibit 10b
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File. M-15885) for the year ended December 31,
2008), incorporated herein by referer

Amended and Restated Form of Severance AgreemeBkézutive Officers (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to-
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File NdA.5B85) for the period ending June 27, 2008),
incorporated herein by referen:

Amended and Restated Form of Severance AgreemelefoEmployees (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File Nd.5B85) for the period ending June 27, 2008),
incorporated herein by referen:

Form of Executive Insurance Agreement enteredbgtthe Company and certain employees dated
January 2, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 10g to the ConyfmAnnual Report on Form 10-K (File

for the year ended December 31, 1994), incorpoitag¢eein by referenci
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(10f)*

(10g)*

(10h)*4
(10i)*

(10j)*

(10k)*

(101)*

(10m)*

(10n)*

(100)*

(10p)*

(10g)*

(aon*

(10s)*

(10t)*
(10u)*
(10v)*
(10w)*

(10x)*

(10y)*

Form of Trust Agreement between the Company andKagt Company of Ohio, N.A. (formerly
Ameritrust Company National Association) on beludithe Company’s executive officers (filed as
Exhibit 10e to the Company’s Annual Report on FAORK (File No. 1-15885) for the year ended
December 31, 1994), incorporated herein by refexe

2010 Management Performance Compensation Plad é#eExhibit 10h to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-1588f) the year ended December 31, 2009), incorporageein by
reference

2011 Management Performance Compensation

Long-term Incentive Plan for the performance pedaduary 1, 2008 through December 31, 2010 (filed
as Exhibit 100 to the Company’s Annual Report omi@0-K (File No. 1-15885) for the year ended
December 31, 2007), incorporated herein by refexe

1979 Stock Option Plan, as amended pursuant taaglof shareholders on April 21, 1982 (filed by
Brush Wellman Inc. as Exhibit 15A to Post-Effectémendment No. 3 to Registration Statement (File
No. 1-15885)No. z-64080),incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment, effective May 16, 2000, to the 1979 Btption Plan (filed as Exhibit 4b to Post-
Effective Amendment No. 5 to Registration StatemmnEorm S-8 Registration

No. z-64080),incorporated herein by referen:

1984 Stock Option Plan as amended by the Boardretidrs on April 18, 1984 and February 24, 1987
(filed by Brush Wellman Inc. as Exhibit 4.4 to Retgation Statement on Form S-8 Registration

No. 3:-28605),incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment, effective May 16, 2000, to the 1984 Btption Plan (filed as Exhibit 4b to Post-
Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration StatemmnEorm S-8 Registration

No. z-90724),incorporated herein by referen:

1989 Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to Ré&gtion Statement on Form S-8 Registration

No. 3:-28605),incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment, effective May 16, 2000, to the 1989 KtOption Plan (filed as Exhibit 4b to Post-
Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration StatemmnEorm S-8 Registration

No. 3:-28605),incorporated herein by referen:

1995 Stock Incentive Plan (as Amended March 3, 1688d as Appendix A to the Company’s Proxy
Statement (FillNo. 1-15885)dated March 16, 1998), incorporated herein by ezfes.

Amendment, effective May 16, 2000, to the 1995 Blocentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 4b to Post-
Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statemeegistration No. 333-63357), incorporated herein
by reference

Amendment No. 2, effective February 1, 2005, tolt#85 Stock Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 1@4 t
the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-1588@d by the Company on February 7,

2005), incorporated herein by referer

Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Incentive Plad(&k Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-15885) for the pdrended June 27, 2008), incorporated herein by
reference

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (filasl Exhibit 10t to the Company’s Form 10-K (File
No. 1-15885)Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 200dyrporated herein by referen
Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (filesl Exhibit 10.7 to the Current Report on

(File No. 1-15885)filed by the Company on February 7, 2005), incoaped herein by referenc

Form of 2009 Restricted Stock Agreement (filed &kikit 10z to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 1(-K (File No. 1-15885)the year ended December 31, 2008), incorporatesirhby reference
Form of 2010 Restricted Stock Agreement (filed &Bikit 10z to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 1(-K (File No. 1-15885)for the year ended December 31, 2009), incorpotageelin by referenc
Form of 2010 Restricted Stock Units Agreement dfiées Exhibit 10aa to the Company’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) for the year en@etember 31, 2009), incorporated herein by
reference

Form of 2011 Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (St8eitled) (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Form 8-K (File No. 1-15885) filed by ther@pany on March 3, 2011), incorporated herein by
reference
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(102)*

(10aay

(10ab)’

(10ac)’

(10ad)’

(10ae)’

(10af)*

(10ag)y’

(10ahy’

(10ai)*

(10aj)*

(10ak)*

(10al)*

(10amy’

(10any’

(10ao0)’

(10ap)’

(10aq)’

Form of 2011 Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (C&stited) (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Current Form 8-K (File No. 1-15885) filed by ther@pany on March 3, 2011), incorporated herein by
reference

Form of 2008 Performance Restricted Share and feaftce Share Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10s
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File Mle€l5885) for the year ended December 31,
2007), incorporated herein by referer

Form of 2006 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeifédfas Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on
Form &K (File No. 1-15885)filed by the Company on May 8, 2006), incorporatedein by referenct
Form of 2007 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeifédfas Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-15885) fikeglthe Company on February 16, 2007),
incorporated herein by referen:

Form of 2008 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeitédfas Exhibit 10an to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-1588f) the year ended December 31, 2007), incorporageein by
reference

Form of 2009 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeifédfas Exhibit 10ag to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-1588fey the year ended December 31, 2008), incorporiateelin by
reference

Form of 2010 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeitédfas Exhibit 10ah to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-1588f) the year ended December 31, 2009), incorporageein by
reference

Form of 2011 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeifédfas Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on
Form 8-K (File No. 1-15885) filed by the CompanyMarch 3, 2011), incorporated herein by
reference

Supplemental Retirement Plan as amended and me®atember 1, 1992 (filed as Exhibit 10n to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 18&5) for the year ended December 31, 1992),
incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment No. 2, adopted January 1, 1996, to Sopmgital Retirement Benefit Plan as amended and
restated December 1, 1992 (filed as Exhibit 10téoCompany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File
No. 1-15885)for the year ended December 31, 1995), incorpotageein by referenci

Amendment No. 3, adopted May 5, 1998, to Suppleatétetirement Benefit Plan as amended and
restated December 1, 1992 (filed as Exhibit 1adkeéoCompany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File
No. 1-15885)for the year ended December 31, 1998), incorpoitag¢eein by referenci

Amendment No. 4, adopted December 1, 1998, to Supmital Retirement Benefit Plan as amended
and restated December 1, 1992 (filed as Exhibitd@te Company’s Form 10-K (File

No. 1-15885)Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 1988)rporated herein by referen
Amendment No. 5, adopted December 31, 1998, to|Sogmtal Retirement Benefit Plan as amended
and restated December 1, 1992 (filed as ExhibitthGhe Company’s Form 10-K (File

No. 1-15885)Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 1988)rporated herein by referen
Amendment No. 6, adopted September 1999, to SugpiErhRetirement Benefit Plan as amended and
restated December 1, 1992 (filed as Exhibit 10théoCompany’s Form 10-K (File

No. 1-15885)Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2006)rporated herein by referen
Amendment No. 7, adopted May 2000, to SupplemdRetirement Benefit Plan as amended and
restated December 1, 1992 (filed as Exhibit 10theoCompany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File
No. 1-15885)for the year ended December 31, 2000), incorpotageein by referenci

Amendment No. 8, adopted December 21, 2001, to|Bopgmtal Retirement Benefit Plan as amended
and restated December 1, 1992 (filed as ExhibittdGhe Company’s Form 10-K (File

No. 1-15885)Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2006)rporated herein by referen
Amendment No. 9, adopted December 22, 2003, to I[Bopgmtal Retirement Benefit Plan as amended
and restated December 1, 1992 (filed as Exhibitd@e Company’s Form 10-K (File

No. 1-15885)Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2000)rporated herein by referen
Key Employee Share Option Plan (filed as Exhibit . the Registration Statement on

Form S-8 Registration No. 333-52141, filed by Brifgallman Inc. on May 5, 1998), incorporated
herein by referenci
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(10ar)*

(10as)

(10at)*

(10au)’

(10av)*

(10aw)?

(10ax)*

(10ay)*

(10az)’

(10ba)’

(10bb)*

(10bc)*

(10bd)*

(10be)’

(10bf)*

(10bg)*

(10bh)*

Amendment No. 1 to the Key Employee Share Optiam Rleffective May 16, 2005) (filed as

Exhibit 4b to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Bégtion Statement on Form S-8 Registration
No. 33:-52141),incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment No. 2 to the Key Employee Share Optiam Elated June 10, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10e
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File Mel5885) for the year ended December 31,
2006), incorporated herein by referer

1997 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-employee Direst@As Amended and Restated as of May 1, 2001)
(filed as Appendix B to the Company’s Proxy Statetr(€ile No. 1-15885) dated March 19, 2001),
incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment No. 1 to the 1997 Stock Incentive PlarNfon-employee Directors, (filed as Exhibit 10gg
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File. M-15885) for the year ended December 31,
2003), incorporated herein by referer

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Nemployee Directors (filed as Exhibit 20mm to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File Mlel5885) for the year ended December 31,
2004), incorporated herein by referer

1992 Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-employeedbors (As Amended and Restated as of
December 2, 1997) (filed as Exhibit 4d to the Region Statement on Form S-8 Registration

No. 33:-63355filed by Brush Wellman Inc.), incorporated hereinrbference

2000 Reorganization Amendment, dated May 16, 2@0the 1997 Deferred Compensation Plan for
Non-employee Directors (filed as Exhibit 4b to PosteEfive Amendment No. 1 to Registration
Statement RegistraticNo. 33:-63353),incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment No. 1 (effective September 11, 2001h¢01i992 Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-
employee Directors (filed as Exhibit 4c to the Camgs Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to
Registration Statement RegistratNo. 33:-74296),incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment No. 2 (effective September 13, 2004h¢01i992 Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-
employee Directors (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to then@any’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File

No. 1-15885)for the period ended October 1, 2004), incorporae@in by referenci

Amendment No. 3 (effective January 1, 2005) tolt@2 Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-
employee Directors (filed as Exhibit 10rr to then@any’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File

No. 1-15885)for the year ended December 31, 2004), incorpotageein by referenci

Amendment No. 4 (effective April 1, 2009) to the92Deferred Compensation Plan for Nemployee
Directors (filed as Exhibit 10bb to the Company’smyal Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) for
the year ended December 31, 2008), incorporatezirhby reference

Amended and Restated 2005 Deferred Compensatiorfél&on-employee Directors (filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report amrir 10-Q (File No. 1-15885) for the period ended
September 26, 2008), incorporated herein by regex:

Amended and Restated 2006 Non-employee DirectoityfERlan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File Nd.5B85) for the period ended September 26,
2008), incorporated herein by referer

Amended and Restated Executive Deferred Compendatan Il (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File Nd.5B85) for the period ended March 28, 2008),
incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated ExecDiferred Compensation Plan Il (filed as
Exhibit 10bf to the Company’s Annual Report on FdrtrK (File No. 1-15885) for the year ended
December 31, 2008), incorporated herein by refexe

Amendment No. 2 to the Amended and Restated ExecD&ferred Compensation Plan Il (filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report amrir 10-Q (File No. 1-15885) for the period ended
July 3, 2009), incorporated herein by referel

Trust Agreement between the Company and Fidelitgdtments dated September 26, 2006 for certain
deferred compensation plans for Non-employee Dorsatf the Company (filed as Exhibit 99.4 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-15885) filegithe Company on September 29, 2006),
incorporated herein by referen:
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(10bi)*

(10bj)*

(10bK)

(10bl)

(10bm’

(10bn’

(10bo

(10bp!

(10bqg’

(10br)

(10bs

1)
(23)%
(24)%

Trust Agreement between the Company and Fidelitpddament Trust Company, dated June 25, 2009
relating to the Executive Deferred Compensatiom Pl¢filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-15885)tfee period ended July 3, 2009), incorporated
herein by referenci

Trust Agreement between the Company and Fifth TRadk dated September 25, 2006 relating to the
Key Employee Share Option Plan (filed as Exhibi3a® the Current Report on Form 8-K (File

No. 1-15885)filed by the Company on September 29, 2006), inc@ted herein by referenc

Lease dated as of October 1, 1996, between Brudlm@felnc. and Toledo-Lucas County Port
Authority (filed as Exhibit 10v to the Company'’s Aumal Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) for
the year ended December 31, 1996), incorporatezirhby reference

Amended and Restated Inducement Agreement witRthéential Insurance Company of America
dated May 30, 2003 (filed as Exhibit 10 to the Camgs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File

No. 1-15885)for the period ended June 27, 2003), incorporagzdih by reference

Supply Agreement between the Defense Logistics Agand Brush Wellman Inc. for the sale and
purchase of beryllium products (filed as ExhibiabhGo the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
(File No. 1-15885)for the year ended December 31, 2004), incorporiageein by referenc

Asset Purchase Agreement by and between Williamsaacked Materials Inc. and Techni-Met, Inc.
dated December 20, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10bvhto@ompany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File
No. 1-15885)for the year ended December 31, 2007), incorpoitag¢eein by referenci

Consignment Agreement dated October 2, 2009 betBeagsh Engineered Materials Inc. and Canadian
Imperial Bank of Commerce (filed as Exhibit 10.ltlie Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 1-15885) on
October 8, 2009), incorporated herein by refere

Amendment No. 1 to the Consignment Agreement dawdber 2, 2009 between Brush Engineered
Materials Inc. and Canadian Imperial Bank of Comreeand CIBC World Markets Inc. (filed as
Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No1%885)on March 12, 2010), incorporated hereir
reference

Amendment No. 2 to the Consignment Agreement datee 11, 2010 between Brush Engineered
Materials Inc. and Canadian Imperial Bank of Cormoeeand CIBC World Markets Inc., (filed as
Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No1%885) filed on June 14, 2010), incorporated
herein by referenci

Amendment No. 3 to the Consignment Agreement da&alember 30, 2010 between Brush Engine
Materials Inc. and Canadian Imperial Bank of Comreeand CIBC World Markets Inc. (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No1%885), on October 4, 2010), incorporated herein
by reference

Amendment No. 4 to the Consignment Agreement ddtacmber 10, 2010 between Brush Engine:
Materials Inc. and Canadian Imperial Bank of Cormoreeand CIBC World Markets Inc. (filed as
Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No1%885), on November 12, 2010), incorporated
herein by referenci

Subsidiaries of the Registra

Consent of Ernst & Young LLF

Power of Attorney

(31.1)# Certification of Chief Executive Officer requireg¢ Rule 13i-14(a)or 15¢-14(a).
(31.2)# Certification of Chief Financial Officer require¢ Rule 13i-14(a)or 15¢-14(a).
(32.1)# Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chigihancial Officer required by 18 U.S.C. Section Q.

* Denotes a compensatory plan or arrangen
# Filed herewitlr
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas
duly caused this report to be signed on its behathe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MATERION CORPORATION

By: /s/ RICHARD J. HIPPLE By: /s/ JOHN D. GRAMPA
Richard J. Hipple John D. Grampa
Chairman of the Board, President Senior Vice President Finance
and Chief Executive Office and Chief Financial Office

March 9, 2011

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpithe
following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities and on the dates indicated.

/sl RICHARD J. HIPPLE Chairman of the Board, President, Chief March 9, 201:
Richard J. Hipple Executive Officer and Director (Principal

Executive Officer,
/s/ JOHN D. GRAMPA Senior Vice President Finance and Chief March 9, 201:
John D. Grampa Financial Officer (Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer)
/sl ALBERT C. BERSTICKER* Director March 9, 201:
Albert C. Bersticker’
/sl JOSEPH P. KEITHLEY* Director March 9, 201:
Joseph P. Keithley
/s/ VINOD M. KHILNANI* Director March 9, 201.
Vinod M. Khilnani*
/sl WILLIAM B. LAWRENCE* Director March 9, 201:
William B. Lawrence*
/s/ WILLIAM P. MADAR* Director March 9, 201.
William P. Madar*
/sl WILLIAM G. PRYOR* Director March 9, 201:
William G. Pryor*
/s/ N. MOHAN REDDY* Director March 9, 201.:
N. Mohan Reddy’
/sl WILLIAM R. ROBERTSON?* Director March 9, 201:
William R. Robertson’
/s/ JOHN SHERWIN, JR.* Director March 9, 201.
John Sherwin, Jr.
/sl CRAIG S. SHULAR* Director March 9, 201:

Craig S. Shular

* The undersigned, by signing his name hereto, dgesasd execute this report on behalf of each efathove-
named officers and directors of Materion Corpomgtjpursuant to Powers of Attorney executed by sach
officer and director filed with the Securities aBdchange Commissiol

By: /s/ JOHN D. GRAMP#

John D. Grampa
Attorney-in-Fact
March 9, 2011
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SCHEDULE Il — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
MATERION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

COL. A COL.B COL.C COL.D COL.E
ADDITIONS
(1) (2
Balance at Beginning  Charged to Costs  Charged to Other  Deduction- Balance at End
(Thousands) of Period and Expense:  Accounts-Describe  Describe of Period
Year ended December 31, 2C
Deducted from asset accour
Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable $1,397 $ 428 $31E(A) $ 683(B) $1,45:2
Inventory reserves and
obsolescenc 4,22¢ 3,30¢ 46(A) 2,974C) 4,60¢
Year ended December 31, 2C
Deducted from asset accour
Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable 1,051 7?3 48€(A) (33)(B) 1,397
Inventory reserves and
obsolescenc 3,62¢ 2,221 235(A) 1,85%C) 4,22¢
Year ended December 31, 2C
Deducted from asset accour
Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable 1,12C 142 — 211(B) 1,051
Inventory reserves and
obsolescenc 3,34¢ 3,551 — 3,27((C) 3,62¢

Note (A)— Beginning balance from acquisition in that year
Note (B)— Bad debts written-off, net of recoveries
Note (C)— Inventory write-off
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Exhibit 4F

AMENDMENT NO. 5
Dated as of March 4, 2011
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT
Dated as of November 7, 2007

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 5 (* Amendmeri} is made as of March 4, 2011 by and among Brusfiifieered Materials Inc. (the “
Company’), the Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers from time itneé party thereto (together with the Company, tiBefrowers”), the financial
institutions listed on the signature pages heradf ?Morgan Chase Bank, National Association, aniAidtrative Agent (the “
Administrative Agent), under that certain Credit Agreement dated ad@fember 7, 2007 by and among the Borrowers, grelers and the
Administrative Agent (as amended, supplementedhm@raise modified from time to time, the “ Credigeement). Capitalized terms used
herein and not otherwise defined herein shall Hheeespective meanings given to them in the Cisglieement.

WHEREAS, the Company has requested kimakénders and the Administrative Agent agree ttageamendments to the Credit
Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Lenders party hereto andAtieninistrative Agent have agreed to such amendsnemthe terms and conditions set
forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of threrises set forth above, the terms and conditiontained herein, and other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficieoicywhich are hereby acknowledged, the Borrowdsss Lienders party hereto and the
Administrative Agent have agreed to enter into fisendment.

1. Amendments to Credit AgreemeBffective as of the date of satisfaction of tbhaditions precedent set forth in Sectiobe?ow, the
Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

(a) The definition of * Consolidated FwadDebt’ set forth in_Article 1of the Credit Agreement is amended to delete tfezarce to
“$270,000,000" therein and to substitute “$370,000; therefor.

(b) The definition of “ Permitted Prec®oMetals Agreementsset forth in Article 1of the Credit Agreement is amended to delete the
reference to “$270,000,000” therein and to subtit$i370,000,000" therefor.

(c) Clause (h) of Section 6.6fithe Credit Agreement is amended to delete tfererce to “$270,000,000” therein and to substitute
“$370,000,000" therefor.

2. Conditions of Effectivenes$he effectiveness of this Amendment is subjethéoconditions precedent that (a) the Administeati
Agent shall have received (i) counterparts of Anisendment duly executed by the Borrowers, the Reduienders and the Administrative
Agent and (ii) counterparts of the Consent and fReation attached hereto as Exhibitdlly executed by the




Subsidiary Guarantors and (b) the Company shak lpand, to the extent invoiced, all out-of-pockepenses of the Administrative Agent
(including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expengeg)nnection with this Amendment and the otheah ®ocuments.

3. Representations and Warranties oBitreowers. Each Borrower hereby represents and warrantsllasvs:

(a) This Amendment and the Credit Agreetnas amended hereby, constitute legal, validbamding obligations of such Borrower and
are enforceable against such Borrower in accordaitbetheir terms, subject to applicable bankruptogolvency, reorganization, moratori
or other laws affecting creditors’ rights generallyd subject to general principles of equity, rdtgms of whether considered in a proceeding
in equity or at law.

(b) As of the date hereof and giving efff® the terms of this Amendment, (i) no Defatkilhave occurred and be continuing and
(i) the representations and warranties of the @wars set forth in the Credit Agreement, as ameihéeeby, are true and correct as of the
hereof.

4. Reference to and Effect on the CrAditeement

(a) Upon the effectiveness hereof, eatérence to the Credit Agreement in the Credit &grent or any other Loan Document shall
mean and be a reference to the Credit Agreemearhasded hereby.

(b) Except as specifically amended abtve Credit Agreement and all other documentsyunsénts and agreements executed and/or
delivered in connection therewith shall remainuh force and effect and are hereby ratified andficomed.

(c) The execution, delivery and effectiges of this Amendment shall not operate as a waivany right, power or remedy of the
Administrative Agent or the Lenders, nor constitateaiver of any provision of the Credit Agreemenany other documents, instruments
and agreements executed and/or delivered in caondberewith.

5. Governing LawThis Amendment shall be construed in accordariteamd governed by the law of the State of NewkYor

6. HeadingsSection headings in this Amendment are includeeih for convenience of reference only and shallconstitute a part «
this Amendment for any other purpose.

7. CounterpartsThis Amendment may be executed by one or motkeoparties hereto on any number of separate cgants, and all
of said counterparts taken together shall be ded¢mednstitute one and the same instrument. Sigestlelivered by facsimile or PDF shall
have the same force and effect as manual signadete®red in person.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment hasrbduly executed as of the day and year first aboiteen.

BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC., as the
Company

By: /s/ Michael C. Hasychak

Name: Michael C. Hasychal
Title: Vice President, Treasurer & Secrete

WILLIAMS ADVANCED MATERIALS
(NETHERLANDS) B.V., as the Dutch Borrower

By: /s/ James P. Marrotte

Name: James P. Marrott
Title: Class A Director

By: /s/ Cynthia H. Friedman

Name: Cynthia H. Friedmar
Title: Class A Director

By: /s/ C. J. Horstmansho

Name: C. J. Horstmansho
Title: Class B Director

Signature Page to Amendment No. 5
Brush Engineered Materials Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of November 7, 2007




JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, individually as a Lender, as Swingline
Lender, as Issuing Bank and as Administrative Agent

By: /s/ William P. McGreehan
Name: William P. McGreehan
Title: Senior Vice Presiden

Signature Page to Amendment No. 5
Brush Engineered Materials Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of November 7, 2007




FIFTH THIRD BANK, individually as a Lender and as
Co-Syndication Agent

By: /s/ Martin H. McGinty

Name: Martin H. McGinty
Title: Vice President

Signature Page to Amendment No. 5
Brush Engineered Materials Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of November 7, 2007




BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., individually as a Lender and
as Co-Syndication Agent

By: /s/ Sandra Guerrieri
Name: Sandra Guerrier
Title: Vice President

Signature Page to Amendment No. 5
Brush Engineered Materials Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of November 7, 2007




RBS CITIZENS, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
individually as a Lender and as Co-Documentatioemtg

By: /s/ Patrick F. Dunphy

Name: Patrick F. Dunphy
Title: Senior Vice Presiden

Signature Page to Amendment No. 5
Brush Engineered Materials Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of November 7, 2007




KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, individually as
a Lender and as Co-Documentation Agent

By: /s/ Marcel Fournier
Name: Marcel Fournier
Title: Vice President

Signature Page to Amendment No. 5
Brush Engineered Materials Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of November 7, 2007




WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as a Lender

By: /s/ Jason W. Suttor

Name: Jason W. Suttor
Title: Vice President

Signature Page to Amendment No. 5
Brush Engineered Materials Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of November 7, 2007




EXHIBIT A
CONSENT AND REAFFIRMATION

Each of the undersigned hereby acknovesdgceipt of a copy of the foregoing Amendment Nt the Credit Agreement dated as of
Novembel7, 2007 (as the same may be amended, restatedesgopied or otherwise modified from time to timtee t Credit Agreemeri)
by and among Brush Engineered Materials Inc. (t@efhpany’), the Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers from time itne party thereto (together
with the Company, the “ Borrowet} the financial institutions from time to time gpathereto (the “ Lendery and JPMorgan Chase Bank,
National Association, as Administrative Agent (* Administrative Agent’), which Amendment No. 5 is dated as of March@12 (the “
Amendment). Capitalized terms used in this Consent and fReadtion and not defined herein shall have the mregs given to them in the
Credit Agreement. Without in any way establishingparse of dealing by the Administrative Agent oy &ender, each of the undersigned
consents to the Amendment and reaffirms the temdscanditions of the Subsidiary Guaranty, the Sec\greement and any other Loan
Document executed by it and acknowledges and atjnaesuch agreements and each and every suchRDaament executed by the
undersigned in connection with the Credit Agreementains in full force and effect and is herebyffiaed, ratified and confirmed. All
references to the Credit Agreement contained irabmye-referenced documents shall be a refereribe tGredit Agreement as so modified
by the Amendment and as the same may from timen® ereafter be amended, modified or restated.

Dated: March 4, 2011

[Signature Page Follows]




BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC

By: /s/ Michael C. Hasycha

Name Michael C. Hasycha
Title: Vice President, Treasurer & Secret

BRUSH RESOURCES INC

By: /s/ Michael C. Hasycha

Name Michael C. Hasycha
Title: Vice President, Treasurer & Secret

TECHNICAL MATERIALS, INC.

By: /s/ Michael C. Hasycha

Name Michael C. Hasycha
Title: Vice President, Treasurer & Secret

BRUSH WELLMAN INC.

By: /s/ Michael C. Hasycha

Name Michael C. Hasycha
Title: Vice President, Treasurer & Secret

WILLIAMS ADVANCED MATERIALS INC.

By: /s/ Michael C. Hasycha

Name Michael C. Hasycha
Title: Vice President, Treasurer & Secret

Signature Page to Consent and Reaffirmation to Almemt No. 5

Brush Engineered Materials Inc. et al

Credit Agreement dated as of November 7, 2007



Exhibit 10h

BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE COMPENSATION PLAN
2011 PLAN YEAR

(as adopted February, 2011)

[. INTRODUCTION

The Management Performance Compensation Plan (“the Plan”) provides incentive compensation to eligible employees based
principally on annual financial performance. Plan awards have a significant portion based on Company and/or Business Unit
performance (“financial performance”), a component that recognizes individual and combined contributions toward personal/team
objectives (“Personal/Team Performance”), and, for some participants, a “relative” company peer group financial measure.

II. DEFINITIONS

Plan Year:

The fiscal year for which the Company’s Business Unit performance, and any Plan awards are calculated.

Business Unit Performance:
The Executive Staff will designate the Business Units/Subsidiaries that are eligible for participation in the Plan for the Plan Year.

Each business unit has defined financial performance measures, which have in turn been approved by the Compensation
Committee of the Board and/or the Executive Staff. These measures are expressed as a Minimum, Target and Maximum. Plan
Awards include a “Financial Performance Component” based on the Business Unit performance.

Personal/Team Performance:

An assessment is made of an individual’'s achievements and his/her contributions to work/project teams during the Plan Year. This
assessment is expressed as a percentage of base compensation. The “Personal/Team Performance” component is distinct from
the “Financial Performance” component.

Operating Profit (“OP"):

Profit or loss, before interest and taxes, and for domestic and international operations. Operating Profit will include any special
write-off or accounting charge and accrued performance or incentive compensation.

Peer Group Return on Invested Capital (ROIC)

The publicly available return on invested capital change for those peer group companies included in the Company’s self-declared
peer group in comparison to the Company. Due to the delays in reported information, the measurement period will include the
fourth quarter of the prior year as well as the first three quarters of the current plan year. This “relative” company peer group
financial measure is an independent measure and is not influenced by any other financial performance measure set by the
Company for the plan year.




Management Performance Compensation Plan
Page 2 of 4

Working Capital:

This is a monthly calculation based on Business Unit/Subsidiary worldwide accounts receivable and FIFO inventory divided by
annualized worldwide sales (current month plus prior two months annualized). The result being working capital as a percent of
sales. At the end of the year the average of the twelve monthly, annualized sales numbers and twelve monthly working capital
numbers (A/R and inventory) are calculated and a percent to sales is calculated based on the averages for the twelve periods.
This twelve-month average is the basis for the incentive metric for working capital management.

Other Metrics:

From time to time, other metrics will be adopted that are aligned with a Business Unit's strategy and market challenges. These
metrics will be defined and tracked by the corporate accounting department, subject to approval by the Executive Staff.

Base Compensation:

The participant’'s annual base salary in effect on September 30 of the Plan Year.

[ll. PARTICIPATION

At the beginning of the Plan Year, the Executive Staff will identify exempt, salaried employees whose responsibilities affect
progress on critical issues facing the Company. Those individuals selected by the Executive Staff will be notified of their
participation in the Plan, their performance compensation grade and performance compensation opportunity, and their applicable
Business Unit designation.

Following the beginning of the Plan Year, the Executive Staff may admit new hires or individuals who are promoted or assigned
additional and significant responsibilities. The Executive Staff may also alter performance compensation grade assignments to
reflect changed responsibilities of participants during the Plan Year.

An employee who replaces or otherwise assumes the job functions or role of an employee, does not automatically assume the
plan participation that had applied to the incumbent. Rather, participation by the new or replacing employee must be individually
considered and approved.

Employees who are designated as participants before April 1 of the Plan year are eligible for full participation. Participants who
are newly employed on or after April 1 and before July 1 are eligible for half of any award available for Personal/Team and
Financial (Business Unit and/or Company) performance.

Participants who transfer from the Exempt Salaried Performance Compensation Plan to the Management Performance
Compensation Plan on or after April 1 and before July 1 are eligible for full participation in the Personal/Team performance
component and for half participation in the Financial (Business Unit and/or Company) performance component. Their eligibility
under the Exempt Salaried Performance Compensation Plan ceases for the Plan Year.

Changes in performance compensation grade assignments will result in prorated participation in awards.
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The eligibility of employees hired or with changed job responsibilities after June 30 will not be considered until a possible,
subsequent Plan Year.

Normally, employees who are participants in any other annual incentive, commission or performance compensation plan are not
eligible. The Executive Staff may consider prorated participation under special circumstances.

With two exceptions, participants must be employed on the last day of the Plan Year in order to be eligible for any performance
compensation award. For a participant who becomes eligible for and who elects a severance option under the Chronic Beryllium
Disease Policy as amended, any award under the Plan will be prorated to the beginning of the month after the employee
exercises the severance option. The second exception pertains to retirement under a Company pension plan, in which case, any
award will be prorated to the beginning of the month following the employee’s retirement date. In no event will a prorated award
be earned where the proration percent is 1/3 or less.

Eligible employees who have been on a leave of absence in excess of 13 weeks during the plan year will have their award
reduced on a pro-rata basis to reflect their actual contribution.
IV. PERFORMANCE COMPENSATION OPPORTUNITY FOR FINANC IAL PERFORMANCE

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors will establish Minimum, Target and Maximum levels for each financial
measurement.

The Executive Staff will assign participants to a specific Business Unit/Subsidiary for the performance compensation opportunity
for Financial Performance.

Below is a summary of the performance compensation opportunity for the Plan Year.

Grade Financial Component Personal Team
D 20% 0-14%
E 10% 0-14%

Opportunity for participants in Grades A, B and C will be individualized as determined by the Compensation Committee or the
Executive Staff.

The “Financial Performance” component of awards (Business Unit, Company, sub-unit, and/or other measurement), will begin
once the Minimum level has been attained for Operating Profit. None of the other financial components will result in an award
unless the Minimum level for Operating Profit has been met. Performance, which reaches or exceeds the Maximum value of the
measure, will result in awards at 200 percent of Target opportunity. Award amounts for levels of achievement between Minimum
and Target and between Target and Maximum will be prorated according to the level of achievement.

Financial awards will be prorated for transfers between units (Business Unit and/or Company) according to the length of service
by months in each unit during the Plan Year.
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V. PERFORMANCE COMPENSATION OPPORTUNITY for PERSONA L/TEAM PERFORMANCE

An Operating Profit “threshold” may be established, which must be achieved in order to make available a bonus opportunity to
recognize the Personal/Team performance. If established, meeting this threshold would result in a Personal/Team opportunity
payout. This threshold can be different than the Minimum Operating Profit level necessary to create a Financial Performance
opportunity.

No awards for Personal/Team performance will be paid if a Threshold is established and is not met.

The “total pool” for Personal/Team performance of participants would typically average about 10 percent of the base
compensation of participants, if the Operating Profit metric meets or exceeds Target. Performance below Target could result in the
total pool being reduced to a lesser amount. The Business Unit Executive and the Executive Staff will decide allocation of the pool
among eligible participants based on their performance throughout the plan year relative to achieving established goals and
objectives.

VI. PAYMENT

Distribution of any performance compensation awards under the Plan to participants will be no later than March 15 of the year
following the Plan Year.

VIIl. GENERAL PROVISIONS

The Executive Staff has authority to make administrative decisions in the interests of the Plan.

The Board of Directors, through its Compensation Committee, shall have final and conclusive authority for interpretation,
application, and possible modification of this Plan or established targets. The Board of Directors reserves the right to amend or
terminate the Plan at any time. Subject to the preceding sentences, any determination by the Company’s independent
accountants shall be final and conclusive as it relates to the calculation of financial results.

This Plan is not a contract of employment.
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Exhibit 21

The Company has the following subsidiarielspfalvhich are wholly owned and included in the solidated financial statements.

Name of Subsidiar

State or Countr
of Incorporatior

Materion Advanced Chemicals Ir

Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/idetherlands B.\
Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/8uzhou Ltc

Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and SessiCorp

Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Sesvigar East Pte. Lt

Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/iac.

Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/itaiwan Co. Ltc

Materion Brush Japan Lt

Materion Brush Singapore Pte. L

Materion Brush Gmbt

Materion Brush Inc

Materion Brush International In

Materion Brush Ltd

Materion Ceramics Inc

Materion Czech S.R.C

Materion Ireland Holdings Limite

Materion Large Area Coatings LL

Materion Natural Resources Ir

Materion Precision Optics and Thin Film Coatingsitwation
Materion Precision Optics and Thin Film Coatings.
Materion Services Inc

Materion Technical Materials In

Materion Technologies In

Wisconsin
Netherland:
China

New Mexico
Singapore
New York
Taiwan
Japar
Singapore
Germany
Ohio

Ohio
England
Arizona
Czech Republir
Ireland
Connecticu
Utah
California
Massachuseti
Ohio

Ohio
Arizona



Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement Number :-88994 on Form -8 dated May 24, 200:
(2) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 1 to Registration StaetiNumber 33-74296 on Form -8 dated November 30, 20C
(3) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 5 to Registration StaetNumber -64080 on Form -8 dated May 17, 200!
(4) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 1 to Registration StaethiNumber 33-63355 on Form -8 dated May 17, 200(
(5) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 1 to Registration StaetiNumber 3-28605 on Form -8 dated May 17, 200(
(6) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 1 to Registration StatetiNumber 33-63353 on Form -8 dated May 17, 200(
(7) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 1 to Registration StaetiNumber 33-63357 on Form -8 dated May 17, 200(
(8) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 1 to Registration StaetiNumber 33-52141 on Form -8 dated May 17, 200(
(9) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 1 to Registration StaetNumber -90724 on Form -8 dated May 17, 200!
(10) Registration Statement Number -63353 on Form -8 dated September 14, 19¢
(11) Registration Statement Number -63355 on Form -8 dated September 14, 19!
(12) Registration Statement Number -63357 on Form -8 dated September 14, 19!
(13) Registration Statement Number -52141 on Form -8 dated May 5, 199¢
(14) Registration Statement Number-28605 on Form -8 dated May 5, 198¢
(15) Registration Statement Numbe-90724 on Form -8 dated April 27, 198¢
(16) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 3 to Registration StatetiNumber -64080 on Form -8 dated April 22, 198:
(17) Registration Statement Number --114147 on Form -3 dated July 1, 200«
(18) Registration Statement Number -127130 on Form -8 dated August 3, 200
(19) Registration Statement Number -133428 on Form -8 dated April 20, 200¢€
(20) Registration Statement Number -133429 on Form -8 dated April 20, 2006; ar
(21) Registration Statement Number -145149 on Form -8 dated August 6, 20(

of our report dated March 9, 2011, with respe¢htconsolidated financial statements of MaterionpGration (formerly known as Brush
Engineered Materials Inc.) and subsidiaries andeport dated March 9, 2011, with respect to tlfiectiizeness of internal control over
financial reporting of Materion Corporation (forrheknown as Brush Engineered Materials Inc.) aras@diaries both included in this Anni
Report (Form 10-K) of Materion Corporation (formekinown as Brush Engineered Materials Inc.) andislidries for the year ended
December 31, 2010.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 9, 2011
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that eaghthe undersigned directors and officers of MATER CORPORATION, an
Ohio corporation (the “Corporation”), hereby cohgts and appoints Richard J. Hipple, John D. Gegriviichael C. Hasychak and Michael
J. Solecki, and each of them, their true and laaftdrney or attorneys-in-fact, with full power safbstitution and revocation, for them and in
their names, place and stead, to sign on theirlbata director or officer, or both, as the casg/ ibe, of the Corporation, an Annual Report
pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the SecuritieshBnge Act of 1934 on Form 10-K for the fiscaliyeaded December 31, 2010, and to sign
any and all amendments to such Annual Report, @afitetthe same, with all exhibits thereto, andastiocuments in connection therewith,
with the Securities and Exchange Commission grgntirto said attorney or attorneysfact, and each of them, full power and authoritgdx
and perform each and every act and thing requasitenecessary to be done in and about the prerasésl]y to all intents and purposes as
they might or could do in person, hereby ratifyargl confirming all that said attorney or attorn@ysact or any of them or their substitute or
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be dongitive hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned hageeunto set their hands as of the 2nd day of Bejpra011.

/s Richard J. Hippl /s/ William P. Mada
Richard J. Hipple, Chairman, Preside William P. Madar, Directo
Chief Executive Officer and Directi

(Principal Executive Officer

/s/ John D. Gramp /s! William G. Pryot

John D. Grampa, Senior Vice Presid William G. Pryor, Directol
Finance and Chief Financial Offic

(Principal Financial Officer

/sl Albert C. Bersticke /s/ N. Mohan Redd

Albert C. Bersticker, Directc N. Mohan Reddy, Directc

/sl Joseph P. Keithle /s/ William R. Robertsol
Joseph P. Keithley, Direct William R. Robertson, Directc
/s/ Vinod M. Khilnani /s/ John Sherwin, J

Vinod M. Khilnani, Directot John Sherwin, Jr, Directt

/s/ William B. Lawrence /sl Craig S. Shule

William B. Lawrence, Directo Craig S. Shular, Directc
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Richard J. Hipple, certify that:
| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Materion Corporation (th“registran”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaio any untrue statement of a material fact ot torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeand other financial information included in theport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer ahdre responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13ez15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a) designed such disclosure controls and proesdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b) designed such internal control over finahaporting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgdeng the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regissalisclosure controls and procedures and predéntthis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this report any change in #gstrant’s internal control over financial repogdithat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer ahldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuafiinternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internairobaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, thabiwes management or other employees who have Hiségn role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/sl Richard J. Hipple

Dated: March 9, 2011 Richard J. Hipple

Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.

CERTIFICATIONS

[, John D. Grampa, certify that:
| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Materion Corporation (th“registran”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaio any untrue statement of a material fact ot torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeand other financial information included in theport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer ahdre responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and proesdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

b) designed such internal control over finahaporting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgdeng the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regissalisclosure controls and procedures and predéntthis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this report any change in #ggstrant’s internal control over financial repogithat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer ahldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuafiinternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internairobaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, thabiwes management or other employees who have Hiségn role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/s/ John D. Grampa

Dated: March 9, 201: John D. Grampe

Senior Vice President Finance and
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedipuirso Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act @22 connection with the filing of the
Annual Report on Form 10-K of Materion Corporat{time “Company”)for the year ended December 31, 2010, as filed thi¢hSecurities ar
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8pesdch of the undersigned officers of the Compeanifies, that, to such officer’s
knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirenteat Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgfgaAct of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780
(d)), and

2.  The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finaraialdition and results of operations of the
Company as of the dates and for the periods exgaeashe Repor

Dated: March 9, 2011

/s/ Richard J. Hipple

Richard J. Hipple

Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ John D. Grampa

John D. Grampe

Senior Vice President Finance and
Chief Financial Officer




